~AGENDA ~
AUSTIN TRANSIT
PARTNERSHIP BOARD
OF DIRECTORS MEETING

~ Agenda ~

Wednesday, September 15, 2021 2:00 PM Board Room, 2910 E. 5™ Street, Austin, Texas 78702

. Public Comment

l. Technical Advisory Committee Reports

lll.  Monthly Program Updates
1. Community Engagement and Involvement Monthly Update
2. Project Connect Monthly Technical Update
3. Administrative Program Monthly Update

V. Action Items
1. Approval of minutes from the August 18, 2021 Board Meeting
2. Adoption of the ATP FY2022 Budget, including staff recommended changes to increase
property tax revenue by $1,232,810 and increase community engagement expenditures
by $600,000
3. Adoption of the ATP Procurement Policy and Guidelines
4. Adoption of interim Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Goal

V. Discussion ltems
1. Info Session: Systems and Vehicles

VI. Executive Director Report

VIl.  Adjournment


https://capmetrotx.legistar.com/

ADA Compliance

Reasonable modifications and equal access to communications are provided upon request. Please
call
(512) 389-7525 or email chloe.maxwell@austintransitpartnership.org if you need more information.

ATP has resumed in-person board meetings. They can be streamed live and public comments can be
made virtually or in-person. Those wishing to contribute comments must notify Capital Metro 24-hours
before the meeting (by 2:00 p.m. on Tuesday, June 15) by calling 512-389-7525 or

emailing chloe.maxwell@austintransitpartnership.org. Give your name, a phone number and the topic
you wish to discuss. On the day of the meeting, you will be contacted, added as an attendee of the

board meeting and have 3 minutes to speak.

Please Note: You will have only one opportunity at the beginning of the board meeting to
speak on all items you intend to address.

Public comment will be over Microsoft Teams (camera may be turned off) or in person. Once
registered for Public Comment, a participation link will be distributed.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS: Veronica Castro de Barrera, Chair; Colette Pierce Burnette,
Vice Chair; Steve Adler, Tony Elkins, Eric Stratton, and Gina Fiandaca (ex officio).

The Board of Directors may go into closed session under the Texas Open Meetings Act. In
accordance with Texas Government Code, Section 551.071, consultation with attorney for
any legal issues, under Section 551.072 for real property issues; under Section 551.074 for
personnel matters, or under Section 551.076, for deliberation regarding the deployment or
implementation of security personnel or devices; arising regarding any item listed on this
agenda.

Board of Directors Page 2 Printed 9/8/21


mailto:chloe.maxwell@austintransitpartnership.org
http://capmetrotx.iqm2.com/Citizens/Default.aspx
mailto:boardofdirectors@capmetro.org

AUSTIN TRANSIT PARTNERSHIP

Board of Directors Meeting
September 15, 2021




September 15 - AGENDA

|. Public Comment
ll. Technical Advisory Committee Reports
lll. Monthly Program Updates

1. Community Engagement and Involvement Monthly Update
2. Project Connect Monthly Technical Update
3. Administrative Program Monthly Update

V. Action Items

1. Approval of minutes from the August 18, 2021 Board Meeting

2. Adoption of the ATP FY2022 Budget, including staff recommended changes to increase property tax revenue by $1,232,810 and increase community
engagement expenditures by $600,000

3. Adoption of the ATP Procurement Policy and Guidelines
4. Adoption of interim Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Goal

V. Discussion Items
1. Info Session: Systems and Vehicles

VI. Executive Director Report
VII. Adjournment




PUBLIC COMMENT




TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORTS




ENGINEERING, ARCHITECTURE & CONSTRUCTION ADVISORY
COMMITTEE (EAC)

Veronica Castro de Barrera
Board Chair & EAC Board Liaison
Austin Transit Partnership




FINANCE AND RISK ADVISORY COMMITTEE (FAR)

Tony Elkins
Board Member & FAR Board Liaison

Austin Transit Partnership




PLANNING, SUSTAINABILITY, EQUITY & DBE ADVISORY
COMMITTEE (PSEC)

Dr. Colette Pierce Burnette
Board Vice Chair & PSEC Board Liaison

Austin Transit Partnership




MONTHLY PROGRAM UPDATES:

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INVOLVEMENT UPDATE




10

Community Engagement Update

* Blue & Orange Lines 15% Design virtual community meetings
and On-Demand Virtual Open House:

Event Participation Totals

Live Meeting Participation 568
Total Self-Guided Meeting 410
Total Participation 978

* CAC Meeting August 25

* Joint TACs/CAC meeting August 26

* MetroRail Virtual Community Update - September 9
 MetroRapid Virtual Community Update — September 9




11

Upcoming Engagement Activities

Community Design Workshop:
Community Design Workshop:
Community Design Workshop:
Community Design Workshop:
Community Design Workshop:
Community Design Workshop:
Community Design Workshop:
Community Design Workshop:

Pleasant Valley — September 16

29t Street — September 23

So. Congress Transit Center — September 29
Blue Line Bridge — October 6

The Drag — October 13

North Lamar Transit Center — October 20
South Congress — October 28

Crestview — November 3




12

How We Receive and Share Feedback

e Public meetings and virtual open houses
* Feedback email

* Orange & Blue Line project hotlines

e Social media platforms

* Dynamic report with Public.Input tool

e Community Engagement Library
(Dashboard)

e eNewsletters

 Community feedback provided to ATP
and CapMetro Boards

 PCAN/ITAG, CAC and stakeholder
meetings




How We Process Community Feedback

Project Connect

technical team and . Changes occur as a
Emerging themes

Your feedback is received City and County . result of your
determined
departments analyze feedback
your comments

13




14

Project Connect Engagement Library

08 Translate

Find documents and videos we shared, as well as the comments we received from Project Connect's previous

engagement efforts.

Orange Line
Virtual Open House

Linea Naranja
Casa Abierta Virtual - ‘d

Orange Line Virtual Open
House

July-August 2021

See what we shared at the July-August
2021 Orange Line Virtual Open House.

BlueLine
Virtual Open House

vvvvv

Linea Azul

Casa Abierta Virtual

Blue Line Virtual Open
House

July-August 2021

See what we shared at the July-August
2021 Blue Line Virtual Open House.

Let's Talk Station
Alignment Meetings

April-May 2021

See what we shared and what we heard at
the Let's Talk Station Alignment Meetings.

W

Community Engagement Library (Dashboard)

* One stop shop for:
» What we
shared
» What we
heard

* Organized by event
and date



https://publicinput.com/library

15

MONTHLY PROGRAM UPDATES:

TECHNICAL UPDATE




16

PROGRAM UPDATES:

Blue & Orange Line—Field and Engineering Activities

* Ongoing discussion related to tunnel space planning requirements

* Held workshop to discuss conceptual Park & Ride layout at Stassney, Slaughter,
and the South Congress Transit Center

 Developed Metro Center Park & Ride Traffic Report for site selection
* Developing design alternatives for Pleasant Valley Station Workshop

* Developed Waterfront Station exhibits for working group and to support
developer strategy

 Continued discussion on Vissim model refinement with ATD

* Ongoing development of traffic analysis, with the focus on turn bay length
requirements and ROW optimization

* Finalizing 15% comment disposition with City of Austin
 Ramping up next round of SUE (Subsurface Utility Engineering) for 30% design




PROGRAM UPDATES:

Blue & Orange Line—Planning/NEPA Progress

e Continued coordination with 139J) Support Consultant, Kimley-Horn, on the development and review of EIS
Technical Reports

* Draft Technical Reports developed and being reviewed, including:
* Acquisitions
* Noise & Vibration
* Hazardous Materials
« Utilities
e Safety & Security
* Soils/ Geologic Resources
* Water Resources
 Threatened and Endangered Species




18

PROGRAM UPDATES:
MetroRapid

Expo & Pleasant Valley 1E7 L g

* Continued development of 60% design plans (Huitt-Zollars)
* Design survey and utility field work complete
* |nitiated AULCC coordination for Wave 1 stations (submitted 30% plans for 18 location)
* Conducted first pair of Over-The-Shoulder design workshops with HZ (Foundation, Power req., Wave 1 station layouts)

* Continued design and real estate coordination for end-of-line charging locations
* Submitted first group of FTA Small Starts Readiness Documents (PMP, QMP, RCMP, Fleet MP)

e Continued coordination with the City of Austin
 Station location and guideway design coordination with ATD
* Permitting coordination with DSD
* Preparation for joint outreach with UT Dell Medical School

Gold Line & South Lamar

* Moving forward with the Menchaca leg of the S. Lamar project due to the construction of Oak Hill Parkway
* Internal Kick-off for S. Lamar/Gold 30%-100% design
* Preparing RFQ for designer selection




19

PROGRAM UPDATES:

Red Line & Pick-Up Service
Red Line
 McKalla Station

Received FTA approval of Categorical Exclusion (NEPA)
30% designs reviewed by City of Austin

Preparing Design/Build solicitation for Station
Design/Bid/Build approach for Tracks and Drainage

*  Broadmoor Station

Successful resolution on design option and construction
access with neighboring property

Continued coordination with City of Austin on defining
and advancing Urban Trails Alternatives

Continued discussion on permitting

 Lakeline-to-Leander

Construction Contract award approved by CapMetro
Board

Neighborhood Circulators

* North Oak Hill zone successfully launched on August 24th

* 11 zones in total operating in the region

* Public-facing dashboards in development for a late
summer release

' Future Site of McKallz

Coming 2023

e

. wgmnmm-ulmlmst:za’w
= .

e 5 19
é 47 ks,

! A2 McKalla

)\ ! 3
=5 2 1 M
Ry T P —————
P \ »

@ projectconnect

rrrrrrrrrrr

McKalla Station: Architect’s concept renderings; other safety features under evaluation

4



20

MONTHLY PROGRAM UPDATES:

ADMINISTRATIVE UPDATE




Joint Partnership Agreement (JPA) — Path to Approval

Aug. 7, 2020 Nov. 3, 2020 Summer 2021 Sep.-0ct. 2021 Oct. 29, 2021 June 2022

Capital Metro — Voter JPA Drafting by Policymaker, ATP, Capital ATP, Capital
City of Austin Approval of ATP, City of Stakeholder Metro, City Metro, City
Interlocal Project Austin, Capital Briefings on JPA  Council Special Council Special
Agreement to Connect Metro Staff Process Meeting to Meeting to
Create the ATP Initial Approve JPA Approve Full
Investment Sections and ILA JPA
Extension

21




Joint Partnership Agreement (JPA) — Triparty Topics Overview

ATP, Capital Metro and the City of Austin will approve a JPA to delineate technical roles, responsibilities and processes for Project Connect implementation

JPA SECTIONS

GOVERNANCE & MANAGEMENT

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

DESIGN, PERMITTING, UTILITIES & CONSTRUCTION

WORKFORCE

FINANCE, BUDGET & PROCUREMENT

REAL ESTATE

SUSTAINABILITY

SAFETY

OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE

N
N

SECTION HIGHLIGHTS

Program governance, management responsibilities, restatement of earlier agreements

Good Neighbor business and community assistance program, guidance on public engagement

Design review and permitting, Right of Way (ROW) management, utilities design and relocation

Local hire pilot program, apprenticeship programs, worker safety and support program

Documenting financial model, system plan updates, internal audit, ATP Disadvantaged
Business Enterprise (DBE) program and associated mentoring program

Process to acquire or sell property, property acquisition processes, development proposals

Process to develop sustainability criteria and environmental programs

Process for system safety certification, testing and training

Capital Metro Operations & Maintenance processes, traffic signal coordination, public safety




23

ACTION ITEM 1.

Approval of minutes from the August 18, 2021 ATP Board of Director’s Meetings




AUSTIN TRANSIT PARTNERSHIP
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING

www.capmetrotx.igm2.com

~ Minutes ~
Board Secretary Casey Burack
512-369-6040
Wednesday, August 18, 2021 2:08 PM Meeting Called to Order
2:00 PM 5:20 PM Meeting Adjourned

l. Public Comment

Three speakers, Ms. Susan Pantell, Ms. Zenobia C. Joseph, and Ms. Shauntice Rutley
joined the Board Meeting.

. Executive Director Report

Randy announced that FTA accepted the Orange and Blue Lines into the Project
Development Phase of the Capital Investment Grant Program, which means that ATP
can continue moving the design from15% to 30% and costs incurred from this point
forward are eligible for federal match.

Randy provided updates on the infrastructure legislation proposed in Congress and the
possible opportunities impacts on the Project Connect Program.

Chair Castro de Barrera asked if the FTA had any follow-up questions associated with
their official CIG letters. Randy stated that the team had answered all requests from the
FTA prior to issuance of the letters, resulting in acceptance into the Project
Development Phase. Vice Chair Burnette asked about real estate acquisitions and the
process involving the City of Austin’s anti-displacement strategies. Randy explained the
process is defined in the ILA with the City related to the transfer of the $300M.

.  Monthly Program Update

1. Community Engagement Update
Director of Program Strategy, Sam Sargent, gave this report.

Sam updated the Board on the recent virtual community meetings, in which 774
individuals participated. He also discussed the plan for future community meetings
focusing on the Red Line and Metro Rapid. He indicated that in September and
October, Peter Mullan will be launching community design workshops that will provide
an opportunity for public input on some of the more complex and important design
options that are still on the table. Additionally, in October, there will be a Facebook Live
Town Hall in Spanish.

Board of Directors Page 1 Printed 9/8/2021



Austin Transit Partnership Minutes August 18, 2021

Dr. Burnette asked how we respond to comments gathered during the virtual meetings.
Sam explained the process for responding to questions.

2. Project Connect Technical Update
Dave Couch, Chief Program Officer, provided this update.

He discussed the 15% design stage and the results of the geotechnical boring process,
the development of the Metro Rapid for the Pleasant Valley, and the Expo lines.

Chair Castro de Barrera asked about the differences in station design and the logic
behind these design decisions. Dave explained that the stations will be modular, which
will allow them to keep extra parts in storage. Board Member Elkins asked about the
hiring of Kimley-Horn as the 139(j) contractor and whether the contract was under the
limits of the ATP Executive Director contracting authority. Dave explained it is a Capital
Metro contract as ATP did not have the procurement capability in place. Board Member
Stratton asked about the borings and if the results were consistent with expectations.
Dave explained the tunneling method planned for our environment.

Chair Castro de Barrera brought up Ms. Pantel’s questions based on the information
provided by Mr. Couch. To answer her question, Dave explained the reasons why we
are tunneling under Town Lake for the Orange Line.

3. Administrative Program Update

Vicky Redrick, Director of Procurement, provided this update. Vicky provided an update
on the timeline for the completion of the ATP Procurement Policy. The Procurement
Policy will be an action item for vote on the September Board Meeting agenda.

lll. Action Items

1. Approval of minutes from the June 16, and July 21, 2021 Austin Transit Partnership
Board Meetings.
RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Adler
SECONDER: Elkins
AYES: Castro de Barrera, Pierce Burnette, Adler, Stratton, Elkins
ABSENT:

2. Adoption of the ATP Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) Statement
RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Pierce Burnette
SECONDER: Adler
AYES: Castro de Barrera, Pierce Burnette, Adler, Stratton, Elkins
ABSENT:

Austin Transit Partnership Page 2 Updated 9/8/2021 2:24 PM



Austin Transit Partnership Minutes August 18, 2021

[1l. Discussion ltems

1. Procurement Policy Briefing
Vicky Redrick provided this briefing.

Vicky provided an update about the review process for the ATP Procurement Policy,
which involves both internal and external reviewers. Vicky explained that any changes
to the Policy will come back to the ATP Board of Directors for approval.

Board Member Elkins asked about the reward and consequences available if a
contractor surpasses or falls short of ATP’s DBE goals. Vicky responded that she and
Courtney Chavez are looking into this and will report back to the Board. Vice Chair
Burnette seconded Board Member Elkins and asked that we codify what happens when
an entity does not comply with DBE goals.

2. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program Briefing
Courtney Chavez, Director of Equity and DBE, provided this briefing.

Courtney laid out the language and criteria used in the Code of Federal Regulations and
the requirements for having a compliant DBE Program.

Board Member Elkins and Vice Chair Burnette specified the importance of broadening
our base, removing barriers, and actively sharing what we are doing. Chair Castro de
Barrera specified that ATP could exceed the 19% laid out by Capital Metro. Courtney
clarified that after six months, we will be able to reexamine our goals. Board Member
Stratton walked through the process of goal setting for each contract and monitoring
compliance, and Courtney further explained the process.

3. Integrated Model Review & Proposed Fiscal Year 2022 Budget Briefing

Greg Canally, Chief Financial and Development Officer, and Diane Siler, Budget
Director, provided the briefing on the FY2022 proposed budget.

Board Member Elkins emphasized the importance of quarterly reports to the Board on
the budget expenditures.

V. Adjournment

ADA Compliance

Reasonable modifications and equal access to communications are provided upon request. Please call
(512) 369-6040 or email chloe.maxwell@austintransitpartnership.org if you need more information.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS: Veronica Castro de Barrera, Chair; Colette Pierce Burnette, Vice Chair; Steve Adler,
Tony Elkins, Eric Stratton and Gina Fiandaca (ex officio).

Austin Transit Partnership Page 3 Updated 9/8/2021 2:24 PM



Austin Transit Partnership Minutes August 18, 2021

The Board of Directors may go into closed session under the Texas Open Meetings Act. In accordance
with Texas Government Code, Section 551.071, consultation with attorney for any legal issues, under
Section 551.072 for real property issues; under Section 551.074 for personnel matters, or under Section
551.076, for deliberation regarding the deployment or implementation of security personnel or devices;
arising regarding any item listed on this agenda.

Austin Transit Partnership Page 4 Updated 9/8/2021 2:24 PM



24

ACTION ITEM 2:

Adoption of the ATP FY2022 Budget, including staff recommended changes to increase
property tax revenue by $1,232,810 and increase community
engagement expenditures by $600,000.




Austin Transit Partnership Board of Directors Resolution
Meeting Date: 09/15/2021

TRANSIT

PARTNERSHIP Adoption of the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget

SUBIJECT: Approval of a resolution adopting the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget, including staff recommended
changes.

FISCAL IMPACT: See Executive Summary for further explanation.

BUSINESS CASE: Austin Transit Partnership (“ATP”) requires an approved budget for FY2022 to cover
operations and capital expenditures necessary to oversee and finance the acquisitions, construction,

equipping, and operations and maintenance of Project Connect.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: The ATP FY2022 budget totals approximately $312.8 million, including $266.5
million for project costs, $42 million for transit-supportive anti-displacement investments, $2.2 million

for transfers to Capital Metro for operations, $1.1 million for administrative expenses, and $1 million for
contingencies. The budget is the sum of the FY2022 Proposed Budget and the following staff changes as
documented in the memo to the Board dated September 8, 2021:

e Increase in property tax revenue from the City of Austin by $1,232,810 due to City Council’s
approval of an increase in the property tax rate from 3.5% to 4.7% at budget adoption; and

e Increase in expenditures for community engagement by $600,000.

RESPONSIBLE DEPARTMENT: Finance.

PROCUREMENT SUMMARY: N/A




TRANSIT

PARTNERSHIP

RESOLUTION
OF THE
AUSTIN TRANSIT PARTNERSHIP
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

STATE OF TEXAS Resolution ID: ATP-2021-026

COUNTY OF TRAVIS Adoption of the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget

WHEREAS, Austin Transit Partnership staff has developed a budget for Fiscal Year 2022 to
cover the operations and capital expenditures necessary to oversee and finance the acquisition,
construction, equipping, and operations and maintenance of Project Connect during the next fiscal
year.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Austin Transit Partnership Board of Directors that
the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget in the amount of $312,772,026 is hereby adopted.

Date:

Casey Burack
Secretary of the Board




TRANSIT

PARTHERSHIP

To: Austin Transit Partnership Board of Directors
From: Diane Siler, Budget Director AS

Date: September 8, 2021

Subject: FY22 Budget Adoption and Staff Changes

On September 15" you will be asked to approve a resolution adopting the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget with
staff changes. In addition to approving the budget as it was presented on August 18" this action will

approve the following changes:

e Increase property tax revenue from the City of Austin by $1,232,810 due to City Council’s approval
of an increase in the property tax rate from 3.5% to 4.7% at budget adoption.

e Increase expenditures for community engagement by $600,000.

The result of the changes will be to increase the amount reserved for future project commitments by
$632,810, bringing the total to $9.2 million. The table below reflects the budget staff is recommending.

FY22 Proposed FY22 Approved
Budget Changes Budget
Balance from Prior Year 143,787,820 0 143,787,820
Revenue
Prop A Property Tax 153,549,067 1,232,810 154,781,877
Capital Metro 23,365,670 0 23,365,670
Total Funds Available 320,702,557 1,232,810 321,935,367
Expenditures
Transfer to Capital 266,500,000 0 266,500,000
Transfer to Anti-Displacement Investments Fund 42,000,000 0 42,000,000
Transfer for Capital Metro Operations 2,219,117 0 2,219,117
Operating Contingency 1,000,000 0 1,000,000
Administrative Expenses 452,909 600,000 1,052,909
Total Expenditures 312,172,026 600,000 312,772,026
Reserved for Future Project Commitments 8,530,531 632,810 9,163,341

| am available if you have any questions.

XC: Randy Clarke, Executive Director

Greg Canally, Chief Financial Officer/Chief Development Officer




TRANSIT FY2021-22 Approved Budget

PARTNERSHIP Diane Siler, Budget Director

T

|
111

11
r >
| AIRPORT




FY 2021-22 BUDGET CALENDAR

May 19

June 16

August 18
August 19

September 15

October 1

26

Budget calendar presented to Board

Budget framework presented to Board

Proposed budget presented to Board

Proposed budget presented to Finance & Risk Advisory
Committee

Budget adoption

Approved budget posted online, beginning of FY22




FY22 SOURCES OF FUNDS -- $312.8 million

Reserved

from FY21, /
$134.6M, 43¢

Capital ¥
Metro,
$23.4M,
7%

27

Prop A Property
Tax, $154.8M, 50%

* Planned use of reserves from FY21
expected to be $134.6 million; leaves
$9.2 million for future projects

* Prop A Property Tax Revenue reflects
4.7% revenue growth as adopted by
City Council

e Capital Metro annual contribution per
CMTA commitment




FY22 USES OF FUNDS BY COST CATEGORY -- $312.8 million

Salary &
Benefits
4%

Capital
Contracts &
ROW

Displacement
Capital Investments
Expenses
Incurred by
CapMetro
19%

28

Other
Administrative

Costs/Contingency
1%

Lease/Rentals
2%

Operating
Contracts
3%

Transfer for
CapMetro
Operations
1%
City & CapMetro
Support
2%

Budget
Cost Category (millifmS)

Capital Contracts & ROW S$173.2
E/la\g:gl Expenses Incurred by Capital $59.3
Anti-Displacement Investments $42.0
Salary & Benefits §13.3
Operating Contracts $8.2
Lease/Rentals $6.3
City & Capital Metro Support S5.8
Other Administrative Costs/ S2.5

Contingency
Transfer for Capital Metro Operations S2.2

ool |__sauas




29

FY22 USES OF FUNDS BY PROJECT -- $312.8 million

$266.5 million or 86% to fund capital
projects

13% of budget for transfer to City of
Austin for transit-supportive, anti-
displacement investments

Transfer to CapMetro for
neighborhood circulator operations,
an operating contingency, and other
administrative costs are 1% of the
budget

Staff and consultants are allocated
either directly to projects they are
working on or indirectly through cost
allocation plan

Facility
Improvements,
$25.5M, 8%

Park & Ride,
$10.0M, 3%

MetroRapid,

Red Line,
$42.0M, 14%

$13.5M, 4%

Transfer for
CMTA
Operations/
Other, $4.3M,
1%

Orange Line,
$92.8M, 30%

Anti-
Displacement

Investments,
$42.0M, 13%

Blue Line,
$82.8M, 27%

4



FY22 ANTI-DISPLACEMENT INITIATIVES FUND

* Funds tracked separately to allow for transparency and sequester annual allotment
established in ILA with City

 Payment made to City on reimbursement basis; no expenditures anticipated for FY21

* Funds allotted for both FY21 and FY22 to be spent next year

Fund Summary Fy2l FY21 FY22
(in millions) Approved Estimate AR
Budget Budget
Balance from Prior Year S23.0
Transfer in from Operating Fund S23.0 $23.0 S42.0
Total Funds Available $23.0 S23.0 S65.0
Transfer to the City of Austin §23.0 S0.0 $65.0

30




QUESTIONS/COMMENTS?




32

ACTION ITEM 3:

Adoption of the ATP Procurement Policy and Guidelines




Austin Transit Partnership Board of Directors Resolution
Meeting Date: 09/15/2021

TRANSIT

PARTNERSHIP Adoption of Procurement Policy & Guidelines

SUBJECT: Approval of the Austin Transit Partnership’s Procurement Policy and Guidelines.

FISCAL IMPACT: No Fiscal Impact.

BUSINESS CASE: The Austin Transit Partnership (ATP) must adopt a federally compliant Procurement
Policy to be eligible for federal reimbursement of contract expenditures related to Project Connect. The

Procurement Policy & Guidelines will also ensure state and local regulatory compliance, encourage
innovation and cost savings, and reduce protest risk.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: To comply with the Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) requirement that
ATP adopt a written procurement policy that complies with federal, state and local procurement

regulations to be eligible for federal funding of contracts procured to assist with the implementation of
Project Connect, the ATP Board of Directors is considering adoption of a Procurement Policy and
Guidelines. Further, the Board desires to adopt a policy that reflects certain critical objectives described
in the proposed ATP Procurement Policy.

RESPONSIBLE DEPARTMENT: Procurement.

PROCUREMENT SUMMARY: Does not apply.




TRANSIT

PARTNERSHIP

RESOLUTION
OF THE
AUSTIN TRANSIT PARTNERSHIP
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

STATE OF TEXAS Resolution ID: ATP-2021-XXX

COUNTY OF TRAVIS Adoption of Procurement Policy & Guidelines

WHEREAS, the Austin Transit Partnership (“ATP”) Board of Directors (the “Board”) recognizes
the Federal Transit Administration’s requirement that ATP adopt a written procurement policy that
complies with federal, state, and local procurement regulations to be eligible for federal
reimbursement of expenses related to contracts procured to assist with the implementation of
Project Connect; and

WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Board to adopt a procurement policy that reflects certain
critical objectives of the organization, including: (i) providing public confidence in the integrity,
fairness, and accountability of ATP’s procurement process; (ii) ensuring the fair and equitable
treatment of all persons who interact with ATP’s procurement process; (iii) promoting contracting
opportunities with Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBEs), Minority-Owned Business Enterprises
(MBEs), and Women-Owned Business Enterprises (WBEs); (iv) supporting ATP’s Diversity, Equity and
Inclusion Statement; (v) fostering full and open competition; and (vi) creating an environment of
accountability and transparency.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board that the Procurement Policy substantially in
the form attached as Exhibit A and Procurement Guidelines substantially in the form attached as
Exhibit B to this resolution are hereby adopted.

Date:

Casey Burack
Secretary of the Board




TRANSIT

PARTNERSHIP

Austin Transit Partnership Board of Directors Resolution
Meeting Date: 09/15/2021

ATP-2021-XXX

Adoption of Procurement Policy & Guidelines

Exhibit A

[ATTACHED]



B AUSTEN
TRANSIT
PARTNERSHIP

Procurement
Policy & Guidelines




Austin Transit Partnership Local Government Corporation (“ATP”)

In November 2020, Austin voters approved a ballot initiative (Proposition A) dedicating on-
going property tax revenue to a new independent entity — the Austin Transit Partnership (ATP)
—to implement Project Connect, a transformative investment in new transit services, including
MetroRapid Bus, Commuter Rail and two new Light Rail lines. ATP was officially formed in
December 2020 by the City of Austin and the Capital Metro Transportation Authority (“CMTA”),
and is a local government entity created under the Texas Transportation Corporation Act,
Chapter 431 of the Texas Transportation Code, and Chapter 394 of the Texas Local Government
Code to aid and act on behalf of the City of Austin and CapMetro

ATP has the authority to finance, design, engineer, construct, implement, and to contract with
CMTA to operate and maintain the new Project Connect assets. ATP as an independent
organization, will guide the Project Connect investment with transparency and accountability
throughout the program.

The ATP Board of Directors is comprised of five voting members, including one member of the
Austin City Council, one member of CapMetro’s Board of Directors, and three members of the
Austin community, which will carry out the following responsibilities:

e Maintaining oversight of the finance, design, construction, and implementation of Project
Connect and its program of projects.

e Implementing Project Connect in accordance with the Project Connect map and sequencing
plan approved by the City of Austin and CapMetro.

e Approving Project Connect finance, design, engineering, and construction contracts, as well
as real estate and vehicle acquisition contracts.

e Approving interlocal agreements and the joint powers agreement with the City of Austin and
CapMetro.

e Providing regular updates to the Austin City Council and CapMetro Board of Directors.

O Learn more about the ATP Board of Directors at:
https://capmetro.org/plans-development/atp/atp-leadership/atp-board

ATP has been — and will continue to - bring on staff and consultant resources to ensure proper
and timely implementation of the Project Connect program.

0 Learn more about the ATP Leadership Team at:
https://capmetro.org/plans-development/atp/atp-leadership




Project Connect

Project Connect is a 20-year expansion of the region’s public transit system. On November 3,
2020 City of Austin voters approved an increase in the City’s property tax rate to fund a portion
of the initial investment. Federal funding is anticipated to provide approximately 45% of the
capital cost. The initial investment will include:

e A new and expanded rail system: Two new light rail lines, one new commuter line, and
expanded service on the existing commuter rail.

e A downtown transit tunnel: An underground tunnel to increase speed and safety through
downtown.

e Expanded bus service: 9 new Park & Rides, 4 new MetroRapid routes, 3 new MetroExpress
routes and 15 new neighborhood circulator zones.

e Anti-displacement Investments: $300 million to help prevent residents from being displaced
from their neighborhoods as transit expands.

O Learn more about Project Connect at: www.projectconnect.com.

The ATP Procurement Policy and Guidelines Summary

The necessity of adopting the Procurement Policy and Guidelines is to comply with FTA’s
expectations and basic requirement of having written Procurement Policies and Guidelines that
include local, state, and federal provisions. The ATP Policy and Guidelines explain how ATP as a
recipient or sub-recipient will ensure compliance with General Procurement Standards and
Contract Provisions of the FTA Procurement System Review (additional information on the FTA
Procurement System Review can be found at: Procurement System Review Contractor’s Manual
Fiscal Year 2020 | FTA (dot.gov)). The Policy and Guidelines has been reviewed internally and
externally to ensure compliance, specifically on the 63 elements of the FTA Procurement System
Review. The Policy and Guidelines have received a cursory review from FTA Region VI and have
been reviewed by outside legal counsel to ensure local, state, and federal compliance.

The ATP Procurement Policy and Guidelines follow procurement best practices and is compliant
with local, state, and federal rules and regulations. The Policy is contained in Sections 1-4 and the
Guidelines in Sections 5-9. The Policy and Guidelines are separated out to allow flexibility in the
procurement process; any changes to the Policy will require ATP Board approval while the
Guidelines allow changes at the staff level.

The Policy and Guidelines are compliant with the applicable requirements and standards of
Chapter 451 of the Texas Transportation Code, Chapters 2254 and 2269 of the Texas Government
Code, as well as, when using federal assistance to finance a Procurement, in accordance with 2
C.F.R. Part 200 (as adopted by the U.S. Department of Transportation in 2 C.F.R. Part 1201), the
terms of the Federal Transit Administration ("FTA") Master Agreement and any underlying FTA
funding agreement, FTA Circular 4220.1 and other applicable federal statutory and regulatory
requirements, in each case as in effect on the applicable date ("Federal Requirements").




The Procurement Policy and Guidelines establishes procedures and guidelines relating to the
procurement, management, control, and disposal of property, services, and construction to
define the terms in and implement the provisions of Chapter 451 of the Texas Transportation
Code and other State law requirements and Federal Requirements as mentioned above. In
addition, the Procurement Policy and Guidelines:

e Provides for public confidence in the integrity, fairness, and accountability of ATP’s
procurement system.

e Ensures fair and equitable treatment of all persons who deal with ATP’s procurement system.

e Promotes contracting opportunities for all Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBEs),
Minority-Owned Business Enterprises (MBEs), and Women-Owned Business Enterprises
(WBEs), both as prime contractors and subcontractors.

e Fosters full and open competition.

e Meets the customer’s needs in terms of cost, quality and timeliness of the delivered product
or service.

e Promotes positive relationships through courtesy and impartiality in all phases of the
procurement process.

e Handles confidential information or proprietary information with proper consideration of the
ethical and legal ramifications of disclosure.

e Maintains the integrity of ATP’s procurement system.

e Provides for the timely, impartial resolution of all procurement issues.

e Provides increased efficiency and effectiveness in ATP’s procurement activities, thereby
exercising good stewardship of public funds and maximizing, to the fullest extent possible,
the purchasing value of those public funds.

The ATP Procurement Policy and Guidelines are modeled after the Federal Acquisition Regulation
(FAR) with a focus on the Best Practices Procurement Manual (BPPM). The BBPM outlines the
following content derived from various local, state, and federal laws and regulations:

e Purpose and Scope

e Planning

e Contracting Method and Types of Contracts
e Evaluation of Proposals and Contract Award
e Contract Administration

The Policy and Guidelines are designed to allow and encourage the following:

e Innovative Ideas

e Sourcing Flexibility including Sole Source and Unsolicited Proposals
e Performance and Cost Incentives

e Source Evaluation Criteria Flexibility

e Abide by the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Policy




Procurement Policy & Guidelines

Original Issue Date:

ATP Board Resolution No.

Revision History

Version No. | Implemented By
Title

Approved By
Title

Revision
Date

Description of Revision

001




TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROCUREMENT POLICY
SECTION 1-100 - PUrPOSE aNd SCOPE .. ceuuuiiiienncrrrnnnieriennsesrenssessernssesssnsssssssnsssssssnssssssnsssssssnssssssnnsssses 2
Section 1-101  AULhOFitY @Nd PUMPOSE....c.uiiieeiiee ettt ertee e e et e e et e e et e e e st e e e e e ateeeeasaaesnsseeeansseeesnsnnnnas 2
Section 1-101A Procurement Ethical PrinCiPlesS.....cccuuiiiiiiie et et e et nne e 4
Section 1-101B Standards of Conduct and ATP Conflicts of INterest.......cceeevcveiireiieeiiee e 5
Section 1-102  General Principles of Law and Interpretation ... 7
Section 1-103  Requirement of GOOd Faith .........cccouiiiiiiiiieiiie et ettt eaae s 7
Section 1-104  Application of Policy and GUIEIINES .........coocuviiiiiiiee ettt 7
SECtioN 1-105  SEVEIADIIITY .uvieieiiie et e st e e et e e e st e e e e abe e e e ara e e e taeeeabaee e eanraaeeaaraaaan 8
Section 1-106  SPECITIC REPEAIET ...ccueiiee ettt e e st e e et e e et e e s stb e e e e steeeeseeeesntaeeeansssaeesnneens 8
Section 1-107  Construction Against IMplicit REPEAIET ......cccuvvii i e 8
Section 1-109  Dissemination of the Policy and GUIAEliNeS ........cccuuiiiiiiiiiirieii e 8
Section 1-201  Written DetermiNations ......coo i eieiieee ettt e e st e e e s e st ee e e s s s saateeeeeessnabneeeeeeesnnsenes 8
Y=Tora o] o T {0 J R B 1= 70V 4T Y o TSRS 9
Section 1-401  Public Access to Procurement INformation ........cccveeceeiiieeneeciiie et 19
Section 1-501  Acquisition 0f REal PrOPEItY .......eiieeiii ettt e et e e re e e stae e e s te e e eennns 19

CHAPTER 2 — PROCUREMENT AUTHORITY AND OFFICIALS. ......ccccoevuuririennnnennne. 21

Section 2-100 - Authority and Responsibility .......ccccccceiiiiiiiiimniiiiiiiiiiiniressen 21
Section 2-101  Procurement AULNOIITY ...cueeie ittt st e e et e e e e aae e e sareeeesareeesnnnnns 21
Section 2-102  Procurement RESPONSIDIILY ..cc.vveiieiiie it rae e e e tr e e eanees 21

Section 2-200 — Board Authority and Delegations of Authority........c.cccceeeeeeciciiiiiireieecccccierrereeeeeeneen. 22
Section 2-201  Board Authority and Authority to Delegate .........cceeicueiieeciie e 22
Section 2-202  Delegations and Revocations of AULhOIILY .......c.coviiiiiiriiiie e 23
Section 2-203  CoNtracting OffiCerS . ...ouuiiiiiiiie et sttt e enee e 24

Section 2-300 - Deviations from Policy and Guidelings.........cccccerieeeeeirieeiiiieenneiieeeeerreneeeneensseerennnnns 24
Section 2-301  Deviations from Policy and GUIAEIINES .......cccuuiiiiiiiiieiiececee e 24

Section 2-400 - Changes to Policy and GUIdeliNes ........ccciiiirreuuiiiiiiiiiiiinniiiiiniiieesiesm. 25
Section 2-401  Changes to the terms of this POIICY ......cccuuiiiiiiiiiieee e 25

Section 2-500  Procurements Using Federal FUNS ........ccueuuiiiiiiiiiininnniiiiiniininensms 25
)<Yot a o] o Y 0 R o o Yol =Te (U =TSP U RSP 25
Section 2-502  ProCUrEMENT ClaUSES....cuuiiuieriieeieesiie ettt et te st e sttt e beesbe e sabeesaeesbaesbeesabeessaeebeesbeeeenns 25

CHAPTER 3 - SOURCE SELECTION AND CONTRACT FORMATION...........ccevvreeeeee. 26

Section 3-100 - GENEral ProViSIONS ......ccccciiiieiiiiineieiinniieiinnienieneissienssssssnnsssssensssssssnssssssnsssssssnnssns 26
Section 3-101  Definition Of TEIMIS ...ei ittt sttt st e st e sab e e saaesbee s naeeenee 26
Section 3-102  Extension of Time for Bid or Proposal ACCEPTANCE.......uuvieeciiieeeiiee et 27
Section 3-103  Extension of Time on Indefinite Quantity CoONtracts .........cceceerieeriiiiieeiierieecieee e 28
Section 3-104  Only One Bid or Proposal RECEIVEA ..........uuiiiiiiiiecieee ettt et e e 28
Section 3-105  Multiple or Alternate Bids OF PropoSals ........ceeiieicciiiiiiiie et e et e e e sanraeee e 28
Section 3-106  Bonds for SUPPlY OF SErvICe CONTIACES......ccccuiiiieiieeeeciieeecteeeeeiee e eriree e e ete e e e eare e e saaeeeebreeenanes 29
Section 3-107  Conditioning Bids or Proposals Upon Other AWards ..........ccueeeeceeeeiiieeesiieeecieee e e esvee e 29
Section 3-108  Determination of Contractual Terms and ConditioNns .......coccveerieerieriienieenieenie e 29
Section 3-109  UNSOIICIEA OFfErs ..ccuiiiiiiiiieeiiesieee ettt ettt st e st e e bt e e baesbee s sneesane 29
Section 3-110  Novation or Change Of NAMIE ....ceuiiiiiiiiieieet ettt e 31




Section 3-111 Contracting for Installment Purchase Payments..........coccuiiieiiieeiciee e see s 31
Section 3-112 Purchase of Items Separately from Construction Contract .......ccccceveeeieeniieeneenieenneennen, 31
Section 3-113 Purchase of Standard Commercial ProductS........cuveeeuiiriiiiieeniee e 32
Section 3-114 Maximizing Participation of Small Business Private ENnterprises........cocccocvveeeecrveeeecvveeenneen. 32
Section 3-114.01 Purpose and General REQUINEMENTS .......uuiiiiiieiiiiiiiiee et e et e e e e e e e e e e araeeee e 32
Section 3-114.02  Utilization Of JOINT VENTUIES ..cccviiiiieiieeciiieste ettt st sbae et s 32
Section 3-115 Ensuring Necessary and Non-Duplicative PUrChases .........cccceeecveieecieeccciee e 33
Section 3-200 Methods of Source Selection........ceeeeceiiiiiiieeicccccree e e eeeeeee e e e e e e e eeennnnes 34
Section 3-201 GENEral REQUIMEMENTS .o..veiitiicite ittt sttt ettt st e e sbt e e bt e sab e e sabeesaeeenbeesenes 36
Section 3-202  Competitive Sealed Bidding..........u.cceiiiiiiiieeeccciiiirrrinccces e rrereneeeeee s e e e eennnnsseenns 37
Section 3-202.01  General REQUIMEMENTS .....coiiiiiiieiiierie ettt ettt sttt sttt et sab e sne e sbeeeneesanes 38
Section 3-202.02  The INVItation fOr BidS ....uuiiiiiieieiieeciiiee ettt e see e st e e et ae e e s neeeesnsaeeessseeesnnnnes 38
Section 3-202.03  BiddiNg TiM @ ...ueiii i e e et e e e e e et e e e e e e e e aaa e e e e e e eenaabaeeeeeesntraaeeeseeaens 39
Section 3-202.04  Bidder SUDMISSIONS ..cciuuiiiiiiiieeiie ettt rt e ettt e st e e seaa e e e et beeesateeesbeeeesnbeeesnnnens 39
Section 3-202.05  PUDBIIC NOTICE. ..iuuiiitiiiiie sttt sttt s be e s et e s ae e e sbeesabeesabeesabeessaeenbeesnnseesane 39
SeCtion 3-202.06  Bidders LiSTS....ccuuieiuierieeiiieiiit st eiee sttt st ste e ste e et esbeesat e e bt e s beesabe e st e e nbeeebeeeabee s eneenane 40
Section 3-202.07  Pre-Bid CONfEIENCES ....ciiuiiitieeiee ettt ettt sttt et e st e sabeesbeessbeesanee 40
Section 3-202.08 Amendments to INVitations fOr Bids........cccuiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 40
Section 3-202.09 Pre-Opening Modification or Withdrawal of BidS ..........cccceeeriiiniiniiiiieenieenieec e 40
Section 3-202.10 Late Bids, Withdrawals, and ModifiCations........ccccuveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 41
Section 3-202.11 Receipt, Opening, and Recording of Bids ........ccccuiiiiuiiieeiiiiiceiiee et 41
Section 3-202.12  MISTAKES 1N BiS ..eeiuuiiiiiieitieiiiesieesiie ettt sttt st e sae et e st esbeesabeesaeeebaeebeesabeessseenseeensneesnne
Section 3-202.13  Bid EVAIUGLION ....eiiiiiiiie ittt st e e et st e st e e nbe e e baeebeesnaeennne
SECtioN 3-202.14  LOW TH@ BilS...eeiureieieriiieiieeiiit st etee sttt st ste et e st esate e s st e e be e e beesabeesabeenbeesbaesabeesaneenane
SECHION 3-202.15  AWAIT weeiiitiiiiieiieeiee ettt ettt sttt e s e sat e e bt e s beesabeeshbe e bt e sa bt e s abeesateesateeabeesabeesatee e ebeenane
Section 3-202.16  Publicizing Awards
Section 3-202.17 Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding........ccooiciiiiiiiiie i e 46
Section 3-202.18  Pre-Bid Conferences in Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding ..........ccceeeeeiiiieiieeceneennn. 47
Section 3-202.19  Phase One of Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding.........ccccveeiiiieeeiiiieeceee e 47
Section 3-202.20 Mistakes During Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding ..........cccovveeeriieeeciiee e 49
Section 3-202.21 Phase Two of Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding.........ccccvuveeviveeercieeeeeee e 49
Section 3-203  Competitive Sealed Proposals ........cccoiriieeeemeccceiiiiiinennecccenrereeennsssscessseeesnnnsssssenns 50
Section 3-203.01  AULNOIILY FOr USE ....iiiiiiiiieiiieee ettt st st sae e s e e b e s nee e eaee 50
Section 3-203.02  CoONAItIONS fOF USE ..uuiiiiuiiiieiiiieeeiiee ettt e esiee ettt e st e e e st e e e sasee e saaeeesstaeeessseeesnnseeeenssenennsnnes 50
Section 3-203.03 Determination Of Cat@EOrIES . ...cccuuiiiiiuiie ettt ettt e et e e e e e eare e e eeareeeeaneas 52
Section 3-203.04 Content of the Request for PropoSals ......c..iiicuiiiiciiiie et 52
Section 3-203.05 Proposal Preparation TIME .......cceie ettt e eeee e et e e e sare e e e aaeeesabeeeeensaeeeanneas 52
Section 3-203.06  FOIM Of PrOPOSal .....ueiiuuiieeiiiic ettt e et e et e e s ta e e e etreeeeasseeesasaeeesareeesannnns 52
Section 3-203.07  PUDBIIC NOTICE. ..euuiiiieitie ettt ettt ettt e st e st e e sat e e ssaesbee s neesane 53
Section 3-203.08  USE OFf BIAUEIS LIS ...cciuviiiuieriieiiiiesiiieiieesiee et ste e sttt ettt st e st e s beesabeesaaesbeesbeeeenns 53
Section 3-203.09  Pre-Proposal CONTEIENCES ......ciuieiiieeieeiet ettt st 53
Section 3-203.10 Amendments to Requests for Proposals .........coceeieeriienrieiiiieeeenieeseeeee e 53
Section 3-203.11 Modification or Withdrawal of Proposals .............coouiiiiiiiiiieiiie e 53
Section 3-203.12 Late Proposals, Withdrawals, and Modifications .........cccceeeeeeiiiiiiiie e 54
Section 3-203.13 Receipt and Registration of Proposals..........ccecuieiiiiiiiieciii et 54
Section 3-203.14  Evaluation Of ProPOSalS ...cccuuiii ittt e et e et e e e e e e snae e e s raeeennnaes 54
Section 3-203.15 Proposal Discussions with Individual Offerors .........ccccceecviieicciie e 54
Section 3-203.16  Mistakes iN PropoSals ........ooueiiieiriieiieiiee ettt sttt ettt et sbe e e 55
SECHION 3-203.17  AWAIA coiiieiieeeiieeeeiiee sttt e e sttt e este e e staeeestae eeeassaeeeasseaeessteeeeasseeesnaeeeansaeeeansaeeeanseeeensrebeeeennnes 57
Section 3-203.18  PUDIICIZING AWAITS.....ccuuiiiiiiieieiite ettt ettt et e s te e e sbee e e s baeessabeeesnabeeeenabeeesnnnns 57

[ii]




Section 3-204 Micro and SMall PUICRASsEs. ...ttt reecreeereesesssecsnsesnnssnssnnennne 57

Section 3-204.01 Authority to Make SMall PUICh@SsEs .......ccccuviiiiiiie ettt 58
Section 3-204.02  Competition for SMall PUICh@Sses ......cc.eoiiiiiiiiiiieiee et 58
Section 3-204.03  Small Purchases of Professional SErVICeS ........ccciiiiiiieeeeiiie et 59
Section 3-205 Sole SOUrce ProCUremMeNt ......cceeeeereeieeeieeeeneeeneemmeeeeemmemmesemsssmsssmsssssssssssssssssssssssssnss 60
Section 3-205.01  GeNEral AULNOTIEY ...uuiiiieee e e e e e e e e e e e eeanr e e e e e e eearabeeeaaeaans 60
Section 3-205.02  CONAItIONS FOr USE ..uiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiieiiee sttt ettt e s te et be e steesaee s baesbeesabeessaeebeesnseessnns 60
Section 3-205.03 NEZOTIATION ..uitiiiiiiiiieeeeee e ———————————— 61
Section 3-205.04 Record of Sole SOUrce ProCUrEMENT ........eeeueeriienieiriiie ettt ettt 61
Section 3-206 Emergency ProCurements ....c.cccciveeiiiniiieiiiniiiniiieiiiniimisisisissrssrses 61
Section 3-206.01  GENEral AUNOIITY ....uiii et e s e e st ae e eeaea e e esnseeeesreeeennnes 61
Section 3-206.02  Definition of Emergency CONitioNS .........coecueeiiiirieiniieeeerie ettt 62
Section 3-206.03  Scope of EMErgency ProCUrEMENTS ......ccociuiiiiiiiiieeciiee et et e et e et e e eaee e e e e e eeareeeennnas 62
Section 3-206.04  Source Selection MEthods ..........uii it 62
Section 3-206.05 Determination and Record of Emergency Procurements.......ccccececuveeeeciieeeeiieeeesveeeesiee e 62
Section 3-206.06  NON-ProcuremMent PUICHASES .....civuieiiieiiieiiieiitesie sttt sttt s bee st seteesneeenns 63
Section 3-207  Statutory Professional SErVICES ........ccciiiiieeeeecceiiiiieeennncceeererereennnsceesseeeennnnnssenns 64
Section 3-207.01  DefiNitIONS cuueiviieiiieiieeste e ettt b et aa e e an e e 64
SeCtion 3-207.05  PUDIIC NOTICE....uiiiiiiieeiiiee ettt e ete e st e e et e e e et e e e snaaeeesstaeesnsseeesnnseeeessenaeennnes 65
Section 3-207.06 Request for Proposals or QUalifications ........cccueriiiiieieiiiie e 65
Section 3-207.07  EVAlUGLION FACLOIS...ciiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt sttt e e st ee e sataeesaaneeeesteeesnnnee 66
Section 3-207.08  Pre-Proposal CONTEIENCES ........cccuuii ittt ettt tee e et e e e eate e e e aa e e e e teeeeeataeeenneas 67
Section 3-207.09  Receipt and Handling of Proposals or RESPONSES ........ccccuvieieeiiiieeiiiee e e caee e 67
SeCtion 3-207.10  DISCUSSIONS ....eetiiiiiiiiietee e e ittt e e e sttt e e e es e e e e bt et e e e e e nnree et e e aeaannreeeeeeeaanbnneeeeeseansenneesneeeens 67
Section 3-207.11 Selection of the Best Qualified Offerors.........ccuciviiiniiiiiieniiesee e 68
Section 3-207.12 Negotiation and AWard of CONTIaCt .......ccccuvieiicieeeiiiie e e e e e e e e 68
Section 3-207.13 Memorandum of Evaluation and Negotiation ..........ccceeevieriiienieniieeeeieere e 69
Section 3-208 Goods/Services Exempted From Procurement Department Process........cccceeeeeee. 69
Section 3-209  Unauthorized Procurement ACtIONS .......ccccevreiiiniissiisssisssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnns 71
When a Procurement Action is UNauthorized ..o e 71
Section 3-300  Cancellation of Solicitations; Rejection of Bids or Proposals......ccccccceeiiriirrennnnnnn. 74
Yot [o o e B 10 R 1Y o] o] [ToF: | A o] o FO PRSPPI 74
Yot (o o e R 10 ) A o TV PSR SURPPP 74
Section 3-303  Cancellation of Solicitation - NOLICE .....cccueiriiiiiieiiieee e e 74
Section 3-304  Cancellation Prior t0 OPENING .....ccccuvireicuieeeciieeceiiee e seee e et e e e eaeeesreeeessreeeesseaessseeessseesannnns 74
Section 3-305  Cancellation After OPENING ....cc.ueiiuiiriiiieiieee ettt sttt sb e s b e e sae e e sane e e 75
Section 3-306  Rejection of Individual BidS OF PropoSals .......ccceeeiiiiiiiiiiieeieeniee et 75
Section 3-400  Responsibility
=Tt d oY o e B 0l R AN o] o] I Tor=) o] o VOSSP
Section 3-402  Standards of RESPONSIDIITY ...ccueiiieiiie ittt 77
Section 3-403  Ability t0 MEet StaNdardS.......cuuiiiiiiie ettt et e et re e e ar e e s e e e e sabe e e e eans 78
SECtiON 3-404  Pre-AWAId SUMVEYS .....vviiiieieeeiiieeeeiteeesteeeestreeeseteeesssseeeasssesaassaeesssseesssseesassssesssseesassseeseennnes 78
Section 3-405  Responsibility Determination .........ccciiiciieeiiiie et e e e e e e srae e e s e e eennnes 78
Section 3-500  CoSt OF Pricing Data......cccvvueiiiiieniiiinnniiiiinnioninneissiineesssisnessssisnesssssssssssssnsssssssnsssss 78
Section 3-501  SCOPE Of SECHION ..veiiuiieitie ettt sttt ettt sa e st e e bt e e beesanee s eneenaee 78
Section 3-502  Requirement for Cost Or PriCing Data........cccviecuieiieeiiieeiie e sieesre et e e e sveesreesaaeestaeenneesnee 79
Section 3-503  MEANINEG OF TEIMNS......uuiiiiiie ettt eete e e et e e e etb e e eeeaaeeeeteeeeeabeeeeenseeesaseeeesseeseennnes 80
Section 3-504  Submission of Cost or Pricing Data and Certification ..........ccceeeeiiiiiiiiec e 81

[iii]




Section 3-505
Section 3-506
Section 3-507
Section 3-508
Section 3-509

Section 3-600
Section 3-601
Section 3-602
Section 3-603
Section 3-604
Section 3-605
Section 3-606
Section 3-607
Section 3-608
Section 3-609
Section 3-610
Section 3-611
Section 3-612
Section 3-613
Section 3-613.01
Section 3-613.02
Section 3-614
Section 3-615

Section 3-700
Section 3-701
Section 3-702
Section 3-703
Section 3-704
Section 3-705
Section 3-706

Section 3-800
Section 3-801
Section 3-802
Section 3-802.01
Section 3-802.02
Section 3-802.03
Section 3-802.04
Section 3-802.05
Section 3-802.06
Section 3-802.07
Section 3-802.08
Section 3-802.09
Section 3-802.09
Section 3-802.10
Section 3-802.11
Section 3-802.12
Section 3-802.13
Section 3-803
Section 3-803.01
Section 3-803.02
Section 3-803.03

Certificate of Current Cost Or Pricing Data ........cccceeevcuriieiiiiiecieeecireeeeiree e et e e eeee e 81
Defective Cost OF PriCiNg Data ....ccc.eiiiieiieiiiieeieeiee ettt ettt st sttt e saee e 83
Price ANalysis TECANIGUES ......ciitiiiiee ettt ettt e e b saee e e 83
CoSt ANAlYSIS TECANIGUES. ... it e et e e e e et e e e e e e e e tareeeaeeesnnes 84
Evaluations of COSt OF PriCing Data........cocuieieiiiieeeiie ettt et et e et e e et eeearaeeeeaveaeenan 84
TYPES Of CONLIACES....coiiiiiiinuiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiieniirertaisiseetteesnsssssssssssssnssssssssssssssssnnses 84
SCOPE OF SECLION ...ttt e et e e et e e e be e e e abeeeeeateeesaseeeesnsseeennnns 84
Cost-Plus-a-Percentage-of-Cost CONtracting .......ceevveeeeeiieeieiiieeciieeeeee e eeiee e evee e seree e 84
Policy Regarding Selection of CoNtract TYPEeS....cccuvvieeceieeiiiee e 85
Types Of FIXed-Price CONTraCtS .....ccviiriiiieiieeiee ettt sttt s 86
Types of Cost-Reimbursement CONTracts ........covvueeriririiieniierieeee et 87
COSt INCENTIVE CONTIACES...iiiii ittt e st e e e e e ee e s 89
Performance INCENtIVE CONTIACES ..icuvieciiieriieeieeciee ettt et e et eeaeesaaeessaeeaeaens 90
Time and Materials and Labor HOUr CONtracts.......cevcveeiieeiiieeiiieniiesieciee e 90
Definite and Indefinite Quantity CONTracts ......ccccviiiiuiieeeiiei e e 91
[T RSP UPR PP 91

(@] o) 4o g TN o 01V 1Y (o] o U PPUPRRRN 92
Approval of ACCOUNTING SYSLEMS....c.uiiiiiiiieiite ettt sbee e 93
Multi-Term Contracts - GENEIAl.......iiiuiii ittt s eaae e s saaeeeeaes 93
(0o g o [ dTo Y T30 o Tl U LY TSR 94
MuUlti-Term Contract PrOCEAUIE ......ccueiiieerie ettt ettt et ettt sae e e baesbeesareas 94
INCrEMENTAl AWAI. . .iiiiieiieiieece ettt s e e et e s beesbeesabeesseeenbeeeenbeess 95
YT o L= NV RS 96
U T RN 96
F T g Lo Y o1 YU Lo L1 SRS 96
COSt OF Pricing Data AUGit.....c.eeeueeiiieiiie ettt sttt sttt et s 97
Cost or Pricing Data AUdit REPOIt.....ccicuiiiiiee ettt e e et e e e e e sarre e e e e e eeaeen 97
(0o T ) A Tt AN U e | APPSR 97
CoNtract AUCIT REPOIT . .uviieeiiiie ettt et eertte e e et e e e s be e e e eata e e e easaeeeabeeeesseeeennaneeas 98
Retention of BOOKS and RECOITS .....icviiiiiiiiiirie ettt ettt s st 98
SOliCitation ProviSioNS ......ccciiiieiiiiiieiiiiiieiiniineiinienenienienesisstrnsssssenssssssenssssssennnnns 929
(CT=T 0 1=T o | P PSPPSRSO 99
Solicitations for Competitive Sealed Bids ........cceeveieriiirieiiiiiieeee e 99
Preparation Of BidS.........oiieiiii et 99
EXPlanation tO BIAAEIS .....eeieiiieiieeeee e et e e ee s 100
Acknowledgment of Amendments to Invitation for Bids........ccccceevieiiiiieecciee e, 100
SUDMISSION OF BIOS...eiutiieiieiiiesieeiie ettt et ste et e s be e s beesbaeesaeesnbeesnaeen s 101
Late Submissions, Modifications, and Withdrawals of Bids .........cccccoeevuvvieiiiiiiiiieeeeceenns 101
DISCOUNTS .ttt e et e st e st e e s bt e s anb e e s aab e e e e anteeeenneeesannneenn 103

F N Yo o A 6] o1 4 o O P ST PPPPRPN 103
ATP-FUINIShEd PrOPEItY ...cooiuieeiee ittt ettt sttt 104
Encouragement of JOINT VENTUIES ......oooiiiiiiiiiiee et e 104

1 Mandating Award t0 JOINT VENTUIES........eeeiiieiciiieee et e e e 104
Order Of PrECEUEBNCE . oivviieiie ittt ettt e st e s ae et e s sbaesnbeesnteensaeenes 104
CONFIAENTIAL DATA..uieiiieiieeiie ettt st este et e s sbaesabeesbeenbeeenbaesanee 105
AdMINiStrative REMEIES .....veieieiiiieieeie ettt st sbe e e sbeesaee e 105
Cancellation of SOlICItAtION ...covviiiiii e 105
Solicitations for CONSTIUCTION .......uiiiiiiie et e e e s eaee e e 105
2703 Vo - PP 105
ST INVESTIGATION ... et e e sttt e e e e s eanre e e e e e e s 106
Drug-Free Workplace Program Certification ........ccccocveeveienieeiie i 106

[iv]




Section 3-804

Section 3-804.01
Section 3-804.02
Section 3-804.03
Section 3-804.04
Section 3-804.05
Section 3-804.06
Section 3-804.07
Section 3-804.08
Section 3-804.09
Section 3-804.10
Section 3-804.11
Section 3-804.12
Section 3-804.13
Section 3-804.131
Section 3-804.14

CHAPTER 4 — SPECIFICATIONS, ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES, AND

Solicitations for Competitive Sealed Proposals........c.ceeecieeeiiiiieiciiee e 106

Preparation Of Offers. ... i e 106
EXPIanation t0 OFffErors .......eo i e 107
Acknowledgment of Amendments to Request for Proposals .........cccccceevueeeeciieeeecnneeenneen. 107
SUDMISSION Of OFfEIS ...ttt e et e e e eate e e e etaeeeebreeeeans 108
Late Submissions, Modifications, and Withdrawals of Offers..........cccceevvvieeiiiiiiveeeeeciennn, 108
DISCOUNTS 1ttt e e s s s 110
F VY Lo o) 0o T2} i - ot f PSRN 110
ATP-FUINISNEA PrOPEITY ..eeeeivieeeiiie e ceee ettt e eee e et e e et e e et a e e str e e e snreeesnaeeesanaeeens 111
(O] o [T o Yo=Y o [T ol YR 111
(OoT gy iTe [T oN = D - - 1SS 111
AdMINistrative REMEMIES .......uiiiieiieiieiee e e e e e e et e e e e e aaraeeaaeeean 112
Cancellation of SOICITAtION ......cviii i et 112
Encouragement of JOINT VENTUIES .....ccccviiiiiiee ettt e 112
Mandating Award t0 JOINT VENTUIES......c.uiieieiie et e e e e e 112
WA Rt S it e e et e et e e e e e e e eaesraee 112

ORGANIZATIONAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST........cccceerennnirrennnirennnen. 113

Section 4-100

Section 4-101

Section 4-200

Section 4-201
Section 4-202
Section 4-203
Section 4-204
Section 4-205
Section 4-206

Section 4-300

Section 4-300A
Section 4-301
Section 4-301A
Section 4-301B
Section 4-302
Section 4-303
Section 4-404
Section 4-305
Section 4-306
Section 4-307
Section 4-308
Section 4-309
Section 4-310
Section 4-311
Section 4-312
Section 4-313
Section 4-314
Section 4-315
Section 4-316
Section 4-317
Section 4-318
Section 4-319

LT 1= PN 113
DETINITIONS uteeeitie ittt et e et e st e st e e sa b e ebeesabeesateesebe e teeen snaeebeenns 113
Policies and REqUIremMENtS ......cccciieeeiiiiieeniiiinnniiieneiinienesieneensssssesnsssssenssssssennes 113
0T o To Y =T T o I o] [ ol Y PPN 113
Authority to Prepare SpecifiCations..........oocuieiiiiiie i 114
Procedures for the Development of Specifications..........ccceviieriirieiniieniieeeen 115
PUDBIiC TranspOortation .........uveiiee e e e e e e e e e e e e st ra e e e e e e e anrenares 116
Full and Open ComPetitioN......ccoic e e e e e et e e e e e e e anaeeea s 116
Specifications Prepared DY Others .........oecociiiiiciee e 116
Administrative REMEIes .....c..cciiieueiiiiirniiiiiiniieiiinicerinnieenenniennensesssnnssssennsens 117
SOlICITAtION PrOVISION c..uviiiiiiiiiieiie ettt sttt ettt e st e e b e sbeaeeane 117
Protests of Solicitations and AWArdS ........cooueiiiiiiiie i 117
RINT £0 PrOtST. ... vieiiieiiteetee ettt ettt e st s b e s e e e beeeenneeens 117
[DL] T 0 o o T3S 117
FING OF PrOTEST. ... et e et e et e e et e e e eeabeeeeaeaeseeereeean 117
STAY OF PrOCUIMEMENTES ..ttt et e et e et e e e ette e e e tbeeeetaeeesareeeeenreeeeennnes 118
Availability of INfOrmMation.........cocuiii i e 118
PrOTEST DECISION ....ieiieei ittt e e e e st e e e e e st e e e e e s e eabnr e e e e e e eaanseanneeees 119
Request for RECONSIAEIAtION ......vvii et e e e e e e sae e e e naee e eaaeeean 119
FINAITLY Of DECISION .nuveiiitieeiiee sttt et ettt et b e e bt st e e eanee s 119
Debarment OF SUSPENSION .....ccuuiiiiiitieeite sttt ettt ettt sae e st e bt e st e e saeesbeesabeesaneenes 119
SCOPE OF COVEIAZE ...ttt ettt e et e e e e et e e e aaee e e taeeeetaeeeeasaeeeeasaaeensreeeeeenes 119
Authority to Debar Or SUSPEN.........uiiiiiieiiee e e e e e e e e anraeee s 120
YU o 1= [ ] o DO O O OO PN 120
Initiation of DebarMeENt ACTION.....c.iiiiiiie et st esaee e 121
20T [ 1] o o ol L=V [ = RS S 121
[N oy ol o] il o 1T T 1o V-SSR 121
Authority of HEaring OffiCer.....ou it 122
[ LT T ] =TT TRUPOPPRTPPI 123
DEDArMENT DECISION . ..tieeiiiiie ettt et e e st e e st e e sbb e e e bbe e e s baeessareeeseens 123
Effect of DEDArmMent DECISION.....ccuiiiiieie ettt st st sbe e saeenbeesbeesaaee e 123
APPEAI OF DECISION ...ttt e et e et e e et e e e e eate e e s eareeesbeeaeenbaeeeensaeeennreseeaans 123

[v]




Section 4-320
Section 4-320A
Section 4-321
Section 4-322
Section 4-323
Section 4-324
Section 4-325
Section 4-326
Section 4-327
Section 4-328
Section 4-400
Section 4-401
Section 4-402
Section 4-403
Section 4-404
Section 4-405
Section 4-406
Section 4-406A
Section 4-406B
Section 4-407
Section 4-408
Section 4-409
Section 4-410
Section 4-411
Section 4.412
Section 4-413
Section 4-414
Section 4-414A
Section 4-415

Contract DiSPULES PrOCEAUIES .......ccccviieeeiieeecieee e ettt e e e e iaee e e sere e e sare e e sraeeesntaeeeensaeeennes 124

SCOPE OFf COVEIAE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et sat e sttt et e st e s ab e e bt e sabe e et e e sbeeesbeesabeesanee e s 124
DeleBation OF ATP ...eiiieeie ettt ettt et e sb e e bt e sate e s earee s 124
Contracting OffiCer's DECISION ......iiiiuiie ettt e e et e e et e e e e eaae e e eaneeans 124
(01110 4 I o1V N I 2P PUPPPPPTRN 125
AdMINISTrative APPEAIS.....ciiiiie ettt e e et e e et e e et e e e et e e e saaeeeeraeeennnnns 125
SCOPE OF COVEIAZE ..ottt et ette e ettt e et e e e et e e et e e e e eate e e s taeeeeatbeeeeasaeessseeeasreeeennaneeas 125
F XU o To g 2=To Y=Y o] f Ty =T o | =L V7RSSR 125
[ LT LT <SP 126
FINQLITY OFf DECISION ..eiiutiiiiie ittt st beesaee e sanee s 126
Organizational Conflicts Of INTEreSt ......coouiiiiiiiiie e 126
1Y o0 o 1= PPRPPPPPPPRE 127
D= 1oV Ao o F TS OURRPPPUPRRR 127
F YT o1[Tor: ] o 1111 4V AU 127
L L= P USSP UOPPPR 128
Contracting Officer's ReSponSibilities .......cc.eieiiiieee e 128
Rules and APPIICAtION ...couiiiieee et st 128
Tl oo 18 ot d o o TSRS 128
Providing Systems Engineering and Technical Direction........cccccoeccviieeeiieciiieeee e 129
Preparing Specifications or Work Statements..........ccceeeeeiiiiieeiiie e 129
Providing Technical Evaluation or Consulting SErviCes.........ccceovueeeiiieeeciiiee e 131
Obtaining Access to Proprietary INformation..........ccoccveeeiiiiee e 131
INFOrMAtION SOUICES ...uviiiie ittt sttt st e st e e sbeeebaeeenes 131
L 0Tl T FU T PSR 131
T [ 0] o] [T PSP PRSPPSO 132
UNSOIICIEEA PropPOSalS .eevieeiiiieie ettt e e e e et e e e e e e e aare e e e e e e e eenas 133
Solicitation Provision and Contract ClauSe ........ccovvviiiiiiiiii it 137
Yo [Tol ] &= 1d e o I 01V ] T o OSSP 137
(6o o1 =Tt A @1 - [ ] DU RPPRTRO 137

PROCUREMENT GUIDELINES
CHAPTER 5 - PROCUREMENT OF CONSTRUCTION, ARCHITECT-ENGINEER, AND

LAND SURVEYING SERVICES......c.cccoieiiiiiiniiniieiieiieiiecetecescencssssassansns 2

Section 5-100  Definitions and APPliCatioN .....cc.ciirieeiiiieeiiirirccerreeeeerereeeerenneeerenseeesennseessennnenns 2
Y=Yt a o] o TR T (0 A =Y 4T 1o T USRS 2

Y =Teta oY o I T K0 1 1 Vo] o [oF 14 o] o PO PSP PUPUPRRNt 2
Section 5-200 Management of Construction CoNtracts.........ccceviiiiremnnciiciniiiinennsnieinniiiees. 2
SECtiON 5-201  GENEIAI POIICY cuiiii ittt e et e e ettt e e e s ba e e e e ata e e e asaeeesaeeesnsseeeensnsseeeanreeann 2
Section 5-202  Lease, BUY, OF BUIlG........couiiiiiiii ettt e e et e et e e e e aa e e e s ata e e e ensae e e ennaeas 3
Section 5-203  GENEral DESCIIPTIONS ...cciiviieeeiiieeeiee e ctee e esee e e et e e et e e e e et e e e e aaeeesabeeeasataeessaaeesnsseeeasaeeesesnsens 3
Section 5-204  Criteria for Method SEIECTION ......cocueiii et e e e e et e e s e s 4
Section 5-205  SiNgle Prime CONTraCtor.....oouiiieiiiieeiee ettt sttt sttt et sbe e e be e st e st e e naees 6
Section 5-206 Multiple Prime CONTIaCtors ....ocuuuiiieie ettt e et e e e e et re e e e e e e esaata e e e e e e e baraeeaeeeaneenen 7
Section 5-207  DesigN-Build OF TUINKEY ...eeiiieeeeeee et e e et e e e e e e baae e e e e e e e e eeaas 8
Section 5-208  CONSTrUCTION IM@NAEE c.ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee e e e s e e e s 9
Section 5-208A Construction Manager/General Contractor (CM/GC) .....cueeceeeiieeeeeecieeeeiee e eee e et ene e 11
Section 5-209  Sequential Design and CONSTIUCTION ........eeeeiiiiiieiiiee et e e e e et eeeenens 11
Section 5-210  Phased Design and CONSTIUCTION ......uviiiiiieeeiiieeeiee e e eee et e et e e e ssre e e snee e e str e e e nnaeeennes 11
SECtion 5-300  BONAS.....cceeeuueecciiiiiiiiiinecceerrereennnnsseessearernsssssesssseeesnnsssssssssseeennnsssssssssesesnnnnnssssnns 12
SECHION 5-301 Bt SECUIIEY c.veeuetiitieettesite ettt ettt e sa e et e s bt e st e e sa bt e natesbeesasee s sabeeenneenee 12

[vi]




Section 5-302  Performance BONGS ......ccccuiieiiiiieceiiieecieeeesttee s et e e et e e e stte e e e ate e e sanaeeesstaeeessaeesnsneeasreeeneennns 14
Section 5-303  PAYMENT BONGS......eiiiiiiiiieiiieiie ettt ettt sttt e be e e bt e st e e st esat e e sneeebee s eneenaee 15
Section 5-500  Architect-Engineer and Land SUrveying Services......cccccceeeeeerrrrreeeeennccissnnneeenennnenns 16
SeCtioN 5-501  APPIICATION . ..eiiiiiitieee ettt st b e et esar e sabeesaeeenes 16
Section 5-502  POliCY @aNd GUIEIINES......uviiiieieieeeee et e e e e e st e e e e e eeaarbe e e e e e e abaaesaaeeeans 17
Section 5-503  SElECION PANEI c.ueeiiiieeeeee ettt e e e e et e e e e et b e e e e e e et aearaaaaaaaan 17
Section 5-504  Required DetermMiNations .......cc.viiicciiieiiiiee et eette st e et e e et e e s etbe e e e stbeeeeateeesabaeeesateeeeannnns 17
Section 5-505  Annual Statement of QUAlITICAtIONS ...cccvveeeeiiii e s 17
Section 5-506  PUBIIC ANNOUNCEMENT ...c.eviiieiiieciee ettt e e te e et e e e st e e e ate e e saaeeeentaeeeassaeeesnsaeeesseeennnnnes 18
Section 5-507  Evaluation and Selection of Firms for DiSCUSSIONS......cccuuiiieiiieieiiireciiee e 19
R =Totd o] T 01 T B 1T ol U1y o ] o 19
Section 5-509  Selection of Most QUalified FIrMS ........cccuiiiiiiiieeiiie e ettt 20
Section 5-510  Negotiation and AWard of CONTrACE .......cuiiiiiuiiiieiiie ettt e e 20

CHAPTER 6 - CONTRACT CLAUSES .....ccccottuiirimiirinniiiiniinieinieeiniesneseneenes 22

Section 6-100 SCOPE Of COVEIAZE. .ceuuuiirirnnerrenenierrennserrernssesrennssesrensssssesnsssssennsssssenssssssensssssssnnnnns 22
Section 6-200  Fixed Price SUPPlY CONTracts ...ccuceirieeciitieeiieiieneiiiteneneeeeennesrennsseerensssssennsssssennnnns 22
Section 6-201 FAN o] o] 11or=] o1 AV 2P UURUPTR 22
Section 6-202 Guideline Clauses for Fixed Price SUpply CONtracts........cccocveeeeciieeeciieee e 22
Section 6-202.01  DEfiNItIONS cuveiiiieiiieiiie ettt et sttt et e st e e b e et e et e snbe e ae e e naaeennes 22
Yot (o o 0 A 0 A @ o F=1 g Vd Y PR 23
SECTION 6-202.03  EXEIaS .eiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e e e sttt e et e e e s e sae bt et e e e s e aaabeeeeeesesaa bt eeeeesanbataeeeeeennbsanbeaaeeeens 24
Section 6-202.04  Variation in QUAaNTITY ...c.eeeiiiiiiiiiie e s e e e e enn e 24
Section 6-202.05  INSPECLION c.ciiiiiiiiiiieeceee e ——————————————— 24
Section 6-202.06  RiSk Of LOSS OF DAMAEE....ccccuuiiiieiiie ettt ettt etee e e et e e et e e eetaeeeeetveeeeaaeeesbeeaesareeeeannnes 25
SECHION 6-202.07  PaYMENTS ittt ——————————————, 25
Section 6-202.08 Additional BONG SECUNILY ..cccuvviiieiiie ettt e e et e e e tre e e eae e e e sabe e e eareeeeanneas 26
Section 6-202.09  Termination for DefaUlt..........coceiiiiiiiiiii e 26
Section 6-202.10  Termination fOr CONVENIENCE ......ciuiiiiiirieerie ettt ettt sbe e st eebe e sabeesaeesans 28
SECHION 6-202.11  DiSPULES ..ueeeeiiiiie ittt ettt st e et e s e e e s bt e e e s e e e e sane e e s s b et e s aab et e sne e e e snaeesenneeaeeeennees 29
Section 6-202.12 Payment of Interest on Contractor’s Claims .........coocuiiieeiiieieciee e 30
Section 6-202.13 Federal, State, aNd LOCAI TAXES ....ovvviiiiiiieiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et 30
SeCtion 6-202.14  ASSISNMENT ..iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e s e s ey s 30
Section 6-202.15 Equal Opportunity and Disadvantaged Business ENterprises........cccceeecveeeeiveeescreeeesveeennns 30
Section 6-202.16  Interest of PUBIIC OffiCials ......oivueiiiiiiiieiieeee e 30
Section 6-202.17  Order Of PrECEUENCE ....oouiiiiiietie ettt ettt st st sie e e sba e e sbee st e e sbeesbeeenbeesanes 31
Section 6-202.18  GOVEINING LAW ..cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ittt e s e e et esnne e e sne e e s s reee s ennne 31
Section 6-203 Clauses to be Used When Applicable.......coueoiiiiiiiiiiiiicie e 31
Section 6-203.01  Pricing Of AQJUSTMENTS ....oeiiiiiiieiiie ettt e et e et e e e ettt e e e eare e e steeeeeabeeeeennns 31
Section 6-203.02  First Article APProval........ i e e e et e e e et aaaaaaaas 31
Section 6-203.03  NEW MaAtEral.cciuieeieiiiiieiieiiie sttt sttt e et e st e st e e st e e saeesbeeebeesabeesseeenseesnsneesane 32
Section 6-203.04  Cancellation Of EEMS....ciuiiiiieeieee ettt s e e e 33
Section 6-203.05  Option for INcreased QUANTITY......ociiiiieriiee et 34
Section 6-203.06  NOtICE Of LabOr DISPULES ...c.veeeeieriiiiiieeiiitesite ettt ettt ettt et e s sbe e s e e sanes 34
Section 6-203.07 Insurance - Work on ATP INStallation ........cueeveiiriiiiieeesee et 35
Section 6-203.08 Discounts for Prompt PAYMENT ......cocuuiiieiiiii et eetee ettt e et e e et e e eeaaeeeetreeeennes 35
Section 6-203.09  Progress PAYMENTS ...ccviiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeieee ettt e e e 35
Section 6-203.10 Interest on Contractor INAEDLEANESS ......vvivviiiiieriierie e e 41
Section 6-203.11  Protection Of ATP PrOPEITY ....cccccuieiiiiieeeciiee et s ettt e e et e e e etre e e eaee e e sabaeeeensaeeenneas 41
SECHION 6-203.12  ATP PrOPEITY .uvvieeiiieiiiiiiiee e eeiiite e e e e ee sttt e e e se e e st et e e s e e ssstaeeeeeeeassssteeeeeseasnstaeeeeesensssseeeesanens 41
Section 6-203.13  Certificate of CONFOIMANCE ....ccocviiiiiiie e e e e e e e nnees 45

[vii]




Section 6-203.14  LiQUIdQted DAmMAgES ..cccuueieeiuiieeeiirieeeieeeesiteeeeeeeeeeesteeeesstaeeasssaeesssseeesssseeeansseeesnseseessseeennsnes 46

SECtiON 6-203.15  WAITANTY .eeeiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e s e s e e s b e e e e s e e e s e e e e s re e e s raee e e nnees 47
Section 6-203.16  PUDIICILY REIEASES ....ueiiieiieeiiiie ettt ee ettt e e et e s ate e e saaeeesnbaeeenaeeesnseeeesseeennsnnes 49
Section 6-203.17  ROYAItiES AN PAtENTS ....eiiii it e et e e e e et e e e e e e eaaaraeeaeaen s 50
Section 6-203.18 Equal Opportunity REPOITING .....ceeeeiieiiiiiiee et et e e e e e e e e e e aaae e e e e ns 50
Section 6-203.19 Examination and Retention of RECOIAS .........cccuiiiiiiieiciiiie e 50
Section 6-203.20 Price Reduction for Defective Cost or Pricing Data ..........ccueeeeeieeeiiieeeiiieecciee e 51
Section 6-203.21  Price Reduction for Defective Cost or Pricing Data (Modifications) .........ccceeveevevveeervennne 52
Section 6-203.22  INA@MNIFICATION ..ocuuiiiiiiiee et e e e e e e st e e e st e e estaeesnseeeesreeeeennes 53
Section 6-300 L= VoL 00T 1 - o N 54
Section 6-301 FAN oY o] [10r=] o 1111 4 APPSO P PO PRORUPURRUPPINE 54
Section 6-302 Guideline Clauses for SErvice CONTIaCLS ......ccuuieeeiuieeeeiiieeeciee et et e et e e eeare e e eaaee e eaeeaeas 54
Section 6-302.01  DefiNITIONS ..occviiiieiiee ettt e e e e e et e e e et e e e e eatae e e bt e e e etbeeeeaaeeeeateeeeaareeseeenees 54
Section 6-302.02  INdePeNdENt CONTIACTON . .cccuiiiiciiie e cieee ettt e e et e et e e et e e e e tre e e eareeeesabeeeeareeesanneas 55
Section 6-302.03  CompPOSition Of CONTIACTON......ccciiiiiiie et e e e e st e e e ate e e enneas 55
Section 6-302.04  Subcontractors and Outside CONSUITANTS ......ccccueieiiiieieiiiieeciee e rree e e e sae e 55
Yot [ o T 10 0L T @ o F=1 gV YRS 55
Y =Tord Lo N T 0 AN 0L T =T o 1 =1 [ o 55
SECHION B6-302.07  DiSPULES .eiiiiiiiiiiieieieeee et e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e s e s e s e s e s e ——a———e i aann 56
Section 6-302.08 Drawings and Other Data........c.uueiieiiieiiiiiiie e e et e e e e et e e e e e e e aaaaeeeeeeas 56
Section 6-302.09  Standards Of PErfOrMaNCE........cccuuiiiiiiie ettt et e et eae e e e st e e e ata e e eaneas 56
Section 6-302.10 ComMPlIANCE WIth LAW .....ueieeiiiiiiciiie ettt et ettt e e e et e e e etre e eeaaeeesanaeeesateeesnnnes 57
Section 6-302.11 Payment of Interest on Contractor's Claims .........cocuieeeiiiiie e 57
Section 6-302.12  SUSPENSION OF WOTK....cuuvieeiiiieeeieie et eestee ettt e et e e e st e e e sate e e snaeeeetaeeeessaeeesnsaeeessseeennnnnes 57
Section 6-302.13  Interest of PUBIIC OffiCials ...ccccuviieeeieecee et 57
Section 6-302.14  EQUAl OPPOITUNILY ..eoitiiiiieiieeeieeste ettt ettt sttt e e sb e bt e st e e sbeesneeesneeeaaee 57
Section 6-302.15  GOVEINING LAW ..ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee e 58
Section 6-302.16  Order Of PrECEAEBNCE .......oeecuiiieeieee ettt ettt e e e e et e e et e e e etbeeeeaaeeesbaeeeeabeeesannnes 58
Section 6-302.17 Federal, State and LOCAl TAXES ...uueeiiiiiiiuiiiiieeeeeiiitereee ettt e e e e e eeebrre e e e e e e sabbaaeeee s 58
Section 6-303 Clauses to Be Used When AppliCable.......cuuei et 58
Section 6-303.01  OpPtion tO EXLENGA SEIVICES ...uvviiieeeiieeiiiieeeiiee et e e e etee e et e e e eeae e e ae e e esree e enaaeesnsaeeenssaeesnnnns 58
Section 6-303.02  Option tO EXEENG TEIM c.eeiiiiiiiiieeiie e ettt e st e b e e sanes 58
Section 6-303.03  NOTICE Of LabOr DiSPULES.......uiiiiiiiiieiieei ettt sttt e b e s 58
Section 6-303.04 Insurance - Work on ATP INStallation .........ooiioiiiiiiie e 59
SeCtion 6-303.05  INSPECLION c.cieiiiiiiiiiee e ——————————————— 59
Section 6-303.06 Interest on Contractor INdebtedNESS ......cc.viiiiiiiei i 59
Section 6-303.07  Protection Of ATP PrOPEITY .....ccccuieeiiiie ettt ettt etee e et e e e eare e e eaae e e sabae e eearneeenneas 59
SECtion 6-303.08  ATP PrOPEITY ..vuiieiiiiiciiiiieeeeeiiiee e e e e eerte et e e e se s estareeeeeeessstaeeeeeesassssseeeeeesassssteeeeessenssaseeessanens 59
Section 6-303.09  LiqUidated Dam@gES. ....cccueerurierueiriiieniieeiee et e ettt et e sie et e et e st e et e sbt e et st e e sneenneeenaee e 60
Section 6-303.10  WaArranty Of SEIVICES ...cccueiiiiiiiiieiiieeieeie ettt ettt sttt e sbe e e st e e saneesneeesaeesanes 60
Section 6-303.11  EXCUSADIE DRIAY ..ottt e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e ta e e e e e e e nrraeaaaaaans 60
Section 6-303.12  PUDBICItY REIEASES .....uuviiiieiiecieieee ettt e e e e e e e et e e e e e s e eaaebe e e e e e seataaeeaaeeaans 61
Section 6-303.13  Equal Opportunity REPOITING ..cccuveeeiiiieeeiiee et ettt e et e e et e e eare e e streeeeaaeeeenneas 61
Section 6-303.14  Examination and Retention of RECOIS ........ccoiiiiiiiiieie ettt 61
Section 6-303.15  INAeMNITICAtION ...uviiiiiiieeee e e s e e e et e e et e e enre e e e ereeennnnes 61
Section 6-303.16  LiVING WA RAtES....uuuiiiiiii ittt e ettt e e et e e e e s et e e e e e sensateeaeeesensnaneeaaaesens 61
Section 6-400 CoNStruCtion CONTraCtS....ccceiiiiieiiiiieeiiiiineiinitnessinienessiienessssansssssssnssssssensssssssnnnsss 62
Section 6-401 APPHCADIIEY et e 62
Section 6-402 Recommended Clauses for Construction CoNtracts.........cccueeeeeveieeiiieeeciiieeeecieeeeeiee e 62
Section 6-402.01  DefiNITIONS ..c.vviiieiiee et e e e e et e e e ae e e e eae e e e tb e e e eareeeetaeeeebaeeaeeeanes 62
Section 6-402.02  Site Investigation and Conditions Affecting the Work..........ccccveiviiieiii e 62

[viii]




Section 6-402.03
Section 6-402.04
Section 6-402.05
Section 6-402.06
Section 6-402.07
Section 6-402.08
Section 6-402.09
Section 6-402.10
Section 6-402.11
Section 6-402.12
Section 6-402.13
Section 6-402.14
Section 6-402.15
Section 6-402.16
Section 6-402.17
Section 6-402.18
Section 6-402.19
Section 6-402.20
Section 6-402.21
Section 6-402.22
Section 6-402.23
Section 6-402.24
Section 6-402.25
Section 6-402.26
Section 6-402.27
Section 6-402.28
Section 6-402.29
Section 6-402.30
Section 6-402.31
Section 6-402.32

Section 6-403

Section 6-403.01
Section 6-403.02
Section 6-403.03
Section 6-403.04
Section 6-403.05
Section 6-403.06
Section 6-403.07
Section 6-403.08
Section 6-403.09
Section 6-403.10
Section 6-403.11
Section 6-403.12
Section 6-403.13
Section 6-403.14
Section 6-403.15
Section 6-403.16
Section 6-403.18
Section 6-403.19
Section 6-403.20
Section 6-403.21
Section 6-403.22

Differing Sit€ CONAITIONS......ccciie et et e e e et e e et e e e naeeesnaeeeenan 63

Permits and ReSPONSIDIlities. .....coueiiiiiiiieiece e 63
SPecifications @aNd DIraWIiNGS . ....c.eeriieriieiiierie ettt sare e bt saeesans 64
(040 1T o] o 1 - £SO RPRROU PP 65
Protection of Existing Site CONAItiONS .......coecviiieiiiie et e 65
OpPerations aNd SEOrAZE ATEaS.......cccuuieeeiiiieeciiee e ettt eeeeette e e etee e e eteeeeeteeesetbeeessreeesnaaeesareeens 66
Superintendence by CONTrACLON .......oiuiiiiiiee e e e tre e e 66
Variation in Estimated QUantity ......cooceoriienieiiie e 66
Material and Workmanship.....c..ee e 67
SUSPENSION OF WOTK.c..eeeiieiiitie ettt sttt sat e s e e b s beesaeee 67
Use and Possession Prior t0 COMPIEtioN.......cceeviiiiiieniieeeenieeeeete e 67
INSPECtion Of CONSTIUCTION ...cc.uviiiiiiiee et ettt eaae e e eaaeaean 68
Warranty of CONSEIUCTION.......ciiiiiee et e et e et e e eata e e e s abe e e eenreeeeannas 69
(00T o T= =TSSP RUPRPP 71
Termination for CONVENIENCE .......iiiii ittt sbe e 72
Default and Termination fOr CAUSE .....oouiiriiiiiiiieceeeee et 73
ATP’s Right to Carry Out the WOrK ........ooiiieieiiieee e 74
NO Damages fOr DEIAY ....cciuieiiieiiieie ettt st sae e n 74
DS PULES ettt —————————————————— 75
1Y 0 =T o1 £ TTPPPPR 75
ROYAItIES AN PATENTS ..iiiiiiiiciiiie ettt e et e e e tr e e be e e e ab e e e enseeesaraeeeanan 76
Federal, State, aNd LOCAI TAXES ....vviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee ettt ettt et et e e ettt e e e e e e e s e s e s s 77
F N1 =4 0 4 =T o PR PPRRURN 77
EQUAl OPPOITUNILY coneeeetie ettt ettt ettt st ae e s bttt e st e saeeebeeenee e s 77
Interest of PUBIIC OffiCials ....oeeeeiiiiiiie e e e e 77
Prevailing Wage RAteS ... ...ttt e e e e ettt b e e e e e e tbae e e e e e e snnraneans 77
Additional BoONd SECUIILY .....uuuiiiiieee et et e e e e e e e e e e ebrae e e e e eesnnnes 77
(0] e [T ol Yol T [T o ol ISP 77
(CToXYZ=T a1 T - 1V PP PP PP PP PPPPPPPPPPPPPRt 77
Drug-Free Workplace Programi.......c.eeciciieeeciie et ette e stee et e e e e st e e e e snaaeesnnaee s 77
Clauses to Be Used When Applicable...........eeeeeiriiiiiieeecccciiiirrreeeecccereeeeeennneeens 78
Pricing Of AJUSTMENTS ...oouiiiiii it 78
NOtICE Of LAabOr DISPULES ....veeeiieiieeiteerite ettt ettt sttt e saeeenee s 78
Interest on Contractor INAdebtedNess .......coviiiiiiiiii e 78
Protection Of ATP PrOPEITY ....ooceceiie ettt ettt e e e et e et e e et e e e etae e eenneas 78
FN I o o T=T o YRR PPPPPPPRPRPON 78
TItle 1O SUDMILLAIS c.uveiiiieie et re e s ae et e ebaeenbee s 78
CONSEIUCLION SCREAUIE. .. .coiitieiiiiiit et sttt st saae b en 79
Examination of Bid DOCUMENTS .......uiiieiiieeciiie ettt stee et e e e e e st e e e snaneesnnneeeens 79
Commencement and Completion Of WOrk.........ceeeeeriieniiiieneeeeeeeee e 80
Liquidated Damages — CONSTIUCTION........ccuuiiiee ettt et e e e e 80
TIME EXEENSIONS ..ttt ettt e e e sttt e e e e e sttt e e e e s e anreeeeeaaens 80
Insurance —Work on ATP INStallation ......oceeeceeiiieiiie e 81
Identification of ATP-FUrnished Property......cccccocueeeeiiiie it e 81
ATP Property FUrNISNE “AS IS” ......oi i eeiee ettt et e e e svee e st e e enae e e snaeeeesaeeeennes 81
(@<= o1 = U o R PR 82
ACCIAENT PrEVENTION Loiiiiiie ettt e s e e s e e sae e e stae e e easeeesnsaeeesnseeeesnteeesnnnnns 82
PUBIICITY REIEASES ..ttt sttt sbe e b sabeesanaee s 83
Equal Opportunity REPOITING ....eeviiieee ettt e et e e e e et e e e e e e e e anraeeeas 83
Examination and Retention 0f RECOIAS .....iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 83
[TaYe 1= 4o o T3 Tor= Y o o HOU USSR 83
LTV g oY Col=IE oY 4 =1 s o SRSt 84

[ix]




Section 6-500 — Architect-Engineer Contracts.....ccccccerereirrrrenicnnenennns

Section 6-501 ApPPlicability..c.eeiceeeeecieeece e
Section 6-502 Guideline Clauses for Architect-Engineer Contracts.....
Section 6-502.01  DefinitioNs ..ccccuveeeeciie i
Section 6-502.02 Responsibility of the Architect-Engineer......................
Section 6-502.03 Composition of Architect-Engineer.........ccccceeeeveeennes
Section 6-502.04  Subcontractors and Outside Consultants............ccc.c....
Section 6-502.05 ChaNnges ......ccccvieeeiiie et eee e e e e
Section 6-502.06  Termination ......ccoocveeeriiieeiiiee e e
Section 6-502.07  DiSPULES ...eeviiiiieiiiiie et
Section 6-502.08  Drawings and Other Data
Section 6-502.09  Notice and Approval of Restricted Designs.................
Section 6-502.10  Registration of Designers.........ccccveeeeeiieeecieeeecree e
Section 6-502.11  Payment of Interest on Claims .........cccceeeviveeeccieecenns
Section 6-502.12  Suspension of Work........cccccveeeeiiiiiiiee e
Section 6-502.13  Equal OppOortunity .....cccceeeecveeeeeieee e e e
Section 6-502.14  Interest of Public Officials........cccovueriiiiniiniiiiiieiins
Section 6-502.15  GOVErniNg LaW ...ccccveiiiiieiiiiiieiiiee e
Section 6-503 Clauses to Be Used When Applicable..........ccccuuneeeenn.
Section 6-503.01  INSUFANCE ...uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiee et e e e
Section 6-503.02  Construction Contract Administration & Support.......
Section 6-503.03  Equal Opportunity Reporting ........ccccceeeeevcveeeecieeeeenne
Section 6-600  Cost Reimbursement and Special Contract Clauses
Section 6-601  Applicability ......cceeeeeieieeiie e
Section 6-602  Allowable Cost and Payment.......ccccceeevcieeeiiieeeeciee e
Section 6-603  FIXEA FEE...uiiiiiiiie ettt e e
Section 6-604 INCENTIVE FEE....oiiiiiiiiieee e
Section 6-605 Cost Contract - NO Fee....uuuiiiieiiiiiieeeeeeeee e
Section 6-606  Predetermined Indirect Cost Rates .......ccccocvvevcveerveennnennn
Section 6-607  Limitation of Liability .......ccccceoevveeeiiiiiiiee e,
Section 6-608  Limitation of COStS.....ccvviiriiiriiiiie et
Section 6-609  Payment for Overtime Premiums..........cccceeevveeeeniieeenennns
Section 6-610  Availability of FUNAS......ccoviiiiiiiiiiiieece e
Section 6-611  Property Of ATP......oocii it
Section 6-612 Inspection of SUPPHES......coeevviiiecieieeeeeeee e,
Section 6-613 Inspection of SErvices ......ccccovviivciiee e
Section 6-614  Termination .......ccoooeiiiieei i e
Section 6-615  Excusable Delays......ccccevuueeeeciiiececiiie e
Section 6-616  Equal Opportunity Reporting......ccccccvveeeeeeeeiciieeesciieeeens
Section 6-617  Examination and Retention of Records ........ccccceevvvvennnnne
CHAPTER 7 - COST PRINCIPLES .....ccotuteriereianrecennacennannans
Section 7-101 DefiNItiONS . .ouvieeii et
Section 7-102 Applicability of Cost Principles........ccccevceerieennieeneenne
Section 7-103 Allowable COStS......uviiiiiiiriii e
Section 7-104 Reasonable CoStS ......couiiiiiiiiiiec e
Section 7-105 AlloCable COSES ..evviiiiieiiieiiierie e
Section 7-106 Treatment of Specific COStS .....ccvvieeriiieeiieeecciiee e,
Section 7-106.01  AdVErtiSiNG .....cueeeeiieieiiee e
Section 7-106.02  Bad DeBS....c.eeviiiiiiiiiiiieeriieseeee e
Section 7-106.03  CONTINGENCIES....ceieiiiiiriiieiiiiee et e
Section 7-106.04 Depreciation and Use Allowances.......ccccccevcveeeeeeeeennee.

[x]




Section 7-106.05
Section 7-106.06
Section 7-106.07
Section 7-106.08
Section 7-106.09
Section 7-106.10
Section 7-106.11
Section 7-107
Section 7-107.01
Section 7-107.02
Section 7-107.03
Section 7-107.04
Section 7-108
Section 7-109
Section 7-110
Section 7-111

[ a1l = [T g =T oL PSP PPPRPPNE 118
FINES AN PENAITIES ...t e e e e e e e s tba e e e e e e esarreneees 118
Gifts, Contributions, and DONAtIONS ......cccuuviiiieeiiciieeeeeee e e 118
INEEIEST COSTS . uiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiie ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e e e s e s e s e s e ananan aeean 118
Losses Incurred Under Other CONtracts ......uueeeeieeiiiiiiiee et e e e 119
IMATEIIAL COSES. . uuriieiiiie e et ettt e et e et e e et e e e e tb e e e etaeeesabeeeeasbeeesssseessreeeansaesennseeaeas 119
LI U OSSP 120
Costs Requiring Prior APProVal .......ccueeeecciiie e cieeeeteeeere e ee e e e esaae e snaeeessaeeennes 120
| =R 6o T o 11 - [ 60 1] £ P PP PP TP PP U 121
Bid @Nd Proposal COSES ....ciuutiuiiiiiieiee ittt ettt sttt et st 121
LT U ] = 1 ol = PR 121
LITIGATION COSTS weiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie et 121
F Y oY o] [Tor: ] o] [ @17 =Yo L1 4RSS SROPUSRRROE 121
AdVANCE AGIEEMENTS ...ueiiiiiiiieiieee ettt eeete e e et te e e esbeeeestteeesaaaeeestseeeetseeessseeesaseseeasseeennnsnns 122
Use of Federal Cost PrinCiPIES......iiiuiee e eiee ettt e e e e e e e e e e nneas 122
ATP to Deviate from Cost PrinCiples ....cccueiiiiieee ettt e 122

CHAPTER 8 - CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION......cccortuuririmnniiinnnrinnninennninnenneineens. 123

Section 8-101

Section 8-200
Section 8-201
Section 8-202
Section 8-203
Section 8-204
Section 8-205
Section 8-206
Section 8-207

Section 8-300
Section 8-301
Section 8-302
Section 8-303
Section 8-304
Section 8-305
Section 8-306
Section 8-307

Section 8-400
Section 8-401
Section 8-401.01
Section 8-402
Section 8-403
Section 8-404
Section 8-405
Section 8-406
Section 8-407
Section 8-408
Section 8-408.01
Section 8-408.02
Section 8-408.03
Section 8-408.04
Section 8-408.05
Section 8-408.06

LCT=T 0 1=T - | ST PRO P UPRRRR 123
Post Award Orientations ...........eeeeereeenmeemeseeessmmssesssssssesssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssses 125
Yole] oLl o] AT <Tot i o] o HN RSO PUP TR PPPPPTP 125
[T T=T - SRR 125
Selecting Contracts for Post Award Orientation...........cecoeiuiieeeiiiiiiiiie e 125
Post award Conference ArrangemMENTS........eecccuieeeecieeeecieeeeeteeeeete e et e e e etreeeeeareeeeaaeeeeareeeas 126
Post award ConferenCe ProCEAUIE.......cuuiiiiieie ettt sttt ettt sbe e sbe b e ssaaesaee e 126
Post award CONfErenCe REPOI ..cccuiiiiieriie ittt ettt et sbeesbee s nbaesbee e 126
POST AWAT LETEEIS ..cutiiiiieeiiee ittt ettt ettt st e st e e be e s beesabe e s saneens 126
Contract Modifications......cccuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinrerrrereeesseeseeesseeseesssesseeeen 127
(D13 T 0 o o L3RS 127
POIICY ettt ettt e sh b e e bt e e bt e e ane e s ateennete e bt e eneena 127
Types of Contract ModifiCatioNS.........ccocuiiiieiiiii e e et eare e e 127
(010 Y Y=L O 1o L= P URO PSR 128
EQUITAbIE AJUSTMENTS ..occeiiiiiciiee et e e et e et e e et e e e eaaeeesraae e ean 129
(0= oo ] o £ P PP PP P PP PP PP PP PP PP PP PPPPPPP 130
F O IS et e e e e e e s et e e e s e e e e e e e e e nnneeeeas 130
Property Administration .........ccceeeeeeciiiiiiiciieecciieserreeneeecseseeseeennesssesssseseennnnnnens 131
SCOPE OF SECLION ....eiitiieiieette ettt ettt et e sae e e saeeebee s eneenane 131
Simplified Property Management ProCeAUIeS .........ccocviieieeiniieeiieenieesieesiee e 131
(D13 1T VAT o [T PRRSP 131
POlICY GUIAEIINE . e e e et e e e e e et ra e e e e e e e s aarasbrereeeean 132
Responsibility and Liability for ATP Property........ccceeeeiiieeeiiiiie e e et e 133
Review and Correction of Contractor's Property Control Systems.........ccceeeveeeecveeernnenn. 133
RECOIAS Of ATP PrOPEITY cooivvieeeciiie e et e citeeee sttt e ettee e sttt e e et e e e ssaaeeessseeeesteeesnnaaaesnsaeannnnnns 134
ATP Property ClaUSES ......eeiueieieenieeeieesitt et e sttt ettt si e sttt esite e sbt e e bt e sabeesaneesbeeenneesenne 134
Contractor Management Of ATP Property ......cccooceerieerieeniienieniee e 134
SCOPE OF SECHION ..t ettt e ettt e e et e e e et e e e e aae e eeaaeeesabeee e ns 134
Contractor ReSPONSIDIlILY ....ueeeeeiieiiiiee e e 134
Discrepancies Incident to ShIPMENT.........oioiiii it 135
Relief from ReSpONSIDIliTY......c..eeiiiiiieeei e e 136
Contractor's LIability......cceccuiee it e e nnnes 136
Records and Reports Of ATP Property .....cooueeiueerieeniee ettt 137

[xi]




Section 8-408.07

BaSiC INFOrMAtioN ..occceeiiiieeiee e e e e e e e baae e e e e e eeanraaeees 137

Section 8-408.08 ReCOrds Of Material......c.ueeeicuieeieiiie et e et e e et e e ssaeeesnbaeeennen 138
Section 8-408.09 Records of Special Tooling and Special Test EQUIPMENTt ......ccueriiiiiienieenieeeeree e 138
Section 8-408.10 Records of Related Data and INfOrmation.........cceecueeiiieciieciiieceece e 139
Section 8-408.11 Records of Completed ProdUCES........c..eeieiuiiiieiie ettt eeeaae e e e e eavee e 139
Section 8-408.12 Records of Property Returned for REWOIK ........c.ueiiiiiiiiiiiiieecee e 139
Section 8-408.13  1deNtIfICAtION .iiiuiiiiiiiiiieeie et ae e ab e e s ne s 140
Section 8-408.14  Segregation Of ATP PrOPEITY ...uiicciieiiieeeeiiee ettt e e ssteeeesttee e esae e e s aeeeassreeeesnseeesnaeeesnseeennes 140
Section 8-408.15  PhySiCal INVENTOIIES ....cc.uiieeiiiie ettt e e et e e e eaa e e e st e e e esteeesnsaeeesaneeeennnn 140
Section 8-408. 16 Inventories Upon Termination or ComMpletion.........ccocueevieiiiienieenieenieeeceeesee e 140
Section 8-408.17 Reporting Results Of INVENTOIIES ......cccueiiiiiiiieiiieeeec e 140
Section 8-408.18 Care, MaintenanCe, aNd USE ......ocveieiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et 141
Section 8-408.19 Contractor's MaintenanCe Program ........cccuiieeiiiieiiieeeeciieeeeieeeesireeeeteeeeesaeeesareeesssreeeenns 141
Section 8-408.20  USE Of ATP PrOPEITY ..cccuuiieeciiieeciiee ettt e e ettt e ettt ae e st eeestte e e sataeestaeeesbseseesseeesaseseessreeesnns 142
Section 8-408.21 Property in Possession of SUDCONTIACLOrS......cccuuiiiiiieeeeciieeeetee e 142
Section 8-408.22  Audit of Property CONtrol SYSTEM ........ceeiiiiiiiciie e e e e e e e aee e 142
Section 8-409 Contractor INVENtOry ProCEAUIES .......ccutiiiieeiiieit ettt 142
Section 8-409.01  SCOPE OFf SECLION ....uiiiuiiieiieiiee ettt ettt ettt e st b et e saee st e e sanee e s 142
Section 8-409.02  DEfiNItIONS c..veiiiieeiieiiiesie ettt et e et e e s e st e et e st e e rae e baeebee s teeenaeenbae e naaaens 143
Section 8-409.03  DisP0oSal MELNOUS .......uiiiiiiiiiiee e e e e e e e e e e st e e e e e e seeaaraeeeaeeeans 144
Section 8-409.04 Restrictions on Purchase or Retention of Contractor Inventory .........cccccceeeeeieeeccnee e, 144
Section 8-410 (OfeT Y 4= Tot o] 27 Yol [0 1 =Tl ad o o =] o Y SRR 144
Section 8-410.01 Purchase or Retention @t COSt.....ciuiiiiiiiiiiiieiiie ettt sbaesnee e 144
Section 8-410.02  RetUIN £0 SUPPIIEIS . .cuuiieiieiiieeteeeitt ettt ettt st sar e e sbe e e sae e st e e saneen s 145
Section 8-410.03  Cost-Reimbursement CONTIACES ......ciccvieeiiiieeeriiee et ee st e eeee et ee e e e e eaeeeeseaeeeens 145
Section 8-411 INVENTOrY SCREAUIES .....vieieeeieeeeeee e e e e e e e e e st rae e e e e e esarennnes 145
SeCtion 8-411.01  SUDMISSION eiiuiiiiiiiiiie ittt et e e ettt s et e e sttt e e s e be e e sateeesabeeeesabeeessasaeeesabeaeaanns 145
Section 8-411.02  COMMON IEEIMS ...ttt e ettt e e e s e e e e e st e e e e e s e sanbeeeeeeesennnnneeeeeenans 145
SECHION B-411.03  ACCEPTANCE cottiiiiiiiieieiiteteee e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e sese s s s s s s s st eans 145
Section 8-411.04  WiItharaWals ...c.eeeeiiiiieeieee et sttt st e st e e be e e sae e sabeesane e s 146
Section 8-412 Y = F PSP UPPPN 146
Section 8-413 Screening of CoNtractor INVENTOIY .......ciiiiiiiieiieeeiee ettt 146
Section 8-414 Destruction or ADANAONMENT ..ccciuiiiiiiiie et e e s raaee s 146
Section 8-415 REMOVAl @NA SEOTAZE . .vvviieiieeceeeee e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s erbaeeeeeeesanrennnes 147
SECHION 8-415.01  GENEIAI ceuiiiiiiiiiieiie ittt ettt ettt e st e s te e sttt e sbaeeabeesateessaeessaeenbeesabeessseenseessnbeenns 147
Section 8-415.02 Special Storage at Contractor's RiSK ........cccuiieiiiiiiiiiiee e e 147
Section 8-415.03  Special Storage at ATP'S EXPENSE ..uviicuieeeiiiieeeiieeeitee e steee ettt e e saee e e saveeeesasaeeennsaeesnseeeans 147
Section 8-416 Property Disposal Determinations.........ceicuieeeeciiee i eceie et eeee e st e et e e eeere e e aee e e saaeeeeans 148
Section 8-417 SUDCONTIACLON INVENTONY .ottt saee e e 148
Section 8-418 Accounting for Contractor INVENTOIY ........eocuiiiiiieiiieee e 148
Section 8-500  QUAlILY ASSUIANCE ...cceuuuirreeneiireenniereenseiereanseereennseseensseessenssessssnssssssnnssesssnnsssssens 148
Section 8-501 SCOPE OF SECLION ..ttt e ettt e e et e e et e e e etee e eeaaeeeseaseeeeesreveeeennes 148
Section 8-502 (D1 T VAT o [PPSR 149
Section 8-503 (CTU1 e 1= 110 TSSOSO 149
Section 8-504 Contracting Officer Responsibilities.......cuuviiiieeiicie e 150
Section 8-505 Contractor ReSPONSIDIlItIES......uiieciiie i e e sraee s 151
Section 8-506 Contract Quality REQUIFEMENTS ....ceiueiiiiiiiieiiit et 152
Section 8-506.01 Types of Contract Quality REQUIr€MENTS .......covviieiiiiiiiiiiie e 152
Section 8-506.02 Reliance on Inspection by CONtractor .........cooicciiiiiii e e e 152
Section 8-506.03 Standard INSPEction REQUIFEMENTS ........ccccviiiiiiiiie e et eee e et e e e etae e e sre e e e eaveeeenns 153
Section 8-506.04 Higher-Level Contract Quality REQUIr€MENTS........ccccuviieiiiiiieeeiiee et 153
Section 8-506.05 Criteria for Use of Contract Quality ReqUIremMents ........coceeerierieeniieeniieenieeeesree e 153

[xii]




Section 8-507

ATP Contract QUAlity ASSUIANCE ...oevueeriiiriieiitie ettt ettt ettt saeeenees 154

Section 8-507.01  Quality ASSUIANCE At SOUICE ...coutiiiiiriieriteerite ettt ettt sttt ettt et e sabeesane e 154
Section 8-507.02  Quality Assurance at DesStination .......c..coouieeiieriiiniei e 155
Section 8-507.03 Quality Assurance of SMall PUIrCNaSseS.......c.uiiieiiiiiiiiiee et 155
Section 8-507.04  SUDCONTIACES . .iiiiiiiiiiiiiee et e e e et e e e e e et e e e e e e e esabaeeeeeseesaabaeseeeesesaaaeaaaeaaens 156
Section 8-507.05 Nonconforming SUPPIES OF SEIVICES......ccccuiiiieiiie ettt e e e etae e e e e e eaveeeeans 156
Section 8-508 F Yo o= T o] -] o [0l PP PPRRRRPPRPRS 158
Section 8-508.01 Responsibility FOr ACCEPLANCE .....uvviiiiiee et e e e sere e e rae e e e eaeeeenes 158
Section 8-508.02  Place Of ACCEPLANCE ..eccuviieeeiiieeeiiie ettt e ettt e e ee e s e e e ste e e seataeessaeeeasseeeaseeeesnsaeeessseeennns 158
Section 8-508.03  Certificate of CONFOIMANCE ....cciiiiiiiiie e e srae e s e e enes 158
Section 8-508.04 Transfer of Title aNd RiSK Of LOSS .....cccuiiiiiiiiieiiiie et eee e e e saaee e 159
Section 8-600  Warranti@S.....civeuuiiiieuiiiiieniiiienniiiiesiiiiesssiiesssssimesssssrsssssssssssssssssssssssssnssssssans 159
SeCtion 8-601  DEfINITIONS ...ueiiiiiiiieeeiie ettt e ettt e e et e e e ettt e e e e bt e e eeateeeeaaseeeeetseeeesaeeeeseaeaeeesseeeanns 159
SECHION 8-602  GENEIAI .uuiiiieiieeciiee ettt e e e et e e e e ta e e e e abe e e e tbeeeesaaeeabaeeeataeeeanraeeeaabaaeseearraeeanns 159
Section 8-603  Criteria for Use of Warranties ........ccuiiiiiiee ittt et e e e st e e e et e e eeaaeeeseareeeenen 160
SeCtion 8-604  LIMITAtioNS ..cuuuiiiieiiiiiieiiee et s e e e e e st e e e e e s sttt e e e e e e ssnbereeeeeeanrrennraaaeeeaan 161
Section 8-605  Warranty Terms and CONAItioNS.......uuiiiiuiieeiiiiriecieee e ciee et e e see e e se e e s saeee e snaeeeensreeeenes 161
Section 8-606  Warranties of COmMMErcial [tEMIS.....uuii i e s e e e eaeeeenes 164
Section 8-607  CONTIACE ClAUSES ..eeiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e e ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e e s abr e s e e e e eesaarbeseeeeeesssaeeeeeesnsbaneeaneaaean 164
Section 8-700  Termination Of CONtracts .......ccceeeeiiiiiiiiiiiemeniiiiiiiireennseisserreenneessssssssssesnnesssnns 164
Section 8-701 SCOPE OF SECLION ...ttt et e ettt e e et e e et e e e ebe e e eetbeeeeasaeeessnreeaans 164
Section 8-702 [DL=] {10 T 4T o [P PPPRR 165
Section 8-703 F YT o1 [ToF: o111 4V 2RSS 165
Section 8-704 Termination Procedures and SettIemMENts ......ccccvvieeiiiricciie e 166
Section 8-704.01 Authorities and ResponSibilities ........ccueieciiiieciie e 166
Section 8-704.02  NOtICE Of TEIMINGTION ...uviiiiiiie it e e et e e e aeee e snaeeessteeeenes 167
Section 8-704.03  Methods Of SELHIEMENT ........viiiiiii e et e e e e e baeeeans 168
Section 8-704.04 Contracting Officer's Duties After NOtICE .......ccccuiiieiiieie e 168
Section 8-704.05 Cleanup of CONSEIUCTION SItE....cccuiiiiiiiieeciiee et e et e st etae e e e treeeenes 170
Section 8-704.06 Settlement of SUDCONtract PropoSals.......ccviiieiiiiiiiiiie et 170
Section 8-704.07  SettlemMeNnt AGrEEMENTS ...ccccuuiiiiiiiee et e ecee e eeee e e et e e ettt eeetae e e sbeeeessteeeesssaeesnaeeeanseeennnes 170
Section 8-704.08  Partial PaymMents........cccciieeiiiiieeciiieceieee sttt e e re e e e e et e e et e e e aaa e e sbaeeeetaeeeennaeeennreaeanaas 173
Section 8-704.09  FIiNal PAYMENT.....ciiiiiiieieeiit ettt ettt ettt ettt st e et esb e e e sneesabeesneee s 174
Section 8-704.10  COSE PrINCIPIES ....eeueieiiieeieeit ettt ettt st et e bt e beesateesannee s 175
Section 8-705 Convenience Termination of Fixed-Price CONtracts........cccceeeeeeeeeeiiireeiieee e eeiie e 175
SECHION 8-705.01  PrOfit.uueiiiiiieeciiie ettt et e e e et e e e e ta e e e s tbe e e e s abeeeeaseeeeaaeeeatbeeearaeeeabaaeeeesreeeanns 175
Section 8-705.02  AdJUSTMENT fOI LOSS...ciiuuiiiiiiiieeiiiie ettt ettt e ettt e e ette e e st e e e e treeseabeeeestreeeesseeeesaeeesreeeennen 177
Section 8-706 Termination fOr DEfAUIL ........eei e ee e e s eaee e e 177
SeCtion 8-706.01  ATP'S RIZNT..cciciiiieiii et e e e e e e st e e e et e e e e et e e e saaeeeessteeeesseeesnseeeansreseennns 177
Section 8-706.02  Effect of Termination for Default ..........ooociiieeeiie e e 177
Section 8-706.03  Procedure for DEfAUIt........ccuiii it e e e e e e e e e 179
Section 8-706.04  Procedure in Lieu of Termination for Default..........cccoooiiiiiieiiiiicie e 181
Section 8-706.05 Documentation of TErmMiNatioN.........ccceeeiiiiiieiiiii ettt 181
Section 8-706.06 Repurchase Against CoNtractor's ACCOUNT ......cccuiiiccuieeeiiiie et cee e etree et e e eaae e e sree e 181
Section 8-706.07  Other DAmMagES. ......uviiiieeieeciieeeeiee e et e e ettt e e e e e e e ete e e e tbeeeesateeesaasaeesbaeeeatseeeansaeeessreeaanns 182
Section 8-706.08 Cost-Reimbursement CONTIACS .......cccveeiiiieeeiiiie et e re e e ere e sree e e sate e e eneaeesnaeeeens 182
Section 8-706.09  Surety-Takeover AGIrEEMENTS ......ciiuiiriiiiieerie ettt ettt sttt e s eesbe e e sbeesnee e 183
Section 8-706.10 Completion by Another CONtractor........ocuieiiiiiiieiii e 184
Section 8-706.11  Liquidation Of LIability .......cccuuiiieiiie ettt 184
CHAPTER 9 - SUPPLY MANAGEMENT .....cciiiiiiireiieiienienientestestescescescenssnssansans 185

[xiii]




Section 9-100
Section 9-101
Section 9-102
Section 9-103
Section 9-104

Section 9-200
Section 9-201
Section 9-202
Section 9-203
Section 9-204
Section 9-205
Section 9-206

GeNEral ProViSIONS ...c.iiiieeeiiiiineniiiiineniiiieeniiieeeiirienssisseensssssssssssssensssssssnsssssssnnes 185
DefinNitioNS OF TEIMS ...eiiiieeiie ettt st st e st st e e bt e ebeesnbee s 185
PUIPOSE ...t e s et e e e e s 185
INVeNtory Management.... ... 185
Warehousing anNd STOFAZE .....c.uuuiiiiie et e e et e e e e e e et e e e e e e e eetraaeaeeeeans 185
SUIPIUS SUPPLIES ceeveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeniieereassiseesttessassssssssssseesssssssssssssssssnns 185
[DTEY o Yo 1] Ao o [P PP PP PP P PP PP PPPPPPPN 185
Competitive Sealed BiddiNg........cccuiiiiiiieeiiiee ettt e e e e e e e e srae e e etaeeeennnes 186
AAUCTIONS Lttt ettt sttt e ettt e st e e e e st et e s b e e e sabb e e e e st e e e e anbeeesaneeeesabeeesannneesnnneeeeenreeeaans 186
POSTEU PriCES .uveeitieeiieeitieeite ettt ettt ettt et sttt et e et e st e st e e sbe e s baesabeesabeesaeesnbebeenneeeas 186
LI Lo 1 o PSRRI 186
0T Y=Y o L3PPSR 187

[xiv]




PROCUREMENT
POLICY




CHAPTER 1 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 1-100 - Purpose and Scope

Section 1-101 Authority and Purpose

(1)

(2)

Austin Transit Partnership (“ATP”) is a Local Government corporation (LGC) created under
the Texas Transportation Corporation Act, Chapter 431, and Chapter 394 of the Texas
Local Government Code to aid and act on behalf of the City of Austin (the "City") and
Capital Metropolitan Transportation Authority ("CapMetro"). ATP has the authority to
finance, design, engineer, construct, implement, and contract to operate and maintain
Project Connect.

ATP is responsible for complying with the applicable requirements and standards of
Chapter 451 of the Texas Transportation Code, Chapters 2254 and 2269 of the Texas
Government Code, as well as, when using federal assistance to finance a Procurement, 2
C.F.R. Part 200 (as adopted by the U.S. Department of Transportation in 2 C.F.R. Part
1201), the terms of the Federal Transit Administration ("FTA") Master Agreement and any
underlying FTA funding agreement, FTA Circular 4220.1 and other applicable federal
statutory and regulatory requirements, in each case as in effect on the applicable date
("Federal Requirements").

Project Connect is a comprehensive transit plan for Austin that included a new rail system,
a downtown transit tunnel, and expanded bus system , and a transition to an all-electric
fleet.

This Procurement Policy (“Policy”) establishes minimum standards, procedures and
guidelines relating to the Procurement, management, control, and disposal of property,
services, and construction in order to define the terms in and implement the provisions
of Chapter 451 of the Texas Transportation Code and other State law requirements and
Federal Requirements applicable to Project Connect, and to:

(a) Provide for public confidence in the integrity, fairness, and accountability of ATP’s
Procurement system.

(b) Ensure the fair and equitable treatment of all persons who deal with the
Procurement system of ATP.

(c) Promote contracting opportunities for all Disadvantaged Business Enterprises
(DBEs), Minority-Owned Business Enterprises (MBEs), and Women-Owned Business
Enterprises (WBEs),and other small businesses both as prime contractors and
subcontractors.




(3)

(d) Foster full and open competition.

(e) Meet the customer’s needs in terms of cost, quality and timeliness of the delivered
product or service.

(f) Promote positive relationships through courtesy and impartiality in all phases of the
Procurement process.

(g) Handle confidential information or proprietary information with proper
consideration of the ethical and legal ramifications of disclosure.

(h) Maintain the integrity of ATP’s Procurement system.
(i) Provide for the timely, impartial resolution of all Procurement issues.

(j) Provide increased efficiency and effectiveness in ATP’s Procurement activities,
thereby exercising good stewardship of public funds and maximizing, to the fullest
extent possible, the purchasing value of those public funds.

This Policy also constitutes delegations of authority to Employees of ATP to assist the
Board in discharging its management responsibilities to aid and act on behalf of CapMetro
under Chapter 451 of the Texas Transportation Code.

These Policies and Guidelines have been approved by ATP’s Board of Directors. The
Procurement Director is responsible for updating and clarifying these Policies and
Guidelines on an as-needed basis. The Procurement Director shall present any
substantive changes to the Procurement Policies and Guidelines set out in Chapters 1-4
(the "Procurement Policies ") to the Board of Directors for review and approval in
accordance with Section 2-301 of this document. The Procurement Director may present
any proposed deviation or waiver to the Procurement Policies for an individual
Procurement to the [Executive Director] for review and approval, which approval may be
given at the discretion of the [Executive Director] in accordance with Chapter 2 of these
Policies and Guidelines, subject to compliance with applicable law and any applicable
Federal Requirements.

Chapters 5-9 to this document contain guidelines (the "Procurement Guidelines") that
and are included to indicate best practices or recommended approaches (rather than
strict requirements) for the purpose of providing assistance to ATP, including the
Procurement Department and the General Counsel. In accordance with Section 2-301 of
these Policies and Guidelines, the Procurement Director and General Counsel may as
necessary use discretion in applying and modifying the Procurement Guidelines to a
Procurement, subject to compliance with applicable law and any applicable Federal
Requirements.

(3]




(4)

(5)

(6)

This Policy is for the benefit of ATP only and do not confer any rights on actual or potential
bidders, offerors, contractors, or any other person, except as provided in Chapter 4,
Section 4-300 - Administrative Remedies of these policies and guidelines.

The Procurement Policy and Guidelines cover the Procurement of real property only to
the extent provided in Section 1-501 (Acquisition of Real Property). Contracts outside the
scope of this Policy include, but are not limited to, employment contracts, real-estate
contracts, and intergovernmental agreements.

This Policy is intended to apply to locally funded and federally funded Procurements,
except to the extent indicated. Although this Policy does not directly apply to sub-
Recipients, ATP is responsible for assuring that, to the extent applicable when using
federal assistance to finance a Procurement as a Recipient, each of its sub-Recipients
complies with the applicable Federal Requirements, as in effect at any given time, and
that each of its sub-recipients is aware of the Federal Requirements that apply to its
actions as a sub-Recipient.

Section 1-101A Procurement Ethical Principles

Austin Transit Partnership (ATP) believes and conducts ALL Procurements based on the following
ethical principles governing the conduct of every Procurement staff member:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

Practice integrity, avoid conflicts of interest and personal enrichment, treat vendors
equally and fairly, transparency, accountability, and comply with legal and other
obligations.

Believes in the dignity and worth of the services rendered by the organization, and the
societal responsibilities assumed as a trusted public servant.

Is governed by the highest ideals of honor and integrity in all public and personal
relationships to merit the respect and inspire the confidence of the organization and the
public being served.

Believes that personal aggrandizement or personal profit obtained through misuse of
public or personal relationships is dishonest and not tolerable.

Identifies and eliminates participation of any individual in operational situations where a
conflict of interest may be involved.

Believes that members of ATP and its staff at no time, or under any circumstances,
accept directly or indirectly, gifts, gratuities, or other things of value from Suppliers,
which might influence or appear to influence purchasing decisions.

[4]




(7) Keeps ATP informed through appropriate channels, on problems and progress of
applicable operations by emphasizing the importance of the facts.

Section 1-101B Standards of Conduct and ATP Conflicts of Interest

In regard to Procurements, all ATP employees, officers and board members (each an "ATP
Person") and all committee members, representatives, consultants, vendors, contractors,
volunteers, outside agencies doing business with employees of ATP, and/or any other parties
with a business relationship with ATP that are engaged in or otherwise involved in the
Procurement, award or administration of Third Party Contracts must abide by the obligations in
this manual in addition to ATP’s Ethics, Conflicts and Nondisclosure Policy. In the event of a
conflict between documents, the Policy that is more restrictive on the employee, officer, agent
or board member shall govern.

(1) Participation in Selection, Award, or Administration of a Contract

No ATP Person shall participate in the deliberation, evaluation, selection, award, or
administration of any contract if they have a real or apparent conflict of interest as described in
the ATP Ethics, Conflicts and Disclosure Policy.

If any ATP Person recuses himself or herself from a Procurement action or administration of a
contract on the basis of a real or apparent conflict of interest, ATP shall maintain a record of the

recusal in the Procurement File.

(2) Contact with Vendors and Contractors

The importance of demonstrating constant and attentive sensitivity to and compliance with
ethics policies under these policies and procedures and ATP's Ethics, Conflicts and Disclosure
Policy cannot be overemphasized. All ATP Persons shall avoid any conduct that may give the
impression that a person can improperly influence official acts or actions by ATP. ATP Persons
shall avoid compromising or culpable acts, including any action that gives the appearance of
improper influence or personal conflict of interest. In addition to complying with the ATP Ethics,
Conflicts and Nondisclosure Policy, ATP Personnel must also comply with the requirements below
to ensure that Procurement actions are and appear to be proper.

(3) Contacts Prior to Issuance of a Solicitation

Informational and market-research contacts with prospective vendors or contractors prior to the
issuance of a Solicitation are a valuable source of data and information to ATP. These contacts
must be guided by the exercise of good judgment. ATP Persons must avoid:

(a) Making promises or implications of a future contract;

[5]




(b) Making requests for substantial complimentary goods or services, which may
create the impression of an obligation on the part of ATP; and

(c) Testing, viewing, sampling, etc. the product or services of a single vendor or
contractor.

If any ATP Person determines it is necessary to test, view, sample, etc., a product or service, he
or she must coordinate the contact with the Procurement Department. The ATP Person may be
required to obtain a form or agreement that will protect ATP and the vendor.

(4) Contacts After Issuance of a Solicitation and Before Contract Award

ATP shall require all contacts with vendors or contractors that relate to a Procurement that is in
the solicitation, evaluation, negotiation, or pre-award phase to be conducted only through the
Procurement Department (or such other persons designated by the Procurement Department in
the relevant solicitation documents). The Procurement Department may direct technical
questions (e.g., whether an item is considered an “approved equivalent”) to the Project Manager
for evaluation, Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) and other small and minority business
questions to the DEI Office and other questions to the relevant departments, consultants or
advisors. All oral and written communications with ATP regarding the Procurement action shall
be exclusively with, or on the subjects and with the persons approved by, the persons identified
by the Procurement Department Discussions with any other person not specified could result in
disclosure of proprietary or other competitive sensitive information or otherwise create the
appearance of impropriety or unfair competition and thereby compromise the integrity of ATP’s
Procurement system.

ATP will include in all Solicitations information to caution prospective Offerors that until
solicitation is either awarded or cancelled, they may have contact only with the contact person
identified in the Solicitation, Offer and Award Form. Discussions or communications regarding
the solicitation with any other personnel associated in any capacity with ATP, its consultants,
contractors or members of its Board of Directors, are strictly prohibited, unless otherwise
approved in writing by the Contracting Officer. Any violation of this restriction may result in the
disqualification of the offeror from further participation in this Procurement, and from award of
any contract or subcontract under this solicitation.

(5) Prohibitions Regarding Gratuities, Favors, or Anything of Monetary Value

All ATP Persons shall comply at all times with the ATP Ethics, Conflicts and Disclosure Policy with
respect to gifts, gratuities and favors.

(6) Discipline for Violations

In accordance with ATP's Ethics, Conflicts and Nondisclosure Policy, ATP may take disciplinary
actions against any ATP Person or any contractors, subcontractors, or subrecipients or their

[6]




agents for a violation of the standards of conduct in this Section 1-101A (Standards of Conduct
and ATP Conflicts of Interest) or ATP's Ethics, Conflicts and Nondisclosure Policy. Any actions
taken by a third party (including the Federal Government) against the applicable ATP Person or
other person shall not impact ATP’s right to take such action.

Section 1-102 General Principles of Law and Interpretation

(1) Unless modified by the particular provisions of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines,
the principles of law and equity, including the Texas Business and Commerce Code, the
law merchant, and applicable law relative to capacity to contract, agency, fraud,
misrepresentation, duress, coercion, mistake, or bankruptcy shall supplement the
provisions of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines.

(2) Unless the context of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines requires otherwise:

(a) words in the singular number include the plural, and those in the plural include
the singular; and

(b) words of a particular gender include any gender and the neuter, and, when the
sense so indicates, words of the neuter gender may refer to both genders.

(3) The titles of chapters, sections, and subsections, or other titles contained in the
Procurement Policy and Guidelines are for convenience and reference only and in no way
define, describe, extend, or limit the scope or intent of the substantive provision to which
the title applies unless the context so requires.

(4) Unless otherwise stated, a listing of factors, criteria, or subjects in the Procurement Policy
and Guidelines does not constitute an order of preference.

Section 1-103 Requirement of Good Faith

All parties involved in the negotiation, performance, or administration of contracts with ATP shall
act in good faith.

Section 1-104 Application of Policy and Guidelines

(1) This Policy only applies to contracts solicited or entered into after the effective date of
this Policy unless the parties agree to their application to a contract solicited or entered
into prior to the effective date.

(2) Unless the context otherwise requires, this Policy shall apply to every expenditure of

public funds irrespective of their source, including federal assistance monies, by ATP
under any contract, except that the Procurement Policy and Guidelines shall not apply to:

[7]




(a) grants;

(b) contracts between ATP and other public agencies under Chapter 791 (Interlocal
Cooperation Contracts) of the Government Code, as amended; or

(c) any transaction for, or related to, the borrowing of money by ATP permitted under
the laws of the State of Texas.

The Procurement Policy and Guidelines also shall apply to the disposal of ATP's supplies. Nothing
in the Procurement Policy and Guidelines shall prevent ATP from complying with the terms and
conditions of any grant, gift, bequest, or cooperative agreement.

Section 1-105 Severability

If any provision of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines, or any application thereof to any
person or circumstance, is held invalid, such in- validity shall not affect any other provision or
application of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines which can be given effect without the
invalid provision or application, and to this extent the provisions of the Procurement Policy and
Guidelines are declared to be severable.
Section 1-106 Specific Repealer

All prior policies and resolutions of ATP which are inconsistent with the Procurement Policy and
Guidelines are superseded by the Procurement Policy and Guidelines.

Section 1-107 Construction Against Implicit Repealer

No part of this Policy shall be deemed to be impliedly repealed or modified by subsequent action
of ATP if such construction reasonably can be avoided.

Section 1-108 Effective Date

The Procurement Policy and Guidelines shall become effective at 12:01 A.M. September,
XX, XXXX.

Section 1-109 Dissemination of the Policy and Guidelines

Private firms, individuals, and others may obtain copies of this Policy from the Procurement
department or on the ATP website at www.austintransitpartnerrship.org. [All operational
procedures implementing this Policy shall be similarly available.]

Section 1-201 Written Determinations

(1) Where this Policy requires a written determination, the person responsible for making
the determination may delegate its preparation, but the responsibility for and the




(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

execution of the determination itself shall not be delegated unless expressly permitted.
[The failure to make any written determination required by these Policies and Guidelines
shall not affect the validity of any action taken with or relating to any other party.]

Written determinations shall set out sufficient facts, circumstances, and reasoning as will
substantiate the specific determinations made.

While a designated person is responsible for the execution of a written determination,
other ATP Persons or external advisors or other persons with appropriate and applicable
knowledge may be requested to provide to the designated person, in an accurate and
adequate fashion, information, advice, recommendations and guidance pertinent to the
determination. When requested, such information shall be furnished in writing to the
cognizant designated person[, who shall have ATP to decide the final form and content of
the determination and to resolve any questions or conflicts arising with respect thereto].

The Executive Director, or his/her Designee, is authorized to prescribe methods and
operational procedures to be used in preparing written determinations.

Written determinations shall be filed in the appropriate Procurement File, shall be
retained as part of such file for so long as the file is required to be maintained, and (except
as otherwise provided by law or regulation) shall be open to public inspection.

Section 1-301 Definitions

The words defined in this section shall have the meanings set forth below whenever they appear
in the Procurement Policy and Guidelines unless the context in which they are used clearly
requires a different meaning or a different definition is prescribed for a particular section or
provision or under applicable law or Federal Requirements.

(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)

"Actual Costs" is defined in Section 7-101(1).
"ATP" is defined in Section 1-101.
"ATP Person" is defined in Section 1-101B

“Approval, Authorization, Concurrence, Waiver” means a deliberate written statement
(transmitted in typewritten hard copy or in an electronic format or medium) of a Federal
Government official authorized to permit the Recipient to take or omit an action required
by the Grant Agreement or Cooperative Agreement for the Project, Master Agreement,
or Circular 4220.1F, which action may not be taken or omitted without that permission.
Except to the extent that FTA determines otherwise in writing, that approval,
authorization, concurrence, or waiver permitting the performance or omission of a
specific action does not constitute permission to perform or omit other similar actions.
An oral permission or interpretation has no legal force, authority, or effect

[9]




(5) “Best Value” describes a competitive Procurement process in which the Recipient
reserves the right to select the most advantageous offer by evaluating and comparing
factors in addition to cost or price such that a Recipient may acquire technical superiority
even if it must pay a premium price. A “premium” is the difference between the price of
the lowest priced proposal and the one that the Recipient believes offers the Best Value.
The term “Best Value” also means the expected outcome of an acquisition that, in the
Recipient’s estimation, provides the greatest overall benefit in response to its material
requirements. To achieve Best Value in the context of acquisitions for Public
Transportation purposes, the evaluation factors for a specific Procurement should reflect
the subject matter and the elements that are most important to the Recipient. While FTA
does not mandate any specific evaluation factors, the Recipient must disclose those
factors in its solicitation. Evaluation factors may include, but are not limited to, technical
design, technical approach, length of delivery schedules, quality of proposed personnel,
past performance, and management plan. This definition is intended neither to limit nor
to dictate qualitative measures a Recipient may employ, except that those qualitative
measures must support the purposes of the Federal Public Transportation program.

(6) "Board" means the Board of Directors (Executive Committee) of the Austin Transit
Partnership (ATP).

(7) “Brand Name” is defined in Section 4-101(1)
(8) "Brand Name or Equal Specification" is defined in Section 4-101(3).

(9) "Brand Name Specification" is defined in Section 4-101(2).

(10) "Business" means any corporation, partnership, firm, sole proprietorship, joint stock
company, joint venture, or any other private legal entity.

(11) "CapMetro" is defined in Section 1-101.

(12)  “Cardinal Change” means a major deviation from the original purpose of the work or
the intended method of achievement, or a revision of contract work so extensive,
significant, or cumulative that, in effect, the contractor is required to perform very
different work from that described in the original contract.

(13) “Changes Clause” means a clause that permits the Recipient’s Contracting Officer to
make unilateral changes, in designated areas, within the general scope of the contract, to
be followed by such equitable adjustments in the price and delivery schedule as the
change makes necessary. Although the Recipient has a unilateral right, two general
principles are important: (1) the right exists only because it is specifically conferred by the
terms of the contract; and (2) when such unilateral rights are exercised, the Recipient has
an obligation to adjust the price and/or other provisions to compensate for the alteration
in the contractor’s obligations.

[10]




(14)

(15)

(16)

(17)

(18)

(19)

"Change Order" means a written, unilateral order signed by the Contracting Officer
directing the applicable Contractor to make changes, as authorized under the terms of
the applicable Contract.

"City" is defined in Section 1-101.

“Clarification” means a communication with an offeror for the sole purpose of
eliminating minor irregularities, informalities, or apparent clerical mistakes in a
proposal.

"Commercial Products" are items and/or services regularly used, for other than Federal
Government purposes, in the course of normal business operations.

(a)

(b)

"ltems," including computer software, are those that:

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

(iv)

have been sold or traded to the general public;

have been offered for sale to the general public at established prices but
not yet sold;

although intended for sale or trade to the general public, have not yet been
offered for sale but will be available for commercial delivery in a
reasonable period of time; or

are described in Sections (i), or (ii), or (iii) and would require only minor
modification in order to meet the requirements of ATP.

"Services" include:

(i)

(i)

installation, maintenance, repair, training, and other services if such
services are procured for support of an item referred to in Sections (a)(i),
(ii), (iii), or (iv) above, and the source of such services offers them to the
general public under similar terms and conditions; or

services of a type offered and sold competitively in substantial quantities
in the commercial marketplace based on established catalog or market
prices.

"Construction" is defined in Section 6-401.

“Constructive Contract Change” means a change to a contract resulting from the conduct
of the Recipients’ officials that has the effect of requiring the Contractor to perform
additional work. A Constructive Contract Change results from the acts, written or oral, or
from the omissions of the Recipient’s officials that have the same effect as if the
Contracting Officer had issued a formal, written Change Order. Such changes represent

[11]




(20)

(21)

(22)

(23)

(24)

(25)

(26)
(27)

(28)

actions which usually exceed the authority of the individual responsible for them.
Contractors need to be advised as part of the terms of their contracts to bring any such
actions to the immediate attention of the Contracting Officer so that an official
determination can be made by the appropriate officials and proper directions given in
writing under the Changes Clause.

"Contract" means a mutually binding legal relationship obligating the seller to furnish the
supplies or services (including construction) and the buyer to pay for them. It includes all
types of commitments that obligate the Recipient to expenditure and that, except as
otherwise authorized, are in writing. In addition to bilateral instruments, contracts
include (but are not limited to) awards and notices of awards; job orders or task letters
issued under basic ordering agreements; letter contracts; orders, such as purchase
orders, under which the contract becomes effective by written acceptance or
performance; and bilateral contract modifications. Contracts do not include grants and
cooperative agreements covered by 31 U.S.C. 6301, et seq.

“Contract Administration” means the post-award administration of the contract to ensure
compliance with the terms of the contract by both the contractor and the procuring
entity.

“Contract Administration Files” means documentation contained in the contract file
maintained by, or on behalf of the contracting officer. It reflects the actions taken by the
contracting parties in accordance with the requirements of the contract, and documents
the decisions made and the rationale behind matters which may result (or have resulted)
in controversy or dispute.

"Contracting Officer" means any person (or a duly appointed successor) authorized to
enter into and administer contracts and amendments on behalf of ATP and make written
determinations with respect thereto.

“Contracting Officer’s Representative (COR)” means a representative of the procuring
agency who has more limited authority than the contracting officer but is generally
authorized to provide technical direction to the contractor.

"Contract Modification" means any written alteration in specifications, delivery point,
rate of delivery, period of performance, price, quantity, or other provisions of any
Contract, whether under a Change Order or a bilateral agreement, as authorized under
the terms of the applicable Contract and as further described in Section 8-303.
"Contractor" means any person having a Contract with ATP.

"Cost Analysis" is defined in Section 3-101(1).

"Cost Data" is defined in Section 3-101(2).

[12]




(29)
(30)

(31)

(32)

(33)
(34)
(35)

(36)

(37)

(38)

(39)

(40)

"Cost Objective" is defined in Section 7-101(2).
"Data" means recorded information, regardless of form or characteristic.

"Days" means calendar days. In computing any period of time prescribed by the
Procurement Policy and Guidelines, the day of the event from which the designated
period of time begins to run shall not be included, but the last day shall be included unless
it is a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal or Texas holiday, in which event the period shall run
to the end of the next business day.

“Deductive Change” means a change resulting in a reduction in the contract price
because of a net reduction in the Contractor’s work

"Designee" means a duly authorized representative of a person having specific authority
or holding a superior position.
"Discussions" is defined in Section 3-101(4).

"Employee" means an individual drawing a salary or wages directly from ATP.

"Equitable Adjustment" is an adjustment to Contract provisions pursuant to a Contract
clause specifically providing for an "equitable adjustment” and as defined in applicable
court and administrative decisions construing the same clause or similar clauses. See also
Section 8-305.

"Ethics, Conflicts and Nondisclosure Policy" means ATP's Ethics, Conflicts and
Nondisclosure Policy , as may be updated from time to time.

"Executive Director" is the person appointed by the Board to be the chief operating officer
of ATP.

"Federal Requirements" is defined in Section 1-101.
Federal Cost Principles as used in the Policy

means reference to the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR), 48 C.F.R. part 31. As Third-
Party Contractors are mainly for-profit organizations, under the Uniform Guidance the
FAR cost principles apply to those entities. Grant funds may only be used by the Recipient
to pay for allowable costs when the contract is a cost-plus-fixed-fee contract or when a
fixed price contract is being negotiated on the basis of cost estimates submitted by the
contractor. The term allowable cost is defined in 48 C.F.R. § 31.201-2

[13]




(41)

(42)

(43)

(44)

(45)

(46)

(47)

(48)

(49)

(50)

Force Account means the Recipient’s own labor forces and equipment to accomplish a
capital project. Force Account does not include project administration, preventive
maintenance, mobility management or other types of nontraditional capital projects.

"FTA" is defined in Section 1-101.

“Full and Open Competition” means that all responsible sources are permitted to
compete.

"Gratuity" means a payment, loan, subscription, advance, deposit of money, services, or
anything of more than nominal value, present or promised, unless consideration of
substantially equal or greater value is received.

“Joint Venture” shall be defined as a partnership, teaming arrangement or association of
two or more persons or business entities to carry on a business limited to one particular
enterprise for ATP. No Joint Venture shall be comprised of two or more companies whose
owners are related within the second degree of affinity (marriage) or within the third
degree of consanguinity (blood).

“Local Government” means a county, municipality, City, town, township, local public
authority (including any public and Indian housing agency under the United States
Housing Act of 1937) school district, special district, intrastate district, council of
governments (whether or not incorporated as a nonprofit corporation under state law),
any other regional or interstate government entity, or any agency or instrumentality of a
Local Government. This term does not include a local public institution of higher
education.

“Master Agreement” means the FTA document incorporated by reference and made part
of FTA’s standard grant agreements and cooperative agreements, that contains the
standard terms and conditions governing the administration of a project supported with
Federal assistance awarded by FTA.

"May" or "may" denotes the permissive. However, the words "no person may" mean that
no person is required, authorized, or permitted to do the act prescribed.

“Negotiation” means a procedure that includes the receipt of proposals from offerors,
permits bargaining and usually affords offerors an opportunity to revise their offers

before award of a contract.

“Offer” means a response to a solicitation that, if accepted, would bind the offeror to
perform according to the terms specified in either an Invitation for Bid (IFB) or a Request

[14]




(51)

(52)

(53)
(54)
(55)

(56)

(57)

(58)

(59)

(60)

(61)
(62)

(63)

for Proposal (RFP). For purposes of Policy, bid and offer, and, bidder and offeror, are used
interchangeably.

“Performance Specification” means specifications based on the function and
performance of a product or service under specified conditions, preferably conditions
that can be reproduced for testing purposes. Performance Specifications may include
useful life, reliability in terms of average intervals between failure, and capacity.

"Person" or "person" means any individual, firm, corporation, LLC, LLP, joint venture,
voluntary association, partnership, trust or public or private organization, other legal
entity, or a combination thereof.

“Policy” is defined in Section 1-101.
"Price Analysis" is defined in Section 3-101(7).
"Price Data" is defined in Section 3-101(8).

"Prime Contractor" is defined in Section 5-101(2).

"Procurement"” means buying, purchasing, renting, leasing, or otherwise acquiring any
property (except real property), services, or construction. It also includes all functions that
pertain to the obtaining of any supply, service, or construction, including description of
requirements, selection and solicitation of sources, preparation and award of contract,
and all phases of contract administration.

"Procurement Department" means the office responsible for the acquisition of supplies,
services, and construction in support of ATP’s business.

“Procurement Director” means the primary ATP Employee designated by the Executive
Director to implement this Policy.

"Procurement File" means the documentation contained in a Procurement file that details
the history of the Procurement through award of the contract. It includes, at a minimum,
the rationale for the method of Procurement, the selection of the contract type, the
reasons for selection or rejection of the contractor, and the basis for the contract price.

"Procurement Guidelines" is defined in Section 1-101.

"Procurement Policies and Procedures" is defined in Section 1-101.

“Project Labor Agreement (PLA)” means an agreement between the contractor,
subcontractors, and the union(s) representing workers. Under a PLA, the contractor,
subcontractors, and union(s) working on a project agree on terms and conditions of

employment for the project, establishing a framework for Ilabor-management
cooperation to advance the buyer’s Procurement interest in cost, efficiency, and quality.

[15]




(64)

(65)

(66)

(67)

(68)

(69)

(70)

(71)

“Property” means real property consisting of land and buildings, structures, or
appurtenances on land, equipment, supplies, other expendable property, intellectual
property, and intangible property.

"Protest" means a written statement concerning any unresolved disagreement or
controversy arising out of the solicitation or award of a contract filed in accordance with
Section 10-201.

"Protester" is defined in Section 4-301(b)(3).

“Public Transportation” means regular, continuing shared-ride surface transportation
services that are open to the general public or open to a segment of the general public
defined by age, disability, or low income; and does not include: (i) intercity passenger rail
transportation provided by the entity described in 49 U.S.C. Chapter 243 (or a successor
to such entity); (ii) intercity bus service; (iii) charter bus service; (iv) school bus service; (v)
sightseeing service; (vi) courtesy shuttle service for patrons of one or more specific
establishments; or (vii) intra- terminal or intra- facility shuttle services.

"Purchase Request" or "Purchase Requisition" means that document whereby a person
requests that a Contract be entered into by ATP for a specific need, and may include, but
is not limited to, the description of the requested item, delivery schedule, transportation
data, criteria for evaluation, suggested sources of supply, and information supplied for
the making of any written determination required by the Procurement Policy and
Guidelines.

"Public Transportation" is defined in Section 4-101(3).

“Recipient” means the public or private entity to which FTA awards Federal assistance
through a grant, cooperative agreement, or other agreement. The Recipient is the entire
legal entity even if only a particular component of the entity is designated in the
document through which FTA has awarded the Federal assistance. The term “Recipient”
is synonymous with “grantee.” The term “Recipient” includes each member of a
consortium, joint venture, team, or partnership awarded FTA assistance through a grant,
cooperative agreement, or other agreement. For purposes of this Manual, “Recipient”
also includes a sub-Recipient or sub grantee of the Recipient. A Recipient is responsible
for assuring each of its subrecipients complies with the applicable FTA requirements and
that each of its sub-Recipients is aware of the Federal statutory and regulatory
requirements that apply to its actions as a sub-Recipient. Neither a Third-Party Contractor
nor a third-party subcontractor is a “Recipient” for purposes of this Manual.

“Responsive Offer/Bid”. means an offer/bid that conforms in all material aspects to the

requirements of the solicitation at the scheduled time of submission and does not
require further discussion with the offeror/ bidder.

[16]




(72)

(73)

(74)

(75)

(76)

(77)

(78)

“Recipient”. means those qualities of an item that are essential to ensure that the
intended use of the item can be satisfactorily realized. The term is mainly used in
connection with a brand-name-or-equal description, which should set forth those salient
physical, functional, or other characteristics of the referenced product that an equal
product must have in order to meet the Recipient’s needs.

“Simplified Acquisition Threshold” means the dollar amount below which
a non-Federal entity may purchase property or services using small purchase methods. Non-
Federal entities adopt small purchase procedures in order to expedite the purchase of items
costing less than the simplified acquisition threshold. The simplified acquisition threshold is
set by the Federal Acquisition Regulation at 48 C.F.R. Subpart 2.1 (Definitions) and in
accordance with 41 U.S.C. 1908. As of the publication of this part, the simplified acquisition
threshold is $150,000, but this threshold is periodically adjusted for inflation.

“Single Bid” means only one bid has been received at the time and date set for bid opening.
“Single Responsive Bid” means only one responsive bid received at the time and date set
for bid opening. This may result from having only one bidder or from all other bidder(s)

being nonresponsive.

“Small Business” shall have the meaning set forth by the Small Business Administration
Standards found in 13 C.F.R. Section 121 and in 49 C.F.R. Section 26.65.

"Solicitation" is defined in Section 3-101(13).

“Source Selection Plan” means a plan that describes how the source selection will be

organized, how proposals will be evaluated and analyzed, and how source(s) will be selected.

(79)

(80)

(81)

"Specification" is defined in Section 4-101(4).

“State” means a State of the United States, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the
Northern Mariana Islands, Guam, American Samoa, and the Virgin Islands.

“State or Local Government Purchasing Schedule or Purchasing Contract” means an
arrangement that a State or Local Government has established with multiple vendors in
which those vendors agree to provide an option to the State or Local Government, and
its subordinate government entities and others it might include in its programs, to acquire
specific property or services in the future at established prices. These arrangements are
somewhat similar to the GSA’s Cooperative Purchasing Program available for Federal
Government use. If, at a later date, the State or Local Government permits others to use
its schedules, the State or Local Government might seek the agreement of the vendor to
provide the listed property or services to others with access to the schedules. In the
alternative the State or Local Government establishing the schedules might permit the
vendor to determine whether or not it wishes to provide others the same contractual
arrangement it affords the State or Local Government that has established the schedules.

[17]




(82)

(83)

(84)

(85)

(86)

(86)

(87)

FTA recognizes that some Recipients will use the term “cooperative” in reference to these
State and local programs, possibly because they are somewhat similar to GSA’s
“Cooperative Purchasing Program.” These programs are distinct from “Joint
Procurement” as defined this section.

“Subcontract” means any contract, subcontract, or other form of agreement to perform
any part of the Work or provide any materials, equipment, or supplies for any part of the
Work, or any such agreement, supplement or amendment at a lower tier, between a
Subcontractor and its lower tier Subcontractor or a Supplier, and its lower tier Supplier,
at all tiers.

"Supplies" is defined, for the purposes of Chapter 9, in Section 9-101(4). As used
elsewhere in the Policy and Guidelines, "supplies" means property of any type (except
real property), including material, machinery, and equipment.

“Supplier” means any Person not performing work at or on a project site that Supplier
machinery, equipment, materials, hardware, software, systems or any other
appurtenance to the Project to the Contractor or to any Subcontractor in connection with
the performance of the Work. Persons who merely transport, pick up, deliver or carry
materials, personnel, parts or equipment or any other items or Persons to or from a
project site will not be deemed to be performing Work at such project site.

“Third Party Contract” refers to a Recipient’s contract with a vendor or contractor,
including Procurement by purchase order or purchase by credit card, which is financed
with Federal assistance awarded by FTA.

"Technical Proposal" means a solicited or unsolicited submission of information from a
prospective contractor which states how that party intends to perform certain work; its
technical and business qualifications; and its proposed delivery, warranty, and other
terms and conditions as those might differ from or supplement ATP's solicitation
requirements. It shall include such pricing information as may be required.

“Uniform Guidance (a/k/a Super Circular)” means U.S. DOT regulations, “Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards,” 2 C.F.R. part 1201, which incorporates by reference U.S. OMB regulatory
guidance, “Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards,” 2 C.F.R. part 200. The Uniform Guidance applies to all
Federal grants and cooperative agreements.

“Unsolicited Proposal” means a proposal that is: innovative and unique, independently
originated and developed by the offeror, prepared without the Recipient’s supervision,
endorsement, direction, or direct involvement, sufficiently detailed that its benefits in
support of the Recipient’s mission and responsibilities are apparent, not an advance
proposal for property or services that a Recipient could acquire through competitive

[18]




(88)

(89)

methods, and not an offer responding to a Recipient’s previously published expression of
need or request for proposals.

“Work” means the design, constructions, operation, maintenance, and all other work,
services and obligations required to be furnished, performed or provided by the
Contractor under the Agreement.

“Value Engineering” means the systematic application of recognized techniques that
identify the function of a product or service, establish a value for that function, and
provide the necessary function reliably at the lowest overall cost. In all instances, the
required function should be achieved at the lowest possible life cycle cost consistent with
requirements for performance, maintainability, safety, security, and aesthetics.

Section 1-401 Public Access to Procurement Information

(1)

(2)

Procurement information shall be a public record to the extent provided in Chapter 552
(Public Information Act) of the Government Code, as amended, and shall be available to
the public as provided in such statute.

All Solicitations shall contain a provision requiring all bids and proposals to identify any
information believed to be exempt from disclosure as trade secrets or commercial or
financial information provided that blanket designations will not be acceptable and that
any such identification of information will not be determinative of any issue relating to
the application of, or treatment of such information or materials under law.

Section 1-501 Acquisition of Real Property

(1)

(2)

(3)

This section sets forth the Policy of ATP in connection with the Procurement of real
property. For the purpose of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines, "real property"
includes ownership in fee, leases of real property, easements, rights-of-way, and all other
ownership interests in real property.

It is the Policy of ATP to make every reasonable effort to acquire real property by
agreement with the owners.

Whenever practical, ATP shall establish an amount estimated to be fair compensation for
real property prior to initiation of negotiations with the owner. If only part of the property
is to be acquired or the interest to be acquired is less than the full interest of the owner,
the estimated amount will include a statement explaining the basis for the determination
of fair value. Any increase or decrease in the fair market value of the real property, prior
to the date of valuation, caused by the public improvement or project for which the real
property is to be acquired, or by the likelihood that the real property would be acquired
for such improvement or project, should be disregarded in making the estimate.

[19]




(4)

(5)

In establishing the amount estimated to be fair compensation, two appraisals of each
parcel or tract may be obtained, from appraisers working independently of each other, to
the extent required under Section 451.054(d) of the Transportation Code.

The Executive Director shall establish procedures for the selection and Procurement of
real property; provided, however, no acquisition of real property shall be made without
the approval of the Board.




CHAPTER 2 — PROCUREMENT AUTHORITY AND OFFICIALS

Section 2-100 - Authority and Responsibility

Section 2-101 Procurement Authority

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

The authorization to enter into contracts on behalf of ATP will be conferred only by
resolution of the Board providing general authorizations to enter into contracts or
authority for specific contracts or types of contracts. Any provision in this Policy describing
the methods and procedure for Procurement and designating ATP representatives for
Procurement actions shall be subject to authorization from the Board to award a contract.

No contract, modification, Change Order, or other commitment shall be made on behalf
of ATP unless it is made in writing and executed by a representative of ATP acting within
the scope of the representative's designated authority. Contracts, modifications, Change
Orders, or other commitments made on behalf of ATP by ATP Person acting outside the
scope of their designated authority may be ratified by the Executive Director provided the
Executive Director determines in writing that such action is in ATP's best interest and all
such ratification actions (together with a description of the circumstances and the
justification therefor) shall be reported quarterly by the Executive Director in a written
report to the Board.

No person shall be authorized or permitted to commence work for or on behalf of ATP in
contemplation of a contract prior to the execution of a written contract.

No contract, modification, Change Order, or contract price adjustment shall be made
unless sufficient funds are authorized and available for expenditure for such purpose in
ATP's current budget; provided, however, that with respect to the validity, as to the
contractor, of any contract, modification, Change Order, or adjustment in contract price
which the contractor has reasonably relied upon, there shall be a rebuttable presumption
that there has been compliance with this provision.

Section 2-102 Procurement Responsibility

(1)

(2)

The Executive Director shall be responsible for the Procurement of property, services, and
construction in accordance with this Policy as well as the management and disposal of
supplies.

In accordance with the Policy and Guidelines and subject to Section 2-101, the Executive
Director shall:

(a) procure or supervise the Procurement of all property, services, and construction
needed by ATP;

[21]




(b) supervise and control all assets, equipment, and inventories of supplies belonging
to ATP;

(c) sell, trade, or otherwise dispose of surplus assets, equipment, or supplies
belonging to ATP; and

(d) establish and maintain programs for specification development, contract
administration, and inspection and acceptance of supplies, services, and

construction.

(3) The Executive Director may adopt operational procedures consistent with the Policy and
Guidelines pertaining to the execution of Procurement duties.

Section 2-200 — Board Authority and Delegations of Authority

Section 2-201 Board Authority and Authority to Delegate

(1) The Board is empowered under the laws of the State of Texas to exercise its powers by
resolution, including to make contracts, incur liabilities, borrow money, issue notes, bonds
and other obligations.

(2) The Board may delegate authority to the Executive Director or other officers or agents of
ATP to purchase certain property, services, or construction, and within budgeted amounts
approved, by the Board.

(3) In accordance with ATP Resolution 2021-008, the Executive Director or his/her Designee is
authorized to execute agreements for amounts not to exceed $250,000 per year per
agreement, provided that the Executive Director or his/her Designee reports to the Board
on a monthly basis regarding any contract agreement entered into during the previous
month valued between $150,000 and $250,000.

(4) The Executive Director shall seek the prior approval of the Board for any agreement that
will exceed $250,000. Any contract modification above the delegated Procurement
authority or the originally approved contingency will require subsequent Board approval.

(5) The Executive Director or his/her Designee has the authority and responsibility to:
(a) Approve and execute all purchase requisitions within his/her level of authority;

(b) Advertise and/or issue solicitation documents (e.g., RFQs/IFBs/RFPs/SOQs) for
Contracts expected to be within his/her level of authority;




(6)

(c)

Approve and enter into purchase orders and Contracts within his/her level of
authority;

(d) Approve and enter into a Contract Modification (including the settlement of a

(e)

(f)

contract claim) that did not originally require Board approval so long as the Contract
Modification (either individually or in combination with other Contract
Modifications) does not increase the Contract amount or yearly contract amount
above the level of authority given to the Executive Director;

Approve and enter into a Contract Modification (including the settlement of a
contract claim) that originally required Board approval so long as the Contract
Modification, as combined in amount with other non-Board-approved Contract
Modifications does not exceed the level of authority given to the Executive Director;

Approve the issuance of formal Change Orders that are expected to result in
Contract Modifications that do not exceed the level of authority given to the
Executive Director.

Authority conferred on the Executive Director in the Policy and Guidelines with respect to

the following matters shall not be delegated:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

appointment of contracting officers under Section 2-203;

deviations from the Policy and Guidelines under Section 2-301;
reduction of bond amounts under Section 5-302(3);
stay of Procurements during protests under Section 10-204; and

Authority to debar or suspend under Section 4-310(2).

Section 2-202 Delegations and Revocations of Authority

(1)

(2)

The Executive Director's delegations of authority shall be in writing and shall specify:

(a)
(b)
(c)

the activity or function authorized;
any limits or restrictions on the exercise of the delegated ATP; and

the duration of the delegation.

Any authority delegated by the Executive Director may be revoked at any time and
without prior approval of the Board.




Section 2-203 Contracting Officers

(1) The selection, appointment, and terminations of appointments of contracting officers
shall be made only by the Executive Director. In selecting contracting officers, the
Executive Director shall consider public contract experience, training, education,
judgment, character, and ethics.

(2) Appointment of contracting officers shall be made in a Certificate of Appointment signed
by the Executive Director in the following form:

CERTIFICATE OF APPOINTMENT

Pursuant to Authority vested in the undersigned by the Austin Transit
Partnership Procurement Policy and Guidelines,

is hereby appointed Contracting Officer for Austin Transit Partnership subject to
the limitations in ATP’s Procurement Policy and Guidelines and to the following:

Unless sooner revoked, this appointment is effective as long as the appointee
named herein is an employee of ATP.

Date Signature of Executive Director

Section 2-300 - Deviations from Policy and Guidelines

Section 2-301 Deviations from Policy and Guidelines

The Executive Director may approve deviations from the Policy and Guidelines with respect to an
individual Procurement, subject to compliance with applicable law and any applicable Federal
Requirements; provided, however, that any such deviation (together with a description of the
circumstances and the justification therefor) shall be reported quarterly by the Executive Director
in a written report to the Board.




Section 2-400 - Changes to Policy and Guidelines

Section 2-401 Changes to the terms of this Policy

The Executive Director is empowered to approve one-time deviations from the Policy and
Guidelines in accordance with the provisions of Section 2-301. No permanent change shall be
made to this Policy without the express approval of the Board, except for minor, insignificant
changes that are matters of form rather than substance, e.g., style changes, typographical,
punctuation, and transposition errors

Section 2-500 Procurements Using Federal Funds

Section 2-501 Procedures

Procurements involving the use of federal assistance grant funds will be conducted in accordance
with the terms of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines and requirements of the grantor
agency. In the instance of FTA grants, the Federal Requirements will be followed. In the event
of any inconsistency with the Procurement Policy and Guidelines, the provisions of any Federal
Requirements shall be controlling.

Section 2-502 Procurement Clauses

The Executive Director shall promulgate required clauses to be used when using federal
assistance to finance a Procurement . ATP should ensure that only the applicable clauses for a
Procurement are included; inapplicable clauses may restrict competition or result in a higher
price.




CHAPTER 3 - SOURCE SELECTION AND CONTRACT FORMATION

Section 3-100 - General Provisions

Section 3-101 Definition of Terms

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(4)

(5)

(6)

"Bid" means any bid submitted in competitive sealed bidding or in the second phase of
multi-step competitive sealed bidding and includes submissions under Section 3-204
(Small Purchases) if no changes in offers are allowed after submission.

"Cost Analysis" is the evaluation of cost data for the purpose of arriving at costs actually
incurred or estimates of costs to be incurred, prices to be paid, and costs to be
reimbursed.

"Cost Data" is information concerning the actual or estimated cost of labor, material,
overhead, and other cost elements which actually have been incurred or which are
expected to be incurred by the contractor in performing the contract.

"Cost-Reimbursement Contract" means a contract under which a contractor is
reimbursed for costs which are allowable and allocable in accordance with the contract
terms and the provisions of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines and is paid a fee, if
any.

"Discussions" as used in the source selection process, means an exchange of information
(written or oral) or negotiation that involves information essential for determining the
acceptability of a proposal or during which the offeror and ATP may alter or otherwise
change the conditions, terms, and price of the proposed contract. Discussions may be
conducted in connection with competitive sealed proposals, sole source, and emergency
Procurement; discussions are not permissible in competitive sealed bidding (except to the
extent permissible in the first phase of multi-step sealed bidding).

"Established Catalogue Price" means the price included in a catalogue, price list, schedule,
or other form that:

(a) is regularly maintained by a manufacturer or contractor;
(b) is either published or otherwise available for inspection by customers; and
(c) states prices at which sales are currently or were last made to a significant number

of any category of buyers or buyers constituting the general buying public for the
property or services involved.

"Invitation for Bids" or "IFB" means all documents, whether attached or incorporated by
reference, utilized for soliciting competitive sealed bids.

[26]




(7)
(8)
(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

"Phase One" is defined in Section 3-202.17 (Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding).
"Phase Two" is defined in Section 3-202.17 (Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding).

"Price Analysis" is the evaluation of Price Data (without analysis of the separate cost
components and profit as in cost analysis) which may assist in arriving at prices to be paid
and costs to be reimbursed.

"Price Data" is factual information concerning prices, including profit, for property,
services, or construction identical or substantially similar to those being procured. In this
definition, "prices" refers to offered or proposed selling prices, historical selling prices,
and current selling prices of such items. This definition refers to data relevant to both
prime and subcontract prices.

"Proposal" means any offer submitted in response to any Solicitation, including an offer
under Section 3-204 (Small Purchases), except a Bid.

"Purchase Description" means the words used in a solicitation to describe the property,
services, or construction to be purchased, and includes Specifications attached to, or
made a part of, the solicitation.

"Request for Proposals" or "RFP" means all documents, whether attached or incorporated
by reference, utilized for soliciting Proposals.

"Responsible Bidder" or "Responsible Offeror" means a party that has  the financial
resources, personnel, facilities, integrity, past and current performance history, and
overall capabilities to fulfill specific contractual requirements satisfactorily.

"Responsive" (1) Describes a bid/proposal that meets, without any material deviation, the
expressed requirements of a solicitation (2) When a bidder fully complies with and does
not materially deviate from the terms, conditions, and specifications set forth in an
invitation for bids. (3)When an offeror materially complies with a solicitation and is
capable of being made compliant through discussions.

"Solicitation" means an Invitation for Bids, a Request for Proposals, a request for
guotations, or any other document issued by ATP for the purpose of soliciting bids or
proposals to perform a contract.

Section 3-102 Extension of Time for Bid or Proposal Acceptance

After opening bids or proposals, the Contracting Officer may request bidders or offerors to
extend the time during which ATP may accept their bids or proposals; provided that with regard

[27]




to bids, no other change is permitted. The reasons for requesting the extension shall be
documented.
Section 3-103 Extension of Time on Indefinite Quantity Contracts

The time of performance of an indefinite quantity contract may be extended upon agreement of
the parties, provided the extension is for 90 days or less and the Contracting Officer determines
in writing that it is not practical to award another contract at the time of such extension.

Section 3-104 Only One Bid or Proposal Received

(1) If only one responsive bid is received in response to an Invitation for Bids (including multi-
step bidding), an award may be made to the single bidder if the Contracting Officer finds
that the price submitted is fair and reasonable and that either (i) other prospective
bidders had reasonable opportunity to respond or (ii) there is not adequate time for
resolicitation. Otherwise, the bid may be rejected pursuant to the provisions of Section
3-300 (Cancellation of Solicitations; Rejection of Bids or Proposals) and:

(a) new bids or offers may be solicited;

(b) the proposed Procurement may be cancelled; or

(c) if a Contracting Officer above the level of the procuring Contracting Officer
determines in writing that the need for the property, service, or construction
continues but that the price of the one bid is not fair and reasonable and there is
no time for re-solicitation (or re-solicitation would likely be futile), the
Procurement then may be conducted under Section 3-205 (Sole Source
Procurement).

(2) If only one proposal is received in response to a Request for Proposals, a determination
must be made by a Contracting Officer above the level of the procuring Contracting

Officer to:

(a) make an award in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 3-203
(Competitive Sealed Proposals);

(b) conduct the Procurement under Section 3-205 (Sole Source Procurement); or
(c) if time permits, resolicit proposals.

Section 3-105 Multiple or Alternate Bids or Proposals

Unless multiple or alternate bids or proposals are specifically provided for, the solicitation shall
state that such bids or proposals shall not be accepted. When prohibited, multiple or alternate
bids or proposals shall be rejected; provided, however, that if a bidder clearly indicates a

[28]




responsive base bid, it shall be considered for award as though it were the only bid or proposal
submitted by the bidder or offeror. The provisions of this section shall be set forth in the
solicitation, and if multiple or alternate bids or proposals are allowed, it shall specify their
treatment.

Section 3-106 Bonds for Supply or Service Contracts

Bid, performance and payment bonds or other security may be required for supply contracts or
service contracts as the Contracting Officer deems advisable to protect the interest of ATP. Any
such requirements must be set forth in the solicitation. Bid or performance bonds should not be
used as a substitute for a determination of bidder or offeror responsibility. Sections 5-301 (Bid
Bonds), 5-302 (Performance Bonds), and 5-303 (Payment Bonds) set forth bonding requirements
applicable to construction contracts and may be considered when establishing any such
requirements for supply contracts or service contracts.

Section 3-107 Conditioning Bids or Proposals Upon Other Awards

Any bid or proposal which is conditioned upon receiving award of both the particular contract
being solicited and another contract from ATP shall be deemed nonresponsive and not
acceptable.

Section 3-108 Determination of Contractual Terms and Conditions

The Contracting Officer is authorized to determine the contractual provisions, terms, and
conditions of Solicitations and Contracts; provided, such provisions, terms, and conditions are
aligned with this Policy to the extent applicable and are not contrary to the Federal Requirements
(if applicable) or applicable law governing the Procurement.

Section 3-109 Unsolicited Offers

(1) An unsolicited offer is any offer submitted to ATP by a third party other than one
submitted in response to a Solicitation. The Executive Director shall consider the offer as
provided in this section.

(2) To be considered for evaluation, an unsolicited offer must not be for an item for which
competitive sealed bids or competitive sealed proposals are required by the Federal
Requirements (if applicable) or applicable law and:

(a) must be in writing;

(b) must be independently originated and developed by the offeror;

(c) must be prepared without ATP's supervision, endorsement, direction or direct
involvement;




(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(d) must be sufficiently detailed to allow a judgment to be made concerning the
potential utility of the offer to ATP;

(e) must be for unique and innovative supplies or services;

(f) must not be an advance proposal for property or services that ATP could acquire
through competitive methods;

(g) must not be an offer responding to any previously published ATP expression of
need or request for proposals.

An unsolicited offer meeting the requirements of (2), above, shall be evaluated to
determine its utility to ATP and whether it would be to ATP's advantage to enter into a
contract based on the unsolicited offer. Except where (4) applies, if ATP determines that
it is interested in acquiring the property or services described in the unsolicited offer, ATP
will issue a public notice which includes the following details: (a) a statement that the
unsolicited offer was received by ATP; (b) an adequate description of the property or
services offered, without improperly disclosing proprietary information or disclosing the
originality of thought or innovativeness of the property or services offered; and (c) a
statement that ATP is interested in acquiring the property or services offered. Following
issuance of public notice, ATP will allow interested parties an adequate opportunity to
comment or submit competing proposals. ATP will issue a public notice of its intention
to award any contract based on the unsolicited offer or another proposal submitted in
response to the public notice prior to award.

If it is impossible to describe the property or services offered in the unsolicited offer
without revealing proprietary information or disclosing the originality of thought or
innovativeness of such property or services, ATP make a sole source award to the offeror.
A sole source award may not ne based solely on the unique capability of the offeror to
provide the specific property or services proposed.

If an award is to be made on the basis of the unsolicited offer under (3) or (4) above, the
sole source procedures in Section 3.205 (Sole Source Procurement) shall be followed.

Any written request for confidentiality of data contained in an unsolicited offer that is
made in writing shall be honored if permitted by law, subject to Section 1-401 (Public
Access to Procurement Information) and the other provisions of this policy, guidelines
and applicable law. If an award is contemplated, confidentiality of data shall be agreed
upon by the parties and governed by the provisions of law and the contract. If agreement
cannot be reached on the confidentiality, ATP may reject the unsolicited offer.

[30]




Section 3-110 Novation or Change of Name

(1) No contract between ATP and a Contractor is transferable or otherwise assignable by the
Contractor without the written consent of the Contracting Officer; provided, however,
that a contractor may assign monies receivable under a contract after due notice to ATP.

(2) When in the best interest of ATP, a successor in interest may be recognized in a novation
agreement in which the transferor, transferee, and ATP shall agree that:

(a) the transferee assumes all of the transferor's obligations;
(b) the transferor waives all rights under the contract as against ATP; and

(c) unless the transferor guarantees performance of the contract by the transferee,
the transferee shall, if required, furnish a satisfactory performance bond, or
otherwise in accordance with the terms of the relevant Contract.

(3) When a contractor requests to change the name in which it holds a contract with ATP,
the Contracting Officer shall, upon receipt of a document indicating such change of name
(for example, an amendment to the articles of incorporation of the corporation), enter
into an agreement with the requesting contractor to effect the change of name. The
agreement changing the name shall specifically indicate that no other terms and
conditions of the contract are thereby changed and the Contract shall continue in full
force and effect.

Section 3-111 Contracting for Installment Purchase Payments

Supply contracts may provide for installment purchase payments, including interest charges, over
a period of time. Installment payments, however, should be used judiciously in order to achieve
economy and not to avoid budgetary restraints and shall be justified in writing by the Contracting
Officer, who shall be responsible for ensuring that statutory or other prohibitions are not violated
by use of installment provisions and that all budgetary, funding, or other required prior approvals
are obtained. No such agreement shall be used unless provision for installment payments is
included in the solicitation document.

Section 3-112 Purchase of Items Separately from Construction Contract

The Executive Director is authorized to determine whether a supply item or group of supply items
shall be included as a part of, or procured separately from, any contract for construction.

[31]




Section 3-113 Purchase of Standard Commercial Products

If the Contracting Officer makes a determination that the items or services to be purchased
qualify as Commercial Products in accordance with the definition at Section 1-301 (39), the
Procurement shall be fully and openly competed, whenever practicable.

Section 3-114 Maximizing Participation of Small Business Private Enterprises

Section 3-114.01 Purpose and General Requirements

ATP adopts this program to require and encourage, to the maximum extent feasible, the
participation of small business private enterprises in ATP procurements. This program is
reasonably designed to increase the participation of disadvantaged, minority, and women
owned business enterprises in ATP procurements through race-neutral means.

This section sets out parameters and guidelines regarding Joint Venture formation and
participation in ATP Procurements. The determination whether to incorporate solicitation

considerations for such entities shall be made by the Contracting Officer.

Section 3-114.02 Utilization of Joint Ventures

(1) Where appropriate, the Contracting Officer shall encourage the participation of Joint
Ventures in Procurements.

(2) When the Contracting Officer determines, in writing, that appropriate business
circumstances warrant, the Contracting Officer may require that Bids or Proposals in
response to the solicitation be submitted by Joint Ventures. By inserting such language
in the solicitation, any bid or offer submitted in response to the solicitation that does not
comply with this requirement shall be determined nonresponsive and rejected.

(a) The Executive Director or his/her Designee may promulgate ATP detailed
guidelines for determining the types of Procurements for which the Contracting
Officer may require responses by Joint Ventures. As a general guideline, such
Procurements shall involve one or more of the following:

(i) Large, complex, and/or multi-disciplinary statements of work;
(ii) Work to be performed at more than one ATP site;
(iii) Long-term repetitive task performance for a variety of tasks;

(iv) Efficiency-enhancing activities; or

(v) Requirements related to the quality or competence of the work.

[32]




(3)

(b) In adopting guidelines for determining the types of Procurements for which the
Contracting Officer shall require responses by Joint Ventures, the Executive
Director shall be guided by the Antitrust Guidelines for Collaboration Among
Competitors published by the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of
Justice or any equivalent document.

The requiring activity (“customer”) shall make an initial determination whether a
Procurement is appropriate for Joint Ventures at the time the requirement is identified
for inclusion in ATP Procurement Plan. This determination shall be provided to the Board
and notated for that Procurement in ATP Procurement Plan.

(4) When the customer provides the appropriate funding and Procurement requisition to the
Contracting Officer to commence the solicitation process, the Contracting Officer shall
initially review the requirement to ascertain if the customer made a determination
concerning the utilization of Joint Ventures for the solicitation and work performance.
(a) If the customer identified the Procurement as appropriate for the use of Joint

Ventures, the Contracting Officer shall review that determination and either
concur or non-concur. If the Contracting Officer concurs with the customer's
determination, Subsection (c) shall apply. If the Contracting Officer non-concurs,
then the reasons shall be written and placed in the Procurement File.

(b) If the customer did not identify the Procurement as appropriate for the use of
Joint Ventures, the Contracting Officer shall make the determination. If the
Contracting Officer determines that the use of Joint Ventures is appropriate to the
specific Procurement, the Contracting Officer shall prepare a written
determination for the Procurement File.

(5) The Contracting Officer’'s determination must be documented in writing in the
Procurement File and comply with applicable statutory and regulatory criteria for
conducting ATP Procurements.

Section 3-115 Ensuring Necessary and Non-Duplicative Purchases

(1)

ATP shall endeavor to acquire only property and services that are necessary and non-
duplicative. To determine its reasonably expected Procurement needs, ATP shall:

(a) determine the Procurement requirements necessary to sustain ATP operations
through the upcoming fiscal year during the annual budget process; and

(b)  carry out long range Procurement planning to identify the Procurement
requirements of ATP.

[33]




(2) Any additional Procurement requirements identified outside of the processes described
in (1) above should be submitted to the Procurement Department.

(3) The Procurement Department will review the Procurement requirements identified in
accordance with (1) and (2) above and take the following further steps as appropriate:

(a) Consider consolidating or breaking out Procurements to obtain a more
economical purchase and avoiding purchase of unnecessary or duplicative items.

(b) Where appropriate, analyze lease versus purchase alternatives.

(c) Conduct any other appropriate analysis to determine the most economical
approach.

(d) Consider FTA guidance on spare ratios.

(e) Prohibit adding quantities or options solely to permit assignment to another

party at a later date.

(f) Consider various Procurement sources, including those available under interlocal
agreements, where appropriate to foster greater economy and efficiency.

There considerations do not prohibit ATP from splitting Procurements to foster greater
opportunities for DBEs, small and minority firms, and women business enterprises.

(4) Where appropriate in construction contracts of sufficient size to offer reasonable
opportunities for cost reductions, ATP shall consider inclusion of value engineering
clauses.

Section 3-200 Methods of Source Selection

ATP may use and consider various Procurement sources, including, but not limited to:

(a) State contracts awarded competitively for the benefit of all State agencies (such as DIR,
HGACBuy, Texas Multiple Award Schedule Program, The Cooperative Purchasing
Network, and Buy Board);

(b) Another state’s cooperative Procurement contract, including purchases made pursuant
to Section 3019 of the FAST Act;

(c) Cooperative Procurement contracts that are purchasing schedules between a state or
eligible nonprofit with one or more vendors for rolling stock;

(d) Specified purchasing programs under the General Services Administration (“GSA”)
Federal Supply Schedule to the extent authorized by federal law (which may include the

[34]




Cooperative Purchasing Program for information technology, law enforcement, and
security solutions; disaster purchases; and public-health-emergency purchases);

(e) Federal excess and surplus property;
(f) Assignment of another entity’s contract rights

Cooperative Contract Requirements

If buying a product that is other than the lowest offered price for that product under all
cooperative contracts, the Procurement Department must document why the higher-priced
product must be purchased. Prior to purchase, the Procurement Department must also
determine that the State contracts were awarded with full and open competition and were not
subject to geographical preferences (e.g., giving in-state vendors a bidding preference) because
some states have such practices that are prohibited by FTA.

GSA Schedule Requirements

The GSA schedule does not require vendors to comply with FTA’s Buy America regulations, and
it may include manufactured products that are not eligible for reimbursement of FTA funds. In
these cases, ATP must ensure that all Buy America certifications or waivers are received before
awarding a contract or purchase order.

When using the GSA schedule to acquire property or services, ATP can fulfill the requirement for
full and open competition by seeking offers from at least three vendors. ATP must still determine

that any purchase from the GSA schedule is a fair and reasonable price.

Acquisition Through Assigned Contract Rights (Piggybacking)

ATP may acquire contract rights through assignment by another entity. If ATP does so, it must
ensure:

(@) The underlying contract complies with FTA requirements prohibiting excessive options;

(b) The underlying contract includes an assignment clause with a clear right to assign the
guantities and that those quantities are still permitted to be purchased under the original
contract terms;

(c) ATP documents that the price of the contract rights being assigned is fair and reasonable
at the time of the assignment (no price analysis is required if ATP can confirm that a price
analysis was properly prepared for the original contract);

(d) No Cardinal Changes are made;

(e) Domestic content meets the applicable requirements;




(f) All other Federal Requirements are complied with; and

(g) It obtainsa complete Procurement File for the underlying Procurement from the assigning

agency.

ATP must also consider, prior to using another entity’s contract rights, if other approaches would
better allow it to meet its particular needs. Where the assigned contract includes options, ATP
shall only exercise the option right if it has determined that: (i) the terms and conditions of the
option to be exercised are substantially similar to the terms and conditions as stated in the
original contract at the time of award; and(ii) the option price is better than prices available in
the market or that when it intends to exercise the option, the option is more advantageous.

Section 3-201

(1)

(2)

General Requirements

Chapter 451 of the Texas Transportation Code provides:

(a)

(b)

The Board of Directors shall have authority and responsibility to advertise, enter
into, and amend contracts for the purchase, or lease of materials or services.
Chapter 451 also authorizes the Board of Directors to adopt rules governing
Procurement policy including defining the terms in and implementing ATP’s
Procurement Policy & Guidelines.

the procedures, guidelines, or rules adopted under this section confer no rights on
an actual or potential bidder, offeror, contractor, or other person except as
expressly stated in the procedures, policy, guidelines, or rules.

Section 451 of the Texas Transportation Code provides as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Except as provided by subsection (f), ATP may not award a contract for
construction, services, or property, other than real property, except through the
solicitation of competitive sealed bids or proposals ensuring full and open
competition.

ATP shall describe in a solicitation each factor to be used to evaluate a bid or
proposal and give the factor's relative importance.

The Board may authorize the negotiation of a contract without competitive sealed
bids or proposals if:

(1) the aggregate amount involved in the contract is $50,000 or less;

(2) the contractis for construction for which no more than one bid or proposal is
received;

[36]




(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

the contract is for services or property for which there is only one source or
for which it is otherwise impracticable to obtain competition;

the contractis to respond to an emergency for which the public exigency does
not permit the delay incident to the competitive process;

the contract is for personal of professional services or services for which
competitive bidding is precluded by law; or

the contract, without regard to form and which may include bonds, notes,
loan agreements, or other obligations, is for the purpose of borrowing money
or is a part of a transaction relating to the borrowing of money, including:

(A) a credit support agreement, such as a line or letter of credit or other
debt guaranty;

(B) a bond, note, debt sale or purchase, trustee, paying agent,
remarketing agent, indexing agent, or similar agreement;

(C) an agreement with a securities dealer, broker, or underwriter; and
(D) any other contract or agreement considered by the executive

committee to be appropriate or necessary in support of ATP's
financing activities.

(3) All contracts of ATP shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding pursuant to Section
3-202 (Competitive Sealed Bidding), except as provided in:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(8)

Section 3-202

section 2-101(5) (contracts for legal services);

section 3-203 (Competitive Sealed Proposals);

section 3-204 (Small Purchase);

section 3-205 (Sole Source Procurement);

section 3-206 (Emergency Procurements);

section 3-207 (Statutory Professional Services); or

section 5-500 (Architect-Engineer and Land Surveying Services).

Competitive Sealed Bidding




Section 3-202.01 General Requirements

The competitive sealed bidding method is the preference for the Procurement of property,
services, or construction. The Contracting Officer will make a determination whether
competitive sealed bidding is appropriate on a Procurement-by-Procurement basis taking into
the relevant circumstances including, but not limited to, whether: (i) a precise specification is
available, (ii) two or more responsible bidders are willing to compete, (iii) the Procurement
generally lends itself to a firm fixed price contract, (iv) selection can be made on the basis of
price, and (v) Discussions are not expected to be necessary. The provisions of this Section 3-202
apply to every Procurement made by competitive sealed bidding, including multi-step sealed
bidding, unless otherwise determined by the Contracting Officer, subject to compliance with
applicable law and any applicable Federal Requirements.

Section 3-202.02 The Invitation for Bids

(2) An Invitation for Bids shall be used to initiate a competitive sealed bid Procurement.
(2) The Invitation for Bids shall include the following:

(a) instructions and information to bidders concerning the bid submission
requirements, including the time and date set for receipt of bids, the address of
the office to which bids are to be delivered, the maximum time for bid acceptance
by ATP, and any other special information;

(b) the Purchase Description, all evaluation factors and their relative importance,
delivery or performance schedule and such inspection and acceptance
requirements as are not included in the purchase description; and

(c) the contract terms and conditions, including warranty and bonding or other
security requirements, as applicable.
(3) Bid receipt times for construction contracts should be no earlier than 2:00 p.m. on

Tuesday through Friday, and the day for receipt of bids shall not be the day after a legal
holiday in order to facilitate receipt and evaluation of subcontractor bids by prospective
general contractors.

(4) The Invitation for Bids may incorporate documents by reference provided that the
Invitation for Bids specifies where such documents can be obtained.

(5) The Invitation for Bids shall require bidders to acknowledge the receipt of all amendments
issued.

[38]




Section 3-202.03 Bidding Time

Bidding time is the period of time between the date of distribution of the Invitation for Bids and
the time and date set for receipt of bids. In each case, bidding time will be set to provide bidders
sufficient time to prepare their bids. A minimum of 21 days shall be provided, unless a shorter
time is deemed necessary for a particular Procurement as determined in writing by the
Contracting Officer.

Section 3-202.04 Bidder Submissions

(1)

(2)

(3)

The Invitation for Bids shall provide a form which shall include space in which the bid price
shall be inserted and which the bidder shall sign and submit along with all other necessary
submissions.

The Invitation for Bids will state whether electronic bids will be accepted. Electronic bids
will be received, opened, and recorded in a manner consistent with Section 3-202.11
(Receipt, Opening, and Recording of Bids).

Bid samples or descriptive literature may be required when it is necessary to evaluate
whether the items offered meet the Purchase Description of the Invitation for Bids and/or
to establish with more precision what the bidder proposes to furnish. The Invitation for
Bids shall state that bid samples or descriptive literature should not be submitted unless
expressly requested and that, regardless of any attempt by a bidder to condition the bid,
unsolicited bid samples or descriptive literature which are submitted at the bidder's risk
will not be examined or tested and will not be deemed to vary any of the provisions of
the Invitation for Bids.

Section 3-202.05 Public Notice

(1)

(2)

Invitations for Bids or notices of the availability of Invitations for Bids shall be publicly
advertised and furnished to a sufficient number of bidders for the purpose of securing
competition. Notices of availability shall indicate where, when, and for how long
Invitations for Bids may be obtained; generally, describe the property, service, or
construction desired; and may contain other appropriate information.

Any Procurement exceeding the small purchases threshold for which competitive sealed
bids or proposals are required by law, as described in Section 3-201(1), shall require notice
published at least once each week for two consecutive weeks. Notice shall be advertised
in a local newspaper, on the internet, in trade journals, etc. as is deemed appropriate
by the Contracting Officer. If practicable, the notice will be published in a
newspaper of general circulation at least once each week for two consecutive weeks
before the date set for the bid opening and the first notice must be published at least
15 days before the date set for the bid opening.

[39]




(3) A copy of the Invitation for Bids shall be made available for public inspection at the office
of ATP.

Section 3-202.06 Bidders Lists

ATP does not maintain a bidders list.

Section 3-202.07 Pre-Bid Conferences

Pre-bid conferences may be conducted to explain the Procurement requirements. If the
Contracting Officer determines to hold a pre-bid conference, it shall be announced to all
prospective bidders known to have received an Invitation for Bids. The conference should be held
long enough after the Invitation for Bids has been issued to allow bidders to become familiar with
it but sufficiently before bid opening to allow consideration of the conference results in preparing
their bids. Nothing stated at the pre-bid conference shall change the Invitation for Bids unless a
change is made by written amendment as provided in Section 3-202.08 (Amendments to
Invitations for Bids), and the Invitation for Bids or the notice of pre-bid conference shall so
provide. A summary of the conference or the presentation given by ATP shall be supplied to all
those prospective bidders known to have received an Invitation for Bids. If a transcript is made,
it shall be a public record.

Section 3-202.08 Amendments to Invitations for Bids

Amendments to Invitations for Bids shall be identified as such and shall require that the bidder
acknowledge receipt of all amendments issued. The amendment shall reference the portions of
the Invitation for Bids it amends. Amendments should be used to:

(2) make any changes in the Invitation for Bids such as changes in quantity, Purchase
Descriptions, delivery schedules, and opening dates;

(2) correct defects or ambiguities; or
(3) furnish to other bidders information given to one bidder if such information will assist the
other bidders in submitting bids or if the lack of such information would prejudice the other

bidders.

Section 3-202.09 Pre-Opening Modification or Withdrawal of Bids

(1) Bids may be modified or withdrawn by written notice received in the office designated in
the Invitation for Bids prior to the time and date set for bid opening. A bid modification
or withdrawal received by ATP prior to the time and date set for bid opening will be
effective if there is evidence demonstrating that the modification or withdrawal was
received by ATP prior to the time and date set for bid opening.

[40]




(2)

(3)

If a bid is withdrawn in accordance with this section, the bid security, if any, shall be
returned to the bidder.

All documents relating to the modification or withdrawal of bids shall be made a part of
the Procurement File.

Section 3-202.10 Late Bids, Withdrawals, and Modifications

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Any bid received at the location designated in the Invitation for Bids after the time and
date set for receipt of bids is late. Any withdrawal or modification of a bid received at the
location designated in the Invitation for Bids after the time and date set for opening of
bids at the place designated for opening is late.

No late bid, late modification, or late withdrawal will be considered unless received
before contract award and the bid, modification, or withdrawal would have been timely
but for the action or inaction of ATP personnel.

Bidders submitting late bids that will not be considered for award shall be so notified as
soon as practicable.

Records shall be made and kept in the Procurement File for each late bid, late
modification, or late withdrawal.

Section 3-202.11 Receipt, Opening, and Recording of Bids

(1)

(2)

(3)

Upon receipt, each bid and modification shall be time-stamped but not opened and shall
be stored in a secure place until the time and date set for bid opening.

Bids and modifications shall be opened publicly, in the presence of one or more witnesses,
at the time, date, and place designated in the Invitation for Bids. The name of each bidder,
the bid price, and such other information as is deemed appropriate by the Contracting
Officer shall be read aloud or otherwise made available. Such information also shall be
recorded at the time of bid opening; that is, the bids shall be tabulated or a bid abstract
made. The names and addresses of required witnesses also shall be recorded at the
opening. The opened bids shall be available for public inspection except to the extent the
bidder designates trade secrets or other proprietary data to be confidential as set forth
in this section and Section 1-401 (Public Access to Procurement Information). Material so
designated shall accompany the bid and shall be readily separable from the bid in order
to facilitate public inspection of the nonconfidential portion of the bid. Prices and makes
and model or catalogue numbers of the items offered, deliveries, and terms of payment
shall be publicly available at the time of bid opening regardless of any designation to the
contrary.

The Contracting Officer shall examine the bids to determine the validity of any requests




for nondisclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary data identified in writing in
accordance with Section 1-401 (Public Access to Procurement Information) and the other
requirements of this Policy, guideline and applicable law. If the Contracting Officer and
the relevant bidder do not agree as to the disclosure of data, the Contracting Officer shall
inform the bidder in writing what portions of the bids will be disclosed and that, unless
the bidder protests under Chapter 4, 4-300 (Administrative Remedies) of this Policy, the
bids will be so disclosed. The bids shall be open to public inspection subject to any
continuing prohibition on the disclosure of confidential data.

Section 3-202.12 Mistakes in Bids

(1)

(2)

(3)

Correction or withdrawal of a bid because of an inadvertent mistake in the bid requires
careful consideration to protect the integrity of the competitive bidding system and to
ensure fairness. If the mistake is attributable to an error in judgment, the bid may not be
corrected. Bid correction or withdrawal by reason of a nonjudgmental mistake is
permissible but only to the extent it is not contrary to the interest of ATP and would not
be prejudicial to other bidders.

A bidder may correct mistakes discovered before the time and date set for bid opening
by withdrawing or correcting the bid as provided in Section 3-202.09 (Pre-Opening
Modification or Withdrawal of Bids).

When the Contracting Officer knows or has reason to conclude that a mistake has been
made, such officer should advise the bidder why a mistake is suspected and request the
bidder to confirm the bid. Situations in which confirmation of bids should be requested
include obvious errors apparent on the face of the bid or a bid unreasonably lower than
the other bids submitted or ATP's estimate. If the bidder alleges mistake, the bid may be
corrected or withdrawn if the conditions set forth in this section are met.

(4) This subsection sets forth procedures to be applied in three situations described in this

subsection in which mistakes in bids are discovered after the time and date set for bid
opening but before award.

(a) Minor Informalities. Minor informalities are matters of form rather than
substance evident from the bid document, or insignificant mistakes that can be
waived or corrected without prejudice to other bidders; that is, the effect on price,
guantity, quality, delivery, or contractual conditions is negligible. The Contracting
Officer shall waive such informalities or allow the bidder to correct them
depending on which is in the best interest of ATP. Examples of minor informalities
include the failure of a bidder to:

(i) return the number of signed bids required by the Invitation for Bids;

(ii)  sign the bid, but only if the unsigned bid is accompanied by other material

[42]




(5)

(6)

clearly indicating the bidder's intent to be bound; or

(iii)  acknowledge receipt of an amendment to the Invitation for Bids, but only

if:
(A) itis clear from the bid that the bidder received the amendment and
intended to be bound by its terms; or
(B) the amendment involved had a negligible effect on price, quantity,

quality, or delivery.

(b) Mistakes Where Intended Correct Bid is Evident. If the mistake and the intended
correct bid are clearly evident on the face of the bid document, the bid shall be
corrected to the intended correct bid and may not be withdrawn. Examples of
mistakes that may be clearly evident on the face of the bid document are
typographical errors, errors in extending unit prices, transposition errors, and
arithmetical errors.

(c) Mistakes Where Intended Correct Bid is Not Evident. A bidder may be permitted
to withdraw a low bid if:

(i) a mistake is clearly evident on the face of the bid document but the
intended correct bid is not similarly evident; or

(ii) the bidder submits proof which clearly and convincingly demonstrates that
a mistake was made.

Mistakes discovered after award shall not be corrected except where the Procurement
Director makes a written determination that it would be unconscionable not to allow the
mistake to be corrected.

When a bid is corrected or withdrawn, or correction or withdrawal is denied, the
Contracting Officer shall prepare a written determination to be kept on the Procurement
File showing that the relief was granted or denied in accordance with this Policy.

Section 3-202.13 Bid Evaluation

(1)

Evaluation Criteria. Bids shall be unconditionally accepted without alteration or
correction, except as authorized by the Policy and Guidelines. Bids shall be evaluated
based on the requirements set forth in the Invitation for Bids, which may include criteria
to determine acceptability (such as inspection, testing, quality, workmanship, delivery,
and suitability for a particular purpose) and the bid price (such as discounts,
transportation costs, and total or life-cycle costs). All criteria that will be considered in
evaluation for award shall be objectively measurable. The Invitation for Bids shall set forth

[43]




(2)

(3)

(4)

all evaluation factors for source selection and the relative importance of each factor. No
factor may be used in bid evaluation that is not set forth in the Invitation for Bids.

Responsiveness. To be considered for award, a bid must be "responsive"; i.e., comply in
all material respects with the Invitation for Bids (see Section 3-101(12) defining
"responsive bidder"). Bids must be responsive so that all bidders may stand on an equal
footing and the integrity of the competitive Procurement system may be maintained.
Only minor informalities in bids described in Section 3- 202.12(4)(a) can be contained in
bids to be considered for award. Except as otherwise authorized by this Policy, examples
of issues that may result in a nonresponsive bid include:

(a) failure to sign the bid;
(b) failure to acknowledge receipt of a material amendment to the Invitation for Bids;

(c) bids containing any exception to, or any qualification of, any material requirement
of the Invitation for Bids;

(d) bids imposing any condition or altering the rights of ATP (e.g., conditioned on the
occurrence of any event, the receipt of material or parts, "negotiation" of the
warranty, or nondisclosure of information);

(e) failure to furnish items or information required to be submitted with the bid;

(f) bids which are indefinite, uncertain, or ambiguous (the consideration of which
would give the bidder an unfair competitive advantage); and

(g) bids containing unsolicited descriptive literature if the bid creates any uncertainty
as to whether the bidder is offering to conform to the specifications.

Responsibility. Responsibility of prospective contractors is covered by Section 3-400
(Responsibility) of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines.

Acceptability. The Invitation for Bids shall set forth any evaluation criterion to be used in
determining product acceptability. It may require the submission of bid samples,
descriptive literature, technical data, or other material. It may also provide for

accomplishing any of the following prior to award:

(a) inspection or testing of a product prior to award for such characteristics as quality
or workmanship;

(b) examination of such elements as appearance, finish, taste, or feel; or

(c) other examinations to determine whether it conforms with any other purchase

[44]




(5)

(6)

(7)

description requirements.

The acceptability evaluation is not conducted for the purpose of determining whether
one bidder's item is superior to another but only to determine that a bidder's offering is
acceptable as set forth in the Invitation for Bids. Any bidder's offering which does not
meet the acceptability requirements shall be rejected as non-responsive.

Lowest bid. Following determination of product acceptability as set forth in this section
(if any is required), bids will be evaluated to determine which bidder offers the lowest
cost to ATP in accordance with the evaluation criteria set forth in the Invitation for Bids.

Nothing in this section shall be deemed to permit contract award to a bidder submitting
a higher quality item than that designated in the Invitation for Bids if such bidder is not
also the lowest bidder as determined under this section. Further, this section does not
permit negotiations with any bidder.

Nonresident bidders. Pursuant to Chapter 2252, Subchapter A, of the Government Code,
as amended, ATP may not award a contract for general construction, improvements,
services, or public works projects or purchases of supplies, materials, or equipment to a
nonresident bidder unless the nonresident's bid is lower than the lowest bid submitted
by a responsible Texas resident bidder by the same amount that a Texas resident bidder
would be required to underbid a nonresident bidder to obtain a comparable contract in
the state in which the nonresident's principal place of business is located.

(a) "Nonresident bidder", for purposes of this section, means a bidder whose
principal place of business is not in Texas but excludes a contractor whose ultimate
parent company or majority owner has its principal place of business in Texas.

(b) "Texas resident bidder", for purposes of this section, means a bidder whose
principal place of business is in Texas and includes a contractor whose ultimate

parent company or majority owner has its principal place of business in Texas.

(b) This subsection (7) does not apply to a contract involving federal funds.

Section 3-202.14 Low Tie Bids

(1)

(2)

Low tie bids are low responsive bids from responsible bidders that are identical in price
and which meet all the requirements and criteria set forth in the Invitation for Bids.

In accordance with Texas Local Government Code Section 271.901, as amended, award
upon receipt of low tie bids will be made by the casting of lots, except as set forth below,
and all other bids will be rejected. The process for casting lots shall be administered in a
manner proscribed by the Chair of the ATP Board. The casting of lots shall be conducted
at an ATP Board meeting open to the public.

[45]




(3) If only one of the businesses submitting low tie bids is a resident of the city of Austin or
Project Connect service area, ATP will select that bidder in lieu of casting lots. If two or
more businesses submitting low tie bids are residents of the city of Austin or Project
Connect service area, ATP will select one of those bidders by the casting of lots.

(4) Records shall be made of all Invitation for Bids on which tie bids are received showing at
least the following information:

(a) the identification number of the Invitation for Bids;

(b) the property, service, or construction item; and

(c) alisting of all the bidders and the prices submitted.
A copy of each such record shall be provided to legal counsel and filed in the Procurement File.
Section 3-202.15 Award

(1) The contract shall be awarded with reasonable promptness by written notice to the
lowest responsible and responsive bidder whose bid meets the requirements and criteria
set forth in the Invitation for Bids. In the event all bids for a construction project exceed
available funds as certified by the appropriate fiscal officer and the low responsive and
responsible bid does not exceed such funds by more than five percent, the Executive
Director is authorized in situations where time or economic considerations preclude re-
solicitation of work of a reduced scope to negotiate an adjustment of the bid price
(including changes in the bid requirements) with the low responsive and responsible
bidder in order to bring the bid within the amount of available funds.

(2) Following award, a record showing the basis for determining the successful bidder shall
be made a part of the Procurement File.

(3) All new contract awards made under this section shall be reported monthly by the
Executive Director in a written report to the Board.
Section 3-202.16 Publicizing Awards

Written notice of award shall be sent to the successful bidder. In Procurements over $50,000,
each unsuccessful bidder shall be notified of the award. Notice of the award shall be made
available to the public.

Section 3-202.17 Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding

(1) Multi-step competitive sealed bidding is a two-phase process consisting of a technical first
phase composed of one or more steps in which bidders submit unpriced technical offers
to be evaluated by ATP ("Phase One") and a second phase in which those bidders whose

[46]




(2)

technical offers are determined to be acceptable during the first phase have their price
bids considered ("Phase Two"). The process is designed to obtain the benefits of
competitive sealed bidding by award of a contract to the lowest responsive, responsible
bidder and, at the same time, obtain the benefits of the competitive sealed proposals
procedure through the solicitation of technical offers and the conduct of discussions to
evaluate and determine the acceptability of technical offers.

The multi-step competitive sealed bidding method may be used when it is not practical
to prepare initially a definitive purchase description which will be suitable to permit an
award based on price. Multi-step competitive sealed bidding may be used when it is
considered desirable:

(a) to invite and evaluate technical offers to determine their acceptability to fulfill the
purchase description requirements;

(b) to conduct discussions for the purposes of facilitating understanding of the
technical offer and purchase description requirements and, where appropriate,
obtain supplemental information, permit amendments of technical offers, or
amend the purchase description;

(c) to accomplish the purposes in subsections (a) and (b), above, prior to soliciting
priced bids; and

(d) to award the contract to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder in
accordance with the competitive sealed bidding procedures set out in this Section
3-202 (Competitive Sealed Bidding).

Section 3-202.18 Pre-Bid Conferences in Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding

Prior to the submission of unpriced technical offers, a pre-bid conference as contemplated by
Section 3-202.07 (Pre-Bid Conferences) may be conducted by the Contracting Officer. The
Contracting Officer may also hold a conference of all potential bidders in accordance with Section
3-202.07 at any time during the evaluation of the unpriced technical offers.
Section 3-202.19 Phase One of Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding

(1)

Multi-step competitive sealed bidding shall be initiated by the issuance of an Invitation
for Bids in the form required by Section 3-202.02 (The Invitation for Bids), except as
hereinafter provided. In addition to the requirements set forth in Section 3-202.02, the
multi-step Invitation for Bids shall state:

(a) that unpriced technical offers are requested;

(b) whether priced bids are to be submitted at the same time as technical offers (if
they are, such priced bids shall be submitted in a separate sealed envelope);

[47]




(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(c) that it is a multi-step competitive sealed bid Procurement and priced bids will be
considered only in Phase Two and only from those bidders whose technical offers
are found acceptable in Phase One;

(d) the criteria to be used in the evaluation of the technical offers;

(e) that ATP, to the extent the Contracting Officer finds necessary, may conduct oral
or written discussions regarding the technical offers;

(f) that bidders may designate those portions of the technical offers which contain
trade secrets or other proprietary data which are to remain confidential, subject
to the Section 1-401 Public Access to Procurement information), Section 3-202.11
(Receipt, Opening, and Recording of Bids) and the other requirements of this
Policy and applicable law; and

(8) that the item being procured shall be furnished generally in accordance with the
bidder's technical offer as found to be finally acceptable and shall meet the
requirements of the Invitation for Bids.

After receipt of technical offers, amendments to the Invitation for Bids shall be distributed
only to bidders who submitted technical offers, and they shall be permitted to submit
new technical offers or to amend those submitted. If, in the opinion of the Contracting
Officer, a contemplated amendment will significantly change the nature of the
Procurement, the Invitation for Bids shall be cancelled in accordance with Section 3-300
(Cancellation of Solicitations; Rejection of Bids or Proposals) of this Policy and a new
Invitation for Bids issued.

Technical offers shall not be opened publicly but shall be opened in front of two or more
ATP employees. Such offers shall not be disclosed to unauthorized persons.

The technical offers submitted by bidders shall be evaluated solely in accordance with the
criteria set forth in the Invitation for Bids. The unpriced technical offers shall be
categorized as:

(a) acceptable;

(b) potentially acceptable (that is, reasonably susceptible of being made acceptable);
or

(c) unacceptable (the Contracting Officer shall record in writing the basis for finding

an offer unacceptable and make it part of the Procurement File).

The Contracting Officer may conduct discussions with any bidder who submits an
acceptable or potentially acceptable technical offer. Discussions shall be conducted in

[48]




(6)

(7)

accordance with the provisions of Section 3-203.15(3). Once discussions are begun, any
bidder who has not been notified that its offer has been finally found unacceptable may
submit supplemental information amending its technical offer (and any price proposal
previously submitted) at any time until the closing date established by the Contracting
Officer. Such submission may be made at the request of the Contracting Officer or upon
the bidder's own initiative.

The Contracting Officer may initiate "Phase Two" of the multi-step competitive sealed
bidding process without technical discussions if, in the Contracting Officer's opinion, there
are sufficient acceptable technical offers to ensure effective price competition in Phase
Two. If the Contracting Officer finds that such is not the case, the Contracting Officer shall
issue an amendment to the Invitation for Bids or engage in technical discussions as set
forth below.

When the Contracting Officer determines a bidder's technical offer to be unacceptable,
such offeror shall be notified and shall not be afforded an additional opportunity to
supplement its technical offer.

Section 3-202.20 Mistakes During Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding

Mistakes may be corrected or bids may be withdrawn during Phase One at any time. During Phase
Two, mistakes may be corrected or withdrawal permitted in accordance with Section 3-202.12
(Mistakes in Bids).

Section 3-202.21 Phase Two of Multi-Step Competitive Sealed Bidding

(1)

(2)

Upon the completion of Phase One, the Contracting Officer shall either:

(a) open the priced bids submitted in Phase One (if priced bids were required to be
submitted) from bidders whose unpriced technical offers were found to be
acceptable; or

(b) if priced bids have not been submitted, technical discussions have been held, or
amendments to the Invitation for Bids have been issued, invite each acceptable
bidder to submit a priced bid.

Phase Two shall be conducted as any other competitive sealed bid Procurement except:

(a) as specifically set forth in Section 3-202.17 (Multi-Step Competitive Sealed
Bidding) through this Section 3-202.21; and

(b) no public notice need be given of this invitation to submit priced bids because such
notice previously was given.




Section 3-203 Competitive Sealed Proposals

Section 3-203.01 Authority for Use

When the Contracting Officer determines in writing that the use of competitive sealed bidding is
either not practical or not advantageous to ATP, a contract may be entered into by competitive
sealed proposals. The provisions of this Section 3-203 apply to every Procurement made by
competitive sealed proposals unless otherwise determined by the Contracting Officer, subject to
compliance with applicable law and any applicable Federal Requirements.

Section 3-203.02 Conditions for Use

(1)

(2)

(3)

As used in this section, the words "practicable" and “advantageous" are to be given
ordinary dictionary meanings. The term "practicable" denotes what may be accomplished
or put into practical application. "Advantageous" connotes a judgmental assessment of
what is in ATP's best interest. Competitive sealed bidding may be practicable (that is,
reasonably possible) but not necessarily advantageous (that is, in ATP's best interest).

Competitive sealed bidding is the preferred method of Procurement; however, if it is not
practicable, competitive sealed proposals may be used. If competitive sealed bidding is
practicable, it may then be considered whether competitive sealed bidding is
advantageous. If competitive sealed bidding is determined not to be advantageous,
competitive sealed proposals may be used when authorized as provided in this section.
The key element in determining advantageousness is the need for flexibility. The
competitive sealed proposals method differs from competitive sealed bidding in three
important ways:

(a) it provides considerably more flexibility in utilizing evaluation factors other than
price in source selection;

(b) it permits discussions with competing offerors and changes in their proposals,
including price; and
(c) it allows comparative judgmental evaluations to be made based upon

predetermined evaluation criteria when selecting among acceptable proposals for
award of the contract.

An important difference between competitive sealed proposals and competitive sealed
bidding is the finality of initial offers. Under competitive sealed proposals, alterations in
the nature of a proposal, and in prices, may be made after proposals are opened. Such
changes are not allowed, however, under competitive sealed bidding (except to the
extent allowed in the first phase of multi-step competitive sealed bidding). Therefore,
unless it is anticipated that a contract can be awarded solely on the basis of information
submitted by bidders at the time of opening, competitive sealed bidding is not practicable
or advantageous. Another consideration concerns the type of evaluations needed after

[50]




(4)

(5)

offers are received. Where evaluation factors involve the relative abilities of offerors to
perform, including degrees of technical or professional experience or expertise, use of
competitive sealed proposals is the appropriate Procurement method. Similarly, such
method is appropriate where the need to be satisfied involves weighing design and
aesthetic values to the extent that price is a secondary consideration. Further, where the
types of property, services, or construction may require the use of comparative,
judgmental evaluations to evaluate them adequately, use of competitive sealed proposals
is the appropriate method.

Competitive sealed bidding is not practicable unless the nature of the Procurement
permits award to a low bidder who agrees by its bid to perform without condition or
reservation in accordance with the purchase description, delivery or performance
schedule, and all other terms and conditions of the Invitation for Bids. Factors to be
considered in determining whether competitive sealed bidding is not practicable include:

(a) whether the contract needs to be other than a fixed-price type;

(b) whether oral or written discussions may need to be conducted with offerors
concerning the technical and price aspects of their proposals;

(c) whether offerors may need to be afforded the opportunity to revise their
proposals, including price;

(d) whether award may need to be based upon a comparative evaluation as stated in
the Request for Proposals of differing price, quality, and contractual factors in
order to determine the most advantageous offering to ATP. Quality factors include
technical and performance capability and the content of the technical proposal;
and

(e) whether the primary consideration in determining award may not be price.

A determination may be made to use competitive sealed proposals if it is determined that
itis not advantageous to ATP (even though practicable) to use competitive sealed bidding.
Factors to be considered in determining whether competitive sealed bidding is not
advantageous include:

(a) if prior Procurements indicate that competitive sealed proposals may result in
more beneficial contracts for ATP; and

(b) whether the factors listed in subsections 4(b) through (e), above, are desirable in
conducting a Procurement rather than necessary; if they are, then such factors
may be used to support a determination that competitive sealed bidding is not
advantageous.

[51]




(6) When the Procurement Director has determined in writing, in accordance with Section 3-
305(3), that the use of negotiation after cancellation of an Invitation for Bids is
appropriate, the Contracting Officer may negotiate and make award without initiating a
new Procurement, provided the negotiated price is the lowest price offered by any
responsible offeror. If the negotiation is unsuccessful, the Contracting Officer shall
reestablish the Procurement as a Request for Proposals, and ensure that each bidder that
submitted a bid in response to the Invitation for Bids is given the opportunity to
participate.

Section 3-203.03 Determination of Categories

The determinations required by this section for the use of competitive sealed proposals may be
made by category of property, service, or construction item that it is either not practicable or not
advantageous to ATP to procure specified types of property, services, or construction by
competitive sealed bidding. Procurements of the specified types of property, services, or
construction then may be made by competitive sealed proposals based upon such determination.
The officer who made such determination may modify or revoke it at any time, and such
determination should be reviewed for current applicability from time to time.

Section 3-203.04 Content of the Request for Proposals

The Request for Proposals shall be prepared in accordance with Section 3-202.02 (The Invitation
for Bids) provided that it shall also include:

(1) a statement that discussions may be conducted with offerors who submit proposals
determined to be reasonably susceptible of being selected for award but that proposals

may be accepted without such discussions; and

(2) a statement of when and how price proposals should be submitted.

Section 3-203.05 Proposal Preparation Time

Proposal preparation time is the period of time between the date of distribution of the Request
for Proposals and the time and date set for receipt of Proposals. Proposal preparation time shall
be set to provide offerors sufficient time to prepare their proposals. A minimum of 21 days shall
be provided unless a shorter time is deemed necessary for a particular Procurement as
determined in writing by the Contracting Officer.

Section 3-203.06 Form of Proposal

The manner in which proposals are to be submitted, including any forms for that purpose, shall
be designated as a part of the Request for Proposals.




Section 3-203.07 Public Notice

Public notice shall be given by advertising and by distributing the Request for Proposals in the
same manner as provided for Invitation for Bids under Section 3-202.05 (Public Notice).

Section 3-203.08 Use of Bidders List

ATP does not maintain a bidders list.

Section 3-203.09 Pre-Proposal Conferences

Pre-proposal conferences may be conducted in accordance with Section 3-202.07 (Pre-Bid
Conferences). Any such conference should be held prior to submission of initial proposals.

Section 3-203.10 Amendments to Requests for Proposals

Amendments to Requests for Proposals may be made in accordance with Section 3-202.08
(Amendments to Invitations for Bids) prior to submission of proposals. After submission of
proposals, amendments may be made in accordance with Section 3-202.19 (Phase One of Multi-
Step Competitive Sealed Bidding).

Section 3-203.11 Modification or Withdrawal of Proposals

Proposals may be modified or withdrawn prior to the established due date in accordance with
Section 3-202.09 (Pre-Opening Modification or Withdrawal of Bids). For the purposes of this
section and Section 3-203.12 (Late Proposals, Withdrawals, and Modifications), the established
due date is either the time and date announced for receipt of proposals or receipt of
modifications to proposals, if any; or if discussions have begun, it is the time and date by which
best and final offers must be submitted; provided, that only offerors who submitted proposals
by the time announced for receipt of proposals may submit best and final offers.




Section 3-203.12 Late Proposals, Withdrawals, and Modifications

Any proposal, withdrawal, or modification received after the established due date at the place
designated for receipt of proposals is late. See Section 3-203.11 (Modification or Withdrawal of
Proposals) for the definition of "established due date." They may be considered only in
accordance with Section 3-202.10 (Late Bids, Withdrawals, and Modifications).

Section 3-203.13 Receipt and Registration of Proposals

Proposals and modifications shall be time-stamped upon receipt and held in a secure place until
the established due date. After the date established for receipt of proposals, a Register of
Proposals shall be prepared which shall include for all proposals the name of each offeror, the
number of modifications received, if any, and a description sufficient to identify the property,
service, or construction item offered. The Register of Proposals shall be open to public inspection
only after award of the contract. Proposals shall not be opened publicly but shall be opened in
the presence of two or more ATP representatives. Proposals and modifications shall be shown
only to ATP personnel, consultants, advisors, or other persons having a legitimate interest in
them.

Section 3-203.14 Evaluation of Proposals

(1) The Request for Proposals shall state all of the evaluation factors, including price, and
their relative importance.

(2) The evaluation shall be based on the evaluation factors set forth in the Request for
Proposals. Numerical rating systems are encouraged but are not required. If a numerical
rating system is used, however, it shall be set forth in the Request for Proposals. Factors
not specified in the Request for Proposals shall not be considered.

(3) Offerors whose proposals are unacceptable shall be so notified promptly.

Section 3-203.15 Proposal Discussions with Individual Offerors

(1) For the purposes of this section, the term "offerors" includes only those businesses
submitting proposals that are acceptable or potentially acceptable. The term shall not
include businesses who submitted unacceptable proposals.

(2) Discussions are held with offerors in order to:

(a) promote understanding of ATP's requirements and the offerors' proposals; and
(b) facilitate arriving at a contract that will be most advantageous to ATP taking into

consideration price and the other evaluation factors set forth in the Request for
Proposals.

[54]




(3)

(4)

Offerors shall be accorded fair and equal treatment with respect to any opportunity for
discussions and revisions of proposals. The Contracting Officer should establish
procedures and schedules for conducting discussions. Those aspects of proposals which
are unclear, improperly substantiated, or fail to meet the requirements of the solicitation
must be discussed with offerors. If during discussions there is a need for any substantial
clarification of or change in the Request for Proposals, the Request shall be amended to
incorporate such clarification or change. Any substantial oral clarification of a proposal
shall be reduced to writing by the offeror. In conducting discussions, the Contracting
Officer and other ATP representatives involved shall not engage in :

(a) technical leveling (i.e., helping offerors to improve their proposals through
successive rounds of discussions that point out those weaknesses that are the
offeror's sole responsibility or conducting discussions which eliminate the
technical discrimination necessary for source selection so that price, however
weighted, assumes disproportionate importance);

(b) technical transfusion (i.e., ATP's disclosure of technical information pertaining to
a proposal that results in improvement of a competing proposal); or

(c) auction techniques, such as :

(i) indicating to an offeror a cost or price that it must meet in order to obtain
further consideration;

(ii) advising an offeror of its price standing relative to another offeror
(however, it is permissible to inform an offeror that its cost or price is
considered by ATP to be too high or unrealistic); and

(iii) otherwise furnishing information about other offerors' Proposals,
including prices.

The Contracting Officer shall establish a common date and time for the submission of best
and final offers. To the extent practicable, best and final offers shall be submitted only
once. However, the Executive Director may make a written determination that it is in
ATP's best interest to conduct additional discussions or change ATP's requirements and
require another submission of best and final offers. Otherwise, no discussion of or
changes in the best and final offers shall be allowed prior to award. Offerors also shall be
informed that, if they do not submit a notice of withdrawal or another best and final offer,
their most recent offer will be construed as their best and final offer.

Section 3-203.16 Mistakes in Proposals

(1)

Proposals may be modified or withdrawn as provided in Section 3-203.11 (Modification
or Withdrawal of Proposals).

[55]




(2)

(3)

When the Contracting Officer knows or has reason to conclude before award that a
mistake has been made, the offeror should be requested to confirm the proposal. If the
offeror alleges mistake, the proposal may be corrected or withdrawn during any
discussions that are held or if the conditions set forth in subsections (3) through (5),
below, are met.

This subsection sets forth procedures to be applied in four situations in which mistakes in
proposals are discovered after receipt of proposals but before award.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Once discussions are commenced with any offeror or after best and final offers
are requested, any offeror may freely correct any mistake by modifying or
withdrawing the proposal until the time and date set for receipt of best and final
offers.

Minor informalities, unless otherwise corrected by an offeror as provided in this
section, shall be treated as they are under competitive sealed bidding. See Section
3-202.12 (Mistakes in Bids).

If discussions are not held, or if the best and final offers upon which award will be
made have been received, mistakes may be corrected and the intended correct
offer considered only if:

(i) the mistake and the intended correct offer are clearly evident on the face
of the proposal; in which event the proposal may not be withdrawn; or

(ii) the mistake is not clearly evident on the face of the proposal, but the
offeror submits proof which clearly and convincingly demonstrates both
the existence of a mistake and the intended correct offer, and such
correction would not displace another offeror or otherwise be contrary to
the fair and equal treatment of other offerors.

If discussions are not held, or if the best and final offers upon which award will be
made have been received, the offeror may be permitted to withdraw the proposal
if:

(i) the mistake is clearly evident on the face of the proposal and the intended
correct offer is not;

(ii) the offeror submits proof which clearly and convincingly demonstrates
that a mistake was made but does not demonstrate the intended correct

offer; or

(iii) the offeror submits proof which clearly and convincingly demonstrates the
intended correct offer, but to allow correction would be contrary to the

[56]




(4)

(5)

fair and equal treatment of the other offerors.

Mistakes shall not be corrected after award of the contract except where the
Procurement Director finds it would be unconscionable not to allow the mistake to be
corrected.

When a proposal is corrected or withdrawn, or correction or withdrawal is denied under
this subsection, the Contracting Officer shall prepare a written determination to be kept
on the Procurement File showing that the relief was granted or denied in accordance with
this Policy.

Section 3-203.17 Award

(1)

(2)

Award shall be made to the responsible offeror whose proposal is determined by the
Contracting Officer in writing to be the most advantageous to ATP taking into
consideration the price and evaluation factors set forth in the Request for Proposals.

(a) Debriefing of Unsuccessful Offerors. When requested by an unsuccessful offeror,
ATP will provide a debriefing following contract award utilizing the evaluation
matrix, documentation of scoring process, and the narrative appraisal describing
the strengths and weaknesses as basis for the debriefing discussion. ATP may elect
to conduct the debriefing in writing only or in person. When a DBE or other small
or minority business firm requests a debriefing, the DEI Director may be invited to
participate in the debriefing.

All new contract awards made under this section shall be reported monthly by the
Executive Director in a written report to the Board.

Section 3-203.18 Publicizing Awards

After a contract is entered into, notice of award shall be made available to the public. When the
award exceeds $50,000, each unsuccessful offeror shall be notified of the award.

Section 3-204 Micro and Small Purchases

Micro Purchases

Micro purchases, including delivery charges, may be accomplished without securing
competitive quotations if the prices are considered to be fair and reasonable. The Federal
micro-purchase threshold is set by 41 U.S.C. § 1902. The relevant department is required
to submit previous purchase information and the purchase order number for similar,
previous purchases in order to document rotation. The Procurement Department is not




obligated to purchase from the department’s suggested source if the price is not
considered fair and reasonable. Micro purchases made under the Purchasing Card (PCard)
Program are not excluded from the need for rotation.

Dividing a purchase requirement with the intent of avoiding the Federal micro- purchase
threshold, competition requirement, or other dollar thresholds is considered bid-splitting
and is therefore prohibited.

NOTE: Micro-purchase procedures must not be used for construction contracts with a value of

$2,000.00 or more.

Section 3-204.01 Authority to Make Small Purchases

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Small purchase procedures may be used for the Procurement of property, services, or
construction valued at more than the Federal micro-purchase threshold, but less than the
Federal simplified acquisition threshold at 41 U.S.C Section 403(11). Property, services, or
construction items valued at less than the Federal micro-purchase threshold which may
be obtained under current ATP contracts shall be procured under such agreements in
accordance with the terms of such contracts if the Contracting Officer determines that
this is in the best interests of ATP. The Contracting Officer may prescribe solicitation
provisions, contract clauses, and purchase order forms for small purchases made under
authority of this section.

If the property, service, or construction item is available from only one business, Sole
Source Procurement Section 3-205.02 and Section 3-205.03 of the Procurement Policy
and Guidelines shall be used. A record of the sole source Procurement shall be
maintained along with the small purchase file which sets forth in writing that the
conditions for use have been satisfied.

Procurement requirements shall not be artificially divided to avoid using the other source
selection methods set forth in the Procurement Policy and Guidelines.

Other sections of this Chapter 3 may be used if determined by the Contracting Officer to
be in ATP's best interest.

Where in the Policy and Guidelines written determinations are required, if the small
purchases method of Procurement is being utilized, these requirements shall be
considered satisfied by execution of the purchasing instrument by the Contracting Officer.
In all cases a record shall be maintained along with the small purchase Procurement File
which sets forth in writing the rationale for the determination(s).

Section 3-204.02 Competition for Small Purchases

(1)

Businesses shall be solicited to submit written quotations or oral quotations that are

[58]




(2)

(3)

recorded and placed in the Procurement File. The names of the businesses submitting
guotations and the date and amount of each quotation shall be recorded and maintained
as a public record.

Insofar as it is practical for small purchases, no less than three (3) businesses shall be
solicited to submit quotations, if it is expected that the required property, services or
construction cannot be procured for $10,000 or less. Award shall be made to the business
offering the lowest acceptable quotation.

Small purchases not exceeding $10,000 may be accomplished without securing
competitive quotations if the prices quoted are considered by the Contracting Officer to
be fair and reasonable. Such purchases shall be distributed equitably among qualified
businesses. When practical, a quotation shall be solicited from other than the previous
supplier prior to placing a repeat order. The administrative cost of verifying the fairness
and reasonableness of the price of a purchase not exceeding $10,000 may more than
offset potential savings from detecting instances of overpricing. Therefore, action to
verify that prices submitted are fair and reasonable need to be taken only when:

(a) the Contracting Officer suspects or has information (i.e., comparison to previous
prices paid or personal knowledge of the item involved) to indicate that the price
may not be fair and reasonable; or

(c) purchasing an item for which no comparable pricing information is readily
available (i.e., an item that is not the same as, or is not similar to, other items
that have been recently purchased on a competitive basis).

Section 3-204.03 Small Purchases of Professional Services

(1)

(2)

If it is expected that the services of accountants, architects, engineers, or land surveyors
can be procured for $50,000 or less, the methods specified in this subsection may be used
in lieu of the procedure specified in Section 3-207 (Statutory Professional Services) and in
Section 5-500 (Architect-Engineer and Land Surveying Services) of the Policy and
Guidelines.

Before contacting any person to perform the required services, the Contracting Officer
shall examine any current statements of qualifications on file with ATP. Based on this
examination, the Contracting Officer shall contact the most competent and qualified firm
and attempt to negotiate a contract for the required services at a fair and reasonable
price. If no current statements of qualifications are on file or the statements on file are
inadequate to determine the most competent and qualified firm, technical proposals or
statements of qualifications shall be solicited. A minimum of three firms shall be
considered unless there are only one or two qualified firms; in the latter case, the
Contracting Officer shall make a written determination justifying the consideration of only
one or two firms. A price or fee shall not be solicited until the most competent and




qualified firm is chosen, and only the most competent and qualified firm will be requested
to submit a price. If, after negotiations, a fair and reasonable price cannot be agreed to,
negotiations will be terminated with such firm and negotiations begun with the next most
competent and qualified firm. The process shall continue until a contract can be
negotiated at a fair and reasonable price to ATP.

Section 3-205 Sole Source Procurement

Section 3-205.01 General Authority

A contract for property, services, or construction may be awarded without competition when a
Contracting Officer above the level of the procuring Contracting Officer determines in writing
that the conditions for use set forth in this section have been satisfied.

Section 3-205.02 Conditions for Use

Sole source Procurement is permissible only under the following conditions. In cases of
reasonable doubt, competition should be solicited.

(1) The contract is for construction and:

(a) no bid or proposal is received and there is no time for re-solicitation or re-
solicitation likely would be futile, or

(b) only one bid or proposal is received and an appropriate determination has been
made under Section 3-104 (Only One Bid or Proposal Received).

(2) the contract is for services or supplies for which there is only one responsible
source. Examples include but not limited to:

(a) the existence of patent rights, copyrights, secret processes, or similar
circumstances which have precluded more than one supplier;

(b) where the compatibility of equipment, accessories, or replacement parts is the
paramount consideration and there is no assurance that other supplies will

perform the same function;

(c) where a sole Supplier's item is needed for trial use or testing or is being procured
for resale; or

(d) the Procurement of public utility services.

(3) The contract is for services or property for which it is impracticable to obtain competition.
Examples include:

[60]




(a) bids or proposals have been solicited and no responsive bid or proposal has been
received from a responsible bidder or offeror;

(b) only one bid or proposal is received and an appropriate determination has been
made under Section 3-104 (Only One Bid or Proposal Received);

(c) the contract is for maintenance, repairs, or inspections where the exact nature or
amount is not known;

(d) it is impossible to draft an adequate specification or statement of work;

(e) ATP will be reimbursed for the Procurement by a third party who requires the use
of a particular source;

Section 3-205.03 Negotiation

The Contracting Officer shall conduct negotiations, as appropriate, as to price, delivery, and
terms.

Section 3-205.04 Record of Sole Source Procurement

A record of sole source Procurements shall be maintained that lists:

(2) each contractor's name;

(2) the amount and type of each contract;

(3) the property, services, or construction procured under each contract; and
(4) the identification number of each contract file.

The record of sole source Procurements shall be submitted quarterly by the Executive Director
in a written report to the Board.

Section 3-206 Emergency Procurements

Section 3-206.01 General Authority

Subject to Section 2-101 and notwithstanding any other provision of the Procurement Policy and
Guidelines, the Procurement Director or his Designee may make or authorize others to make
Procurements in emergency conditions for which the public exigency will not permit the delay
incident to competition.




Section 3-206.02 Definition of Emergency Conditions

An emergency condition is a situation which creates a threat to public health, welfare, or safety
such as may arise by reason of accidents, fires, floods, riots, or equipment failures. The existence
of such condition creates an immediate and serious need for property, services, or construction
that cannot be met through normal Procurement methods and the lack of which would seriously
threaten:

(1) the functioning of ATP's operations;

(2) the preservation or protection of property; or

(3) the health or safety of any person.

Section 3-206.03 Scope of Emergency Procurements

Emergency Procurements shall be limited to the property, services, or construction items
necessary to meet the emergency.

Section 3-206.04 Source Selection Methods

(2) The procedure used shall be selected to ensure that the required property, services, or
construction items are procured in time to meet the emergency. Given this constraint,
such competition as is practicable shall be obtained.

(2) Competitive Procurement is unsuccessful when bids or proposals received are
unreasonable, noncompetitive, or exceed available funds as certified by the appropriate
fiscal officer, and time or other circumstances will not permit the delay required to
resolicit competitive sealed bids or proposals. If emergency conditions exist after an
unsuccessful attempt to use competitive Procurement methods, an emergency
Procurement may be made.

Section 3-206.05 Determination and Record of Emergency Procurements

The Contracting Officer or ATP official responsible for Procurement shall make a written
determination stating the basis for an emergency Procurement and for the selection of the
particular contractor. A record of each emergency Procurement shall be made as soon as
practicable and shall set forth:
(1) the contractor's name;

(2) the amount and type of the contract;

(3) a listing of the property, services, or construction procured under the contract; and

[62]




(4) the identification number of the contract file;
(5) for federally funded Procurements, if a sole source selection procedure is selected, ATP's
sole source justification adequately recording its decision in light of the standards in this

Section 3-205 and the Federal Requirements; and

(6) for federally funded Procurements, the Cost Analysis conducted verifying the proposed
cost data, the projections of the data and the evaluation of the costs and profits.

The record of emergency Procurements shall be submitted monthly by the Executive Director in
a written report to the Board.

Section 3-206.06 Non-Procurement Purchases

There are instances where goods or services are not processed through the Procurement
Department; however, the Procurement Department may set up contract purchase
agreements for these goods or services to track expenditures as required. Contract purchase
agreements may be set up to track funding for any type of income or expense agreement.

Certain expenses are routinely incurred without the issuance of formal purchasing
documents.

Expenses that may fall into the category of hon-Procurement purchases may include:

(a) Payroll account reimbursement, tax withholding payments, and all
associated benefit payments.

(b) Claim settlements.
(c) Real property settlements and Escrow payments.

(d) Periodic vendor payments under established leases.

(e) Licenses and permits.

(f) Subscriptions and publications.

(g) Conference and seminar registration fees.

(h) Training

(i) Organizational and professional membership dues.

(i Refunds (return of bid deposits, overpayment of bus passes, etc.)
(k) Reimbursement of petty cash.

[63]




()] Freight bills and/or courier service.

(m)  Official ATP newspaper advertisements by marketing.
(n) Community Relations, Personnel Service Agreements.
(o) Travel advances and employee reimbursements.

(p) Replenishment of postage meters.

(r) Interlocal Agreements

(s) Utilities

(t) Insurance Premiums

Section 3-207 Statutory Professional Services

Section 3-207.01 Definitions

(2) The phrase "Statutory Professional Services" shall mean those professional services
within the scope of the practice of accounting, architecture (excluding landscape
architecture), optometry, medicine, or professional engineering as defined by the laws
of the State of Texas or those performed by any licensed architect, optometrist, physician,
surgeon, certified public accountant, or professional engineer in connection with his
professional employment or practice.

(2) The "Texas Professional Services Procurement Act" shall mean Chapter 2254, Subchapter
A, of the Government Code, as amended.

Section 3-207.02 Application

The provisions of this section apply to the Procurement of Statutory Professional Services which,
under the Texas Professional Services Procurement Act, may not be obtained by ATP on the basis
of competitive bids; provided, however, that architect-engineer services shall be obtained under
Section 5-500 (Architect-Engineer and Land Surveying Services). Contracts for Statutory
Professional Services must be awarded on the basis of demonstrated competence and
qualifications for such services and at fair and reasonable prices as long as professional fees are
consistent with and not higher than any published recommended practices and fees of the
applicable professional association and do not exceed any maximum provided by Texas law.

[64]




Section 3-207.03 Requirement for Competitive Selection

Except as authorized under Section 3-205 (Sole Source Procurement) or Section 3-206
(Emergency Procurements), the competitive selection procedures of this section shall be used
for all Procurements of Statutory Professional Services in excess of $50,000. Any Procurement
of such services not in excess of this amount may be procured in accordance with Section 3-204
(Small Purchases).

Section 3-207.04 Statement of Qualifications

When Statutory Professional Services are needed on a recurring basis, the Contracting Officer
shall actively solicit persons engaged in providing such services to submit annual statements of
qualifications in a prescribed format which shall include the following information:

(2) technical education and training;

(2) general or special experience, certifications, licenses, and memberships in professional
associations, societies, or boards;

(3) an expression of interest in providing a particular Statutory Professional Service; and

(4) any other pertinent information requested by the Contracting Officer.

Persons may amend statements of qualifications at any time by filing a new statement.

Section 3-207.05 Public Notice

Notice of the need for Statutory Professional Services shall be made by the Contracting Officer in
the form of a Request for Proposals or Qualifications at least 21 days before the proposals are
due. Adequate public notice shall be given as provided in Section 3-202.05 (Public Notice) and,
additionally, shall consist of distributing Requests for Proposals to persons interested in

performing the services required by the proposed Contract.

Section 3-207.06 Request for Proposals or Qualifications

The Request for Proposals or Qualifications shall be in the form specified by the Contracting
Officer and contain at least the following information:

(1) the type of services required;

(2) a description of the work involved;
(3) an estimate of when and for how long the services will be required;

(4) the type of contract to be used;

[65]




(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

a date by which proposals or responses for the performance of the services shall be
submitted;

a statement that the proposals or responses shall be in writing;

a statement that offerors may designate those portions of the proposals or responses
which contain trade secrets or other proprietary data which may remain confidential,
subject to Section 1-401 (Public Access to Procurement Information) and the other
provisions of this Policy and applicable law;

a statement of the minimum information that the proposals or response shall contain,
including:

(a) the name of the proposer or respondent, the location of the proposer’s or
respondent's principal place of business and, if different, the place of performance
of the proposed contract;

(b) if deemed relevant by the Contracting Officer, the age of the offeror's business
and average number of employees over a previous period of time, as specified in
the Request for Proposals or Qualifications;

(c) the abilities, qualifications, and experience of all persons who would be assigned
to provide the required services;

(d) a listing of other contracts under which services similar in scope, size, or discipline
to the required services were performed or undertaken within a previous period

of time, as specified in the Request for Proposals or Qualifications; and

(e) a plan giving as much detail as is practical explaining how the services will be
performed;

(f) the professional fees proposed for the services to be provided; and

the factors to be used in the evaluation and selection process and their relative
importance.

Section 3-207.07 Evaluation Factors

Proposals shall be evaluated only on the basis of evaluation factors stated in the Request for
Proposals or Qualifications. The relative importance of these and other factors will vary
according to the type of services being procured. The following factors may be appropriate to
use in conducting the evaluation:

(1)

the plan for performing the required services;

[66]




(2)

(3)

ability to perform the services as reflected by technical training and education, general
experience, specific experience in providing the required services, and the qualifications
and abilities of personnel proposed to be assigned to perform the services;

the personnel, equipment, and facilities to perform the services currently available or
demonstrated to be made available at the time of contracting;

(4) a record of past performance of similar work; and
(5) the fairness and reasonableness of the proposed fees.
Section 3-207.08 Pre-Proposal Conferences

Pre-submittal conferences, as appropriate, may be conducted in accordance with Section 3-
202.07 (Pre-Bid Conferences). Such a conferences may be held any time prior to the date
established for submission of proposals or responses.

Section 3-207.09 Receipt and Handling of Proposals or Responses

(1)

Proposals or responses and modifications shall be time-stamped upon receipt and held in
a secure place until the established due date. Proposals or responses shall not be opened
publicly or disclosed to unauthorized persons but shall be opened in the presence of two
or more ATP representatives. A Register of Proposals or Responses shall be established
which shall include for all proposals the name of each offeror, the number of
modifications received, if any, and a description sufficient to identify the services offered.
The Register of Proposals or Responses shall be open to public inspection only after award
of the contract.

Section 3-207.10 Discussions

(1)

(2)

The Contracting Officer or his Designee shall evaluate all proposals or responses
submitted and may conduct discussions with any proposer or respondent. The purposes
of such discussions shall be to:

(a) determine in greater detail such offeror's competence and qualifications; and

(b) explore with the offeror the scope and nature of the required services, the
offeror's proposed method of performance, and the relative utility of alternative
methods of approach.

Discussions shall not disclose any information derived from proposals or responses
submitted by other proposals or respondents, and ATP shall not disclose any information
contained in any proposals or responses until after award of the proposed contract has
been made. The proposal of the offeror awarded the contract shall be open to public




inspection except as otherwise provided in the contract.

(3) Proposals or responses may be modified or withdrawn at any time prior to the conclusion
of discussions.

Section 3-207.11 Selection of the Best Qualified Offerors

After conclusion of validation of qualifications, evaluation, and discussions, the Contracting
Officer shall select, in the order of their respective ranking, no fewer than three acceptable
offerors (or such lesser number if less than three acceptable proposals were received) whose
proposals to provide the required services have received the highest evaluation scores.

Section 3-207.12 Negotiation and Award of Contract

(1) The Contracting Officer shall negotiate a contract with the highest evaluated proposer or
respondent for the required services at compensation determined in writing to be fair
and reasonable.

(2) Contract negotiations shall be directed toward:

(a) making certain that the proposer or respondent has a clear understanding of the
scope of the work, specifically the essential requirements involved in providing
the required services;

(b) determining that the proposer or respondent will make available the necessary
personnel and facilities to perform the services within the required time; and

(c) agreeing upon compensation, which is fair and reasonable, taking into account the
estimated value of the required services and the scope, complexity, and nature of
such services.

(3) If compensation, contract requirements, and contract documents can be agreed upon
with the highest evaluated proposer or respondent, the contract shall be awarded to that
proposer or respondent.

(4) If compensation, contract requirements, or contract documents cannot be agreed upon
with the highest evaluated proposer or respondent, a written record stating the reasons
therefor shall be placed in the Procurement File, and the Contracting Officer shall advise
such proposer or respondent of the termination of negotiations, which shall be confirmed
by written notice.

(5) Upon failure to negotiate a contract with the highest evaluated proposer or respondent,

the Contracting Officer may enter into negotiations with the next highest evaluated
proposer or respondent. If compensation, contract requirements, and contract

[68]




documents can be agreed upon, then the contract shall be awarded to that proposer or
respondent. If negotiations again fail, negotiations shall be terminated as provided in
subsection (4), above, and commenced with the next highest evaluated proposer or
respondent.

(6) Written notice of award shall be public information and made a part of the Procurement
File.

(7) Should the Contracting Officer be unable to negotiate a contract with any of the
proposers or respondents initially selected, offers may be resolicited or additional
proposers or respondents may be selected based on original, acceptable submissions in
the order of their respective evaluation ranking and negotiations may continue in
accordance with subsections (4) and (5), above, until an agreement is reached and the
contract awarded.

Section 3-207.13 Memorandum of Evaluation and Negotiation

At the conclusion of negotiations resulting in the award of the contract, the Contracting Officer
shall prepare a memorandum setting forth the bases of award, including:

(1) how the evaluation factors stated in the Request for Proposals or Qualifications were
applied to determine the highest evaluated proposers or respondents; and

(2) the principal elements of the negotiations, including the significant considerations
relating to price and the other terms of the contract.

All memoranda shall be included in the Procurement File.

Section 3-208 Goods/Services Exempted From Procurement Department Process

Certain Recurring Payment Process

Recurring payment forms for interlocal agreements (ILAs), memorandum of understanding, and
other items/services on the below list are exempt from the Procurement process and as such do
not require approval from the Procurement Department. However, the recurring payment forms
for these Procurement-exempt items/services will require approval by either the Controller or
Treasurer and the Chief Financial Officer. All other recurring payment forms for items/services
not expressly address in this Policy will follow the regular payment set-up process and will need
to go through the Procurement Department for approval.

Employee/Benefits-Related

1. Professional Licenses/Dues/Memberships/Association Fees.




Conference/seminar registrations.
Employee travel expense reimbursements.

Commercially available off-site training (training offered to the general public at
published price lists). Where training exceeds $25,000, pre-review by Procurement
is required.

Unemployment fees to Texas Workforce Commission.
Employee deductions (Employee payroll taxes, EAC, union dues, etc.).
Pension disbursements.

Workers” Compensation, and Health Insurance claims payments made by Third Party
Administrators (TPAs); TPA fees must be paid through a contract/Purchase Order
(PO).

Agency-Related

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Books, periodicals, and subscription services.

US Postal Service fees/services only (UPS, FedEx, DHL, or other courier/delivery
services must go through Procurement).

Owner Controlled Insurance Program (OCIP) made by Third Party Administrators
(TPAs): TPA fees must be paid through a contract/PO.

City-owned Utilities

Board Member fees/reimbursements.

Federal, state, and local tax payments (real estate, city, payroll, sales etc.).
Patron refunds.

State of Texas decals, registrations, licensing, etc.

Claim settlements (excluding contract settlements on claims), Board Resolution
number must be cited.

Host-Agency disbursements (TFLEx, SWTA, WTX, etc.)

Agencywide Memberships (COMTO, WTS, etc.( and APTA-related programs (i.e., bus
and rail safety programs, Public Transit Partnerships for Tomorrow (PT?))

[70]




Finance Department
20. Debt financing costs: rating agencies, commercial paper dealers, and liquidity banks.
21. Investments

Legal Department

22. Legal Services
23. Outside Counsel Fees.

Real Estate Division

24. Real estate acquisitions, leases, individual/business/utility relocations.
25. Business and individual relocation expense (due to real estate acquisitions).
26. Utilities: water and utilities associated with real estate acquisitions.

Section 3-209 Unauthorized Procurement Actions

ATP will not be bound by unauthorized Procurement actions.

When a Procurement Action is Unauthorized

When persons without Procurement authority direct, instruct, order, or request a person to do
something for, or on behalf of, ATP without a purchase order, contract, contract modification, or
formal Change Order, they may be engaging in an unauthorized Procurement action.
Additionally, when persons with Procurement authority act outside the established limits of their
authority, they may be engaging in an unauthorized Procurement action.

Examples of Unauthorized Procurement Actions

Unauthorized Procurement actions may include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) The outright purchase of an item by an Employee outside the Procurement
Department;

(b) Placing orders against expired contracts, blanket purchase agreements, or
blanket purchase orders;

(c) Placing orders in excess of the “not-to-exceed” value of a variable-quantity
contract, blanket purchase agreement or blanket purchase order;




(d) Directing changes to the scope of the contractor’s work under a contract without
express, written, or delegated authority. These changes could be in the form of:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

requiring additional work.

deleting work.

requesting quantities in excess of or less than those specified.
“trading-off” item A for item B.

changes to the contractual terms and conditions.

requiring acceleration or deceleration of the work schedule;
promising to pay sooner than called for in the contract;

promising to pay more than the specified amounts.

(e) Directing or permitting changes to the nature or quality of the goods, services or
construction. These changes could be in the form of:

(1)

(2)

Directing the vendor to perform work outside of the original intent of the
contract.

Allowing substitutions of brand-named items other than those specified
in the agreement.

Potential Outcomes for an Unauthorized Procurement Action

An unauthorized Procurement action may result in:

(a) Personal liability to ATP from the employee authorizing the action;
(b) Personal liability to the vendor from the employee authorizing the action;
(c) The vendor absorbing any losses; or

(d) ATP ratification of the unauthorized Procurement action.

(1)

The Executive Director or his/her Designee may approve or ratify
unauthorized Procurement actions that are less than $50,000.




(2) All other unauthorized Procurement actions may be approved or ratified
only by the consent of the Board of Directors.

Addressing the Financial Impact of the Unauthorized Procurement Actions
The Executive Director may take action to address the financial impact of the unauthorized
action.

The Department

The Executive Director may reduce the subject department’s budget by the amount of
the unauthorized Procurement action if the action involves an amount exceeding ATP’s
micro-purchase threshold.

The Employee

The Executive Director may determine that an employee that made an unauthorized
Procurement action should be required to pay ATP for the costs ATP has or will incur as a
result of the unauthorized action.

Corrective or Disciplinary Action Against the Employee

In the event of an unauthorized Procurement action, ATP may initiate corrective or disciplinary
action against the Employee charged with undertaking the unauthorized Procurement action, up
to and including termination. The severity of the disciplinary action shall be commensurate with
the severity of the unauthorized Procurement action. Prior to taking an action against the
Employee, the Employee’s supervisor shall consult with the Procurement Director in assessing
the severity of the unauthorized action and the Director of Human Resources for compliance with
applicable disciplinary policies. Factors to be considered in determining the severity of the action
taken and the appropriate disciplinary action include, but are not limited to:

(a) The dollar value of the adverse effect of the action;

(b) Whether this is the first unauthorized Procurement action of the Employee;
(c) Whether the action was knowing or unintentional;

(d) Whether the action subjected the ATP to operational or financial risk, and;

(e) Reputational impact of the action or creation of an appearance of conflict of
interest




Section 3-300 Cancellation of Solicitations; Rejection of Bids or Proposals

Section 3-301 Application

The provisions of this section shall govern the cancellation of any solicitations whether issued by
ATP under competitive sealed bidding, competitive sealed proposals, small purchases, or any
other source selection method, and rejection of bids or proposals in whole or in part.

Section 3-302 Policy

Solicitations should be issued only when there is a valid Procurement need, unless the solicitation
states that it is for informational purposes only. Preparing and distributing a solicitation requires
the expenditure of ATP's time and funds. Businesses likewise incur expense in examining and
responding to solicitations. Therefore, although issuance of a solicitation does not compel award
of a contract, a solicitation is to be cancelled only when there are cogent and compelling reasons
to believe that the cancellation of the solicitation is in ATP's best interest.

Section 3-303 Cancellation of Solicitation - Notice

Each solicitation issued by ATP shall state that ATP reserves its right to cancel the solicitation or
reject all bids or offers as provided in this section.

Section 3-304 Cancellation Prior to Opening

(1) As used in this section, "opening" means the date set for opening of bids, receipt of
unpriced technical offers in multi-step sealed bidding, or receipt of proposals in
competitive sealed proposals.

(2) Prior to opening, a solicitation may be cancelled in whole or in part when the Contracting
Officer determines in writing that such action is in ATP's best interest for reasons
including, but not limited to, the fact that:

(a) ATP no longer requires the property, services, or construction;

(b) ATP no longer can reasonably expect to fund the Procurement; or

(c) proposed amendments to the solicitation would be of such magnitude that a new
solicitation is desirable.

(3) When a solicitation is cancelled prior to opening, notice of cancellation shall be sent to all
businesses solicited. The notice of cancellation shall:

(a) identify the solicitation;

[74]




(b)
(c)

Section 3-305

briefly explain the reason for cancellation; and
where appropriate, explain that an opportunity will be given to compete on any
resolicitation or any future Procurements of similar supplies, services, or

construction.

Cancellation After Opening

(1) After opening but prior to award, all bids or proposals may be rejected in whole or in part
when the Contracting Officer determines in writing that such action is in ATP's best
interest for reasons including, but not limited to, the following:

(a)
(b)
(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

the construction, property, or services being procured are no longer required;
ambiguous or otherwise inadequate specifications were part of the solicitation;

the solicitation did not provide for consideration of all factors of significance to
ATP;

prices exceed available funds and it would not be appropriate to adjust quantities
to come within available funds;

all otherwise acceptable bids or proposals received are at clearly unreasonable
prices;

there is reason to believe that the bids or proposals may not have been
independently arrived at in open competition, may have been collusive, or may

have been submitted in bad faith; or

no responsive bid has been received from a bidder.

(2) A notice of rejection should be sent to all businesses that submitted bids or proposals,
and it shall conform to Section 3-304(3), above.

(3) If the Invitation for Bids has been cancelled for the reasons specified in subsections (1)(e),
(2)(f), or (1)(g) above, the Procurement Director may authorize the Contracting Officer to
complete the Procurement through negotiation, in accordance with Section 3-203.02(6).

Section 3-306

Rejection of Individual Bids or Proposals

(1) This section applies to rejections of individual bids or proposals in whole or in part. Each
solicitation issued by ATP shall reserve ATP's right to reject any bid or proposal in whole
orin partitisin the best interest of ATP as provided in this section.

[75]




(2)

(3)

As used in this subsection, "bid" means any bid submitted in competitive sealed bidding

or in the second phase of multi-step competitive sealed bidding and includes submissions

under Section 3-204 (Small Purchases) if no changes in offers are allowed after

submission. Reasons for rejecting a bid include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) the business that submitted the bid is non-responsible as determined under
Section 3-400 (Responsibility);

(b) the bid is not responsive (that is, it does not conform in all material respects to
the Invitation for Bids or the property, service, or construction item offered in the
bid is unacceptable by reason of its failure to meet the requirements of the
Specifications or permissible alternates or other acceptability criteria set forth in
the Invitation for Bids); or

(c) the bid is materially unbalanced so that there is a risk that evaluation under the
stated criteria may not result in the lowest overall cost to ATP.

As used in this subsection, "proposal" means any offer submitted in response to any
solicitation, including an offer under Section 3-204 (Small Purchases), except a bid as
defined in sub- section (2), above. Unless the solicitation states otherwise, proposals need
not be unconditionally accepted without alteration or correction, and ATP's stated
requirements may be revised or clarified after proposals are submitted. This flexibility
must be considered in determining whether reasons exist for rejecting all or any part of a
proposal. Reasons for rejecting proposals include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) the business that submitted the proposal is non-responsible as determined under
Section 3-400;

(b) the proposal ultimately (that is, after any opportunity has passed for altering or
clarifying the proposal) fails to meet the announced requirements of ATP in some
material respect;

(c) the proposed price is clearly unreasonable; or
(d) the offer is materially unbalanced so that there is a risk that evaluation under the

stated criteria may not result in award of a contract that will be most
advantageous to ATP.

(4) Upon request, unsuccessful bidders or offerors shall be advised of the reasons for the

rejection of their bids or proposals.

[76]




Section 3-400 Responsibility
Section 3-401 Application
A determination of responsibility or non-responsibility shall be governed by this section.

Section 3-402 Standards of Responsibility

(2) The award of a contract to a Supplier based on lowest evaluated price alone can be false
economy if there is subsequent default, late deliveries, or other unsatisfactory
performance resulting in additional Procurement or administrative costs. A prospective
contractor must demonstrate affirmatively its responsibility, including (when necessary)
that of its proposed sub- contractors. Recent unsatisfactory performance (in either quality
or timeliness of delivery) is an example of a problem the Contracting Officer must consider
and resolve as to its impact on the current Procurement.

(2) Factors to be considered in determining whether the standard of responsibility has been
met include whether a prospective contractor has:

(a) the appropriate financial, material, equipment, facility, technical, and personnel
resources and expertise, or the ability to obtain them, necessary to indicate its
capability to meet all contractual requirements;

(b) a satisfactory record of past and current performance, including quality or
timeliness of delivery;

(c) a satisfactory record of integrity;
(d) legal qualifications to contract with ATP, including applicable licensing;

(e) supplied all necessary information in connection with the inquiry concerning
responsibility; and

(f) complied with all applicable federal, state, and local laws regarding
nondiscrimination and equal opportunity.

(3) The prospective contractor shall supply information requested by the Contracting Officer
concerning responsibility. If the prospective contractor fails to supply the requested
information, the Contracting Officer shall base the determination of responsibility upon
any available information or may find the prospective contractor non-responsible if such
failure is unreasonable.

[77]




Section 3-403 Ability to Meet Standards

The prospective contractor may demonstrate the availability of necessary financing, equipment,
facilities, expertise, and personnel by submitting upon request:

(1) evidence that the prospective contractor possesses such necessary items;
(2) acceptable plans to subcontract for such necessary items; or

(3) a documented commitment from, or explicit arrangement (which will be in existence at
the time of award) with, a satisfactory source to provide the necessary items.

Section 3-404 Pre-Award Surveys

When the information available to the Contracting Officer is insufficient to make a determination
regarding responsibility, a pre-award survey of the prospective contractor's business and facilities
may be conducted. A pre-award survey may cover one or more areas, including technical ability,
production capacity, facilities, equipment, quality control, accounting system, financial
capability, and record of performance on other contracts.

Section 3-405 Responsibility Determination

Before awarding a contract, the Contracting Officer must be satisfied that the prospective
contractor is responsible and document this determination in writing. If a bidder or offeror who
otherwise would have been awarded a contract is found non-responsible, a written
determination of non-responsibility setting forth the basis of the finding shall be prepared by the
Contracting Officer. The Contracting Officer shall promptly cause to be sent a letter to the non-
responsible bidder or offeror indicating that the Contracting Officer has determined it to be non-
responsible and stating the reason(s) for the determination. The final determination shall be
made part of the Procurement File. Any determination by a Contracting Officer regarding
responsibility shall be sustained under the procedures in Chapter 10 (Administrative Remedies)
if there is a rational basis for such determination.

Section 3-500 Cost or Pricing Data

Section 3-501 Scope of Section

This section sets forth the pricing policies which are applicable to contracts of any type and any
price adjustments thereunder when cost or pricing data are required to be submitted to facilitate
ATP's conduct of cost and/or price analysis as described in this Policy and the Federal
Requirements for each Procurement action above the Federal micro-purchase threshold (if
applicable). The provisions of this section requiring submission of cost or pricing data do not apply
to a contract let by competitive sealed bidding (including multi-step bidding) or small purchases.
However, cost or pricing data may be required under a contract let by competitive sealed bidding




when price adjustments are subsequently made in such a contract.

Section 3-502

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Regquirement for Cost or Pricing Data

Except as provided in Section 3-502(2), cost or pricing data may be required to be
submitted in support of a proposal when:

(a)

(b)

any contract for property, services (except professional services), or construction
expected to exceed $500,000 is to be awarded by competitive sealed proposals or
by sole source Procurement; or

adjusting the price of any contract for property, services (except professional
services), or construction (including a contract awarded by competitive sealed
bidding containing a Cost or Pricing Data Clause, whether or not cost or pricing
data were required in connection with the initial pricing of the contract) if the
adjustment involves aggregate increases and/or decreases in costs plus applicable
profits expected to exceed $100,000. For example, the requirement applies to a
$30,000 net modification resulting from a reduction of $70,000 and an increase of
$40,000 when the reduction and increase are related. However, this requirement
shall not apply when unrelated and separately priced adjustments for which cost
or pricing data would not be required if considered separately are consolidated
for administrative convenience.

Cost and pricing data shall not be required:

(a)

(b)

when the contract or adjusted price is based on:

(i) adequate price competition;

(ii) established catalogue prices or market prices; or

(iii) prices set by law or regulation; or

when the Procurement Director determines in writing to waive the applicable
requirement for submission of cost or pricing data in a particular pricing action
and the reasons for such waiver are stated in the determination. A copy of such

determination shall be kept in the Procurement File and made available to the
public upon request.

If, after cost or pricing data were initially requested and received, it is determined that
adequate price competition does exist, the data need not be certified.

Any contractor required to submit and certify cost or pricing data shall be required to
submit accurate, current, and complete cost or pricing data from prospective or actual

[79]




subcontractors in support of each subcontract cost estimate included in the contractor's
submission whenever the subcontract cost estimate is either (i) more than $100,000; or
(ii) more than 10% of the contractor's price for the contract or contract modification, as
the case may be. The exceptions stated in subsection (2), above, also shall be applicable
to this requirement for subcontractor cost or pricing data. Contractors agree to include
provisions in all subcontracts by which the contractor can require subcontractors to
submit cost or pricing data in accordance with this subsection in support of subcontract
modifications. While contractors shall be required to submit a subcontractor's certified
cost or pricing data only from the prospective subcontractor most likely to be awarded
the subcontract, other subcontractor quotations and information may be cost or pricing
data of the contractor required to be submitted. Prospective subcontractor cost or
pricing data shall be certified to be current, accurate, and complete as of the same date
specified in contractors' certificates.

Section 3-503 Meaning of Terms

As used in the exceptions to the requirement for cost or pricing data, the terms "adequate price

competition,

established catalogue prices or market prices," and "prices set by law or

regulation" shall be construed in accordance with the following definitions.

(1)

(2)

Adequate Price Competition. Price competition exists if competitive sealed proposals are
solicited and at least two unaffiliated, responsible offerors independently compete for a
contract to be awarded to the responsible offeror submitting the proposal that is most
advantageous to ATP considering price and factors and meeting the requirements of the
solicitation. If the foregoing conditions are met, price competition shall be presumed to
be "adequate" unless the Contracting Officer determines in writing that such competition
is not adequate. Competition may also be determined to be adequate after receipt of only
one or no proposals: (i) where ATP confirms that its Specification are not unduly
restrictive and no changes can be made to encourage submission of more proposals; and
(ii) where the reasons for few responses were caused by conditions beyond ATP's control.

Established Catalogue or Market Prices.

(a) "Established catalogue price" means the price included in a catalogue, price list,
schedule, or other form that:

(i) is regularly maintained by a manufacturer or contractor;
(ii) is either published or otherwise available for inspection by customers; and
(iii) states prices at which sales are currently or were last made to a significant

number of any category of buyers or buyers constituting the general
buying public for the supplies or services involved.

[80]




(3)

(b) "Established market price" means a current price, established in the usual and
ordinary course of trade between buyers and sellers, which can be substantiated
from sources which are independent of the manufacturer or Supplier and may be
an indication of the reasonableness of price.

Prices Set by Law or Regulation. The price of a supply or service is set by law or regulation
if some governmental body establishes the price that the offeror or contractor may
charge ATP and other customers.

Section 3-504 Submission of Cost or Pricing Data and Certification

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

When cost or pricing data are required, they shall be submitted to the Contracting Officer
prior to beginning negotiations at any reasonable time and in any reasonable manner
prescribed by the Contracting Officer. When the Contracting Officer requires the offeror
or contractor to submit cost or pricing data in support of any proposal, such data shall
either be actually submitted or specifically identified in writing.

The offeror or contractor is required to keep such submission current until the
negotiations are concluded.

The offeror or contractor shall certify, as soon as practicable after agreement is reached
on price, that the cost or pricing data submitted are accurate, complete, and current as
of a mutually determined date prior to reaching agreement. Certification shall be made
using the certificate set forth in Section 3-505.

A refusal by the offeror to supply the required data shall be referred to the Procurement
Director, whose duty shall be to determine in writing whether to disqualify the
noncomplying offeror, to defer award pending further investigation, or to enter into the
contract. A refusal by a contractor to submit the required data to support a price
adjustment shall be referred to the Director of Procurement, who shall determine in
writing to further investigate the price adjustment, not to allow any price adjustment, or
to set the amount of the price adjustment, subject to the contractor's rights under the
Disputes Clause of the contract.

Section 3-505 Certificate of Current Cost or Pricing Data

(1)

When cost or pricing data must be certified, a certificate substantially as set forth below
shall be included in the Procurement File along with any award documentation required
under the Procurement Policy and Guidelines. The offeror or contractor shall be required
to submit the certificate as soon as practicable after agreement is reached on the contract
price or adjustment.

[81]




CERTIFICATE OF CURRENT COST OR PRICING DATA

This is to certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, cost or pricing
data as defined in the ATP Procurement Policy and Guidelines submitted, either
actually or by specific identification, in writing, to the Contracting Officer in
support of * are accurate, complete, and
current as of (date) (month) (year) o E

This certification includes the cost or pricing data supporting any advance
agreement(s) between the offeror and ATP which are part of the proposal.

Firm

Name

Title

Date of Execution xR

(End of Certificate)

*Describe the proposal, quotation, request for price adjustment or other submission involved,
giving appropriate identifying number (e.g., RFP No. )

**The effective date shall be a mutually determined date prior to but as close to the date when
price negotiations were concluded and the contract price was agreed to as possible. The
responsibility of the offeror or contractor is not limited by the personal knowledge of the
offeror's or contractor's negotiator if the offeror or contractor had information reasonably
available, at the time of agreement, showing that the negotiated price is not based on accurate,
complete, and current data.

***This date should be as soon after the date when the price negotiations were concluded and
the contract price was agreed to as practical.

(2) Although the certificate pertains to "cost or pricing data," it is not to be construed as a
representation as to the accuracy of the offeror's or contractor's judgment on the
estimated portion of future costs or projections. It does, however, constitute a
representation as to the accuracy of the data upon which the offeror's or contractor's
judgment is based. A Certificate of Current Cost or Pricing Data shall not substitute for
examination and analysis of the offeror's or contractor's proposal.

(3) Whenever it is anticipated that a Certificate of Current Cost or Pricing Data may be
required, notice of this requirement shall be included in the solicitation. If such a
certificate is required, the contract shall include a clause giving ATP a contract right to a
reduction in the price as provided in Section 3-506.

(4) The exercise of an option at the price established in the initial negotiation in which

[82]




certified cost or pricing were used does not require recertification or further submission
of data.

Section 3-506 Defective Cost or Pricing Data

(1)

(2)

(3)

If certified cost or pricing data subsequently are found to have been inaccurate,
incomplete, or noncurrent as of the date stated in the certificate, ATP is entitled to an
adjustment of the contract price, including profit or fee, to exclude any significant sum by
which the price, including profit or fee, was increased because of the defective data.
Judgmental errors made in good faith concerning the estimated portions of future costs
or projections do not constitute defective data. It is presumed that overstated cost or
pricing data increased the contract price in the amount of the overstatement plus related
overhead and profit or fee. Therefore, unless there is a clear indication that the defective
data were not used or relied upon, the price should be reduced in such amount. In
establishing that the defective data caused an increase in the contract price, the
Contracting Officer is not expected to reconstruct the negotiation by speculating as to
what would have been the mental attitudes of the negotiating parties if the correct data
had been submitted at the time of agreement on price.

In determining the amount of a downward adjustment, the contractor shall be entitled to
an offsetting adjustment for any understated cost or pricing data submitted in support of
price negotiations for the same pricing action up to the amount of ATP's claim for
overstated cost or pricing data arising out of the same pricing action.

If the contractor and the Contracting Officer cannot agree as to the existence of defective
cost or pricing data or the amount of adjustment due to defective cost or pricing data,
the Contracting Officer shall set an amount in accordance with this section, and the
contractor may appeal this decision as a contract controversy under the Disputes Clause
of the contract.

Section 3-507 Price Analysis Techniques

Price analysis is used to determine if a Contract or Contract Modification price is reasonable and
acceptable. It involves an evaluation of the prices for the same or similar items or services.
Examples of price analysis criteria include, but are not limited to:

(1)
(2)

(3)

(4)

price submission of prospective bidders or offerors in the current Procurement;

prior price quotations and contract prices charged by the bidder, offeror, or contractor
for the same or similar items;

prices published in catalogues or price lists;

prices available on the open market; and

[83]




(5) in-house estimates of cost.
In making such analysis, consideration must be given to any differing terms and conditions.

Section 3-508 Cost Analysis Techniques

ATP must conduct a cost analysis for every Procurement action when a price analysis will not
provide sufficient information to determine reasonableness of the contract cost or Contract
Modification. Cost analysis includes the appropriate verification of cost or pricing data and the
use of this data to evaluate:

(1) specific elements of costs;

(2) the necessity for certain costs;

(3) the reasonableness of amounts estimated for the necessary costs;

(4) the reasonableness of allowances for contingencies;

(5) the basis used for allocation of indirect costs;

(6) the appropriateness of allocations of particular indirect costs to the proposed
contract; and

(7) the reasonableness of the total cost or price.

Section 3-509 Evaluations of Cost or Pricing Data

Evaluations of cost or pricing data should include comparisons of costs and prices of an offeror's
cost estimates with those of other offerors and any independent price and cost estimates by ATP.
They also shall include consideration of whether such costs are reasonable and allocable under
the pertinent provisions of Chapter 7 (Cost Principles) of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines.

Section 3-600 Types of Contracts

Section 3-601 Scope of Section

This section contains descriptions of types of contracts and limitations as to when they should be
utilized by ATP in its Procurements. The use of any type of contract not prohibited by this section
is permissible.

Section 3-602 Cost-Plus-a-Percentage-of-Cost Contracting

The use of a cost-plus-a-percentage-of-cost contract is prohibited. A cost-plus-a-percentage-of-
cost contract is one in which, prior to completion of the work, the parties agree that the fee will

[84]




be a predetermined percentage of the total cost of the work. The more the contractor spends,
therefore, the greater its fee. The contractor's incentive may be to incur cost at the expense of
ATP and not to economize.

Section 3-603 Policy Regarding Selection of Contract Types

(1)

(2)

The selection of an appropriate contract type depends on factors such as the nature of
the property, services, or construction to be procured, the uncertainties which may be
involved in contract performance, and the extent to which ATP or the contractor is to
assume the risk of the cost of performance of the contract. Contract types differ in the
degree of responsibility assumed by the contractor. The objective when selecting a
contract type is to obtain the best value in needed property, services, or construction in
the time required and at the lowest cost or price to ATP. In order to achieve this objective,
the Contracting Officer, before choosing a contract type, should review those elements
of the Procurement which directly affect the cost, time, risk, and profit incentives bearing
on the performance. Among the factors to be considered in selecting any type of contract
are:

(a) the type and complexity of the property, service, or construction item being
procured;

(b) the difficulty of estimating performance costs, such as the inability of ATP to
develop definitive Specifications, to identify the risks to the contractor inherent in
the nature of the work to be performed, or otherwise to establish clearly the
requirements of the contract;

(c) the administrative costs to both parties;

(d) the degree to which ATP must provide technical coordination during the
performance of the contract;

(e) the effect of the choice of the type of contract on the amount of competition to
be expected;

(f) the stability of material or commodity market prices or wage levels;

(g) the urgency of the requirement; and

(h) the length of contract performance.

The provisions of this section describe and define the contract types. Any other type of

contract, except cost-plus-a-percentage-of-cost, may be used, provided the Procurement
Director determines in writing that such use is in ATP's best interest.

[85]




Section 3-604 Types of Fixed-Price Contracts

(1)

(2)

(3)

A fixed-price contract places responsibility on the contractor for the delivery of the
product or the complete performance of the services or construction in accordance with
the contract terms at a price that may be firm or may be subject to contractually specified
adjustments. The fixed-price contract is appropriate and preferred for use when the
extent and type of work necessary to meet ATP requirements reasonably can be specified
and the cost reasonably can be estimated, as is generally the case for construction or
standard Commercial Products. A fixed-price type of contract is the only type of contract
that can be used in competitive sealed bidding.

A firm fixed-price contract provides a price that is not subject to adjustment because of
variations in the contractor's cost of performing the work specified in the contract. It
should be used whenever prices which are fair and reasonable to ATP can be established
at the outset. Bases upon which firm fixed prices may be established include:

(a) adequate price competition for the contract;

(b) comparison of prices in similar prior Procurements in which prices were fair and
reasonable;

(c) establishment of realistic costs of performance by utilizing available cost or pricing
data and identifying uncertainties in contract performance; or

(d) use of other adequate means to establish a firm price.

A fixed-price contract with price adjustment provides for variation in the contract price
under certain conditions defined in the contract, other than customary provisions
authorizing price adjustments due to modifications to the work. The formula or other
basis by which the adjustment in contract price can be made shall be specified in the
solicitation and the resulting contract. Adjustment allowed may be upward or downward
only or both upward and downward. Examples of conditions under which adjustments

may be provided in fixed-price contracts are:

(a) changes in the contractor's labor agreement rates as applied to industry or area
wide;

(b) changes due to rapid and substantial price fluctuation, which can be related to an
accepted index (such as contracts for gasoline and oil); and

(c) in requirements contracts:
(i) when a general price change applicable to all customers occurs; or

(ii) when a general price change alters the base price (such as a change in a

[86]




(4)

manufacturer's published price list or posted price to which a fixed
discount is applied pursuant to the contract to determine the contract
price).

A fixed-price contract with incentives provides for adjusting profit and establishing the
final contract price by application of a formula based on the relationship of total final
negotiated cost to total target final negotiated cost to total target cost. The final price is
subject to a price ceiling, negotiated at the outset. There are two types of FPI contracts:

(2) “Fixed-price-incentive (firm target) contract (FPIF): Specifies a target cost, target
profit, price ceiling (but not a profit ceiling or floor), and a profit adjustment
formula. These elements are all negotiated at the onset.

(2) “Fixed-price-incentive (successive target) contract” (FPIS): Specifies the following
elements, all of which are negotiated at the onset: an initial target cost, initial
target profit, and initial profit adjustments formula. These targets and formulas
are used to establish:

(a) The firm target profit, including a ceiling and floor for the firm target profit;

(b) The production point at which the firm target cost and firm target profit
will be negotiated (usually before delivery or shop completion of the first
item); and

(c) A ceiling price that is the maximum that may be paid to the contractor,
except for any adjustment under the contract clauses providing for
equitable adjustment or other revision of the contract price under stated
circumstances.

If the contract permits unilateral action by the contractor to bring about the condition under
which a price increase may occur, the contract shall reserve to ATP the right to reject the price
increase and terminate without cost the future performance of the contract. The contract also
shall require that notice of any such price increase shall be given within such time prior to its
effective date as specified in the contract. These restrictions shall not apply to fixed-price cost
incentive contracts and fixed-price performance incentive contracts.

Section 3-605 Types of Cost-Reimbursement Contracts

(1)

The cost-reimbursement type contract provides for payment to the contractor of
allowable costs incurred in the performance of the contract as determined in accordance
with Chapter 7 (Cost Principles) of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines and as provided
in the contract. This type of contract establishes at the outset an estimated cost for the
performance of the contract and a dollar ceiling which the contractor may not exceed

[87]




(2)

(3)

(4)

(except at its own expense) without prior approval or subsequent ratification by the
Contracting Officer and, in addition, may provide for payment of a fee. The contractor
agrees to perform as specified in the contract until the contract is completed or until the
costs reach the specified ceiling, whichever first occurs. This type of contract is
appropriate when the uncertainties involved in contract performance are of such
magnitude that the cost of contract performance cannot be estimated with sufficient
certainty to realize economy by use of any type of fixed-price contract. In addition, a cost-
reimbursement contract necessitates appropriate monitoring by ATP personnel during
performance so as to give reasonable assurance that the objectives of the contract are
being met. It is particularly suitable for research, development, and study type contracts.

A cost-reimbursement type contract may be used only when the Procurement Director
determines in writing that:

(a) such a contract is likely to be less costly to ATP than any other type or that it is
impracticable to obtain otherwise the property, services, or construction;

(b) the proposed contractor's accounting system will permit timely development of
all necessary cost data in the form required by the specific contract type
contemplated; and

(c) the proposed contractor's accounting system is adequate to allocate costs in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

A cost contract provides that the contractor will be reimbursed for allowable costs
incurred in performing the contract but will not receive a fee.

A cost-plus-fixed-fee contract is a cost-reimbursement type contract which provides for
payment to the contractor of an agreed fixed fee in addition to reimbursement of
allowable incurred costs. The fee is established at the time of contract award and does
not vary whether or not the actual cost of contract performance is greater or less than
the initial estimated cost established for such work. Thus, the fee is fixed but not the
contract amount because the final contract amount will depend on the allowable costs
reimbursed. The fee is subject to adjustment only if the contract is modified to provide
for an increase or decrease in the scope of work specified in the contract. The cost-plus-
fixed-fee contract can be either a Completion Form or Term Form.

(a) The Completion Form is one which describes the scope of work to be done as a
clearly defined task or job with a definite goal or target expressed and with a
specific end-product required. This form of contract normally requires the
contractor to complete and deliver the specified end-product (in certain instances,
final report of research accomplishing the goal or target) as a condition for
payment of the entire fixed-fee established for the work and within the estimated
cost if possible; however, in the event the work cannot be completed within the

[88]




estimated cost, ATP can elect to require more work and effort from the contractor
without increase in fee, provided it increases the estimated cost.

(b) The Term Form is one which describes the scope of work to be done in general
terms and which obligates the contractor to devote a specified level of effort for
a stated period of time. Under this form, the fixed fee is payable at the
termination of the agreed period of time upon certification that the contractor
has exerted the level of effort specified in the contract in performing the work
called for, and that such performance is considered satisfactory by ATP.

(c) The Completion Form of contract, because of differences in obligation assumed
by the contractor, is to be preferred over the Term Form whenever the work itself
or specific milestones can be defined with sufficient precision to permit the
development of estimates within which prospective contractors reasonably can
be expected to complete the work. A milestone is a definable point in a program
when certain objectives can be said to have been accomplished.

(d) In no event should the Term Form of contract be used unless the contractor is
obligated by the contract to provide a specific level-of-effort within a definite
period of time.

Section 3-606 Cost Incentive Contracts

(1)

(2)

(3)

A cost incentive type of contract provides for the reimbursement to the contractor of
allowable costs incurred up to the ceiling amount and establishes a formula whereby the
contractor is rewarded for performing at less than target cost (that is, the parties' agreed
best estimate of the cost of performing the contract) or is penalized if it exceeds target
cost. The profit or fee under such a contract will vary inversely with the actual, allowable
costs of performance and, consequently, is dependent on how effectively the contractor
controls cost in the performance of the contract.

In a fixed-price cost incentive contract, the parties establish at the outset a target cost, a
target profit (that is, the profit which will be paid if the actual cost of performance equals
the target cost), a formula which provides a percentage increase or decrease of the target
profit depending on whether the actual cost of performance is less than or exceeds the
target cost, and a ceiling price. After performance of the contract, the actual cost of
performance is arrived at based on the total incurred allowable costs as determined in
accordance with Chapter 7 (Cost Principles) of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines and
as provided in the contract. The final contract price then is established in accordance with
the formula using the actual cost of performance. The final contract price may not exceed
the ceiling price. The contractor is obligated to complete performance of the contract,
and, if actual costs exceed the ceiling price, the contractor suffers a loss.

In a cost-reimbursement contract with cost incentive fee, the parties establish at the
outset a target cost; a target fee; a formula for increase or decrease of fee depending on

[89]




(4)

whether actual cost of performance is less than or exceeds the target cost; the maximum
and minimum fee limitations; and a cost ceiling which represents the maximum amount
which ATP is obligated to reimburse the contractor. The contractor continues
performance until the work is complete or costs reach the ceiling specified in the contract,
including any modification thereof, whichever first occurs. After performance is complete
or costs reach the ceiling, the total incurred, allowable costs reimbursed in accordance
with Chapter 7 (Cost Principles) of the Procurement Policy and Guidelines and as provided
in the contract are applied to the formula to establish the incentive fee payable to the
contractor.

Prior to entering into any cost incentive contract, the Contracting Officer shall make the
written determination required by Section 3-612 (Approval of Accounting Systems)
regarding the proposed contractor's accounting system. Prior to entering any cost-
reimbursement contract with cost incentive fee, the written determination required by
Section 3-605(2) shall be made.

Section 3-607 Performance Incentive Contracts

In a performance incentive contract, the parties establish at the outset a pricing basis for the
contract (i.e., cost reimbursement or fixed price), performance goals, and a formula which varies
the profit or the fee if the specified performance goals are exceeded or not met. For example,
early completion may entitle the contractor to a bonus while late completion may entitle ATP to
a price decrease.

Section 3-608 Time and Materials and Labor Hour Contracts

(1)

(2)

Time and materials contracts provide an agreed basis for payment for materials supplied
and labor performed. Such contracts shall, to the extent possible, contain a stated ceiling
or an estimate that shall not be exceeded without prior approval by ATP and shall be
entered into only after the Contracting Officer determines in writing that:

(a) ATP representatives have been assigned to closely monitor the performance of
the work; and

(b) in the circumstances, it would not be practicable to use any other type of contract
to obtain needed property, services, or construction in the time required and at
the lowest cost or price to ATP.

A labor hour contract provides only for the payment of labor performed. It shall contain

the same ceiling as provided in subsection (1), above. Prior to the award of such contract,
the Contracting Officer shall make the determination as required in subsection (1), above.

[90]




Section 3-609 Definite and Indefinite Quantity Contracts

(1)

(2)

(3)

A definite quantity contract is a fixed-price contract that provides for delivery of a
specified quantity of property or services either at specified times or when ordered.

An indefinite quantity contract is a contract for an indefinite amount of property or
services to be furnished at specified times, or as ordered, that establishes unit prices of a
fixed-price type. Generally, an approximate quantity or the best information available as
to quantity is stated in the solicitation. The contract shall provide a minimum quantity
ATP is obligated to order and may also provide for a maximum quantity provision that
limits ATP's right to order.

A requirements contract is an indefinite quantity contract for property or services that
obligates ATP to order all its actual requirements for such property or services during a
specified period of time. For information, a realistic estimated total quantity shall be
stated in the solicitation and the resulting contract; however, this estimate is not a
representation to an offeror that the total quantity will be required or ordered. The
obligation to order ATP's actual requirements is limited by the provisions of Texas
Business & Commerce Code Section 2.306(a) (i.e., no quantity unreasonably
disproportionate to any stated estimate or, in the absence of a stated estimate, to any
normal or otherwise com- parable prior output or requirements may be tendered or
demanded). For the protection of ATP and the contractor, requirements contracts shall
include the following:

(a) a provision which requires ATP to order its actual requirements of the property or
services covered (however, ATP must reserve in the solicitation and in the
resulting contract the right to take bids separately if a particular quantity
requirement arises which exceeds ATP's normal requirements or an amount
specified in the contract);

(b) two exemptions from ordering under the contract when:

(i) the Procurement Director approves a finding that the property or service
available under the contract will not meet a nonrecurring, special need of
ATP; or
(ii) property is produced or services are performed incidental to ATP's own
programs.
Section 3-610 Leases

(1)

A lease is a contract for the use of equipment or other property under which title will not
pass to ATP at any time. Section 3-611 (Option Provisions) applies to a lease with a
purchase option where title may pass to ATP.

[91]




To obtain best value, ATP should review lease versus purchase alternatives. When
conducting lease versus purchase analyses, cost used in the analysis must:

(a) be reasonable;
(b) be based on realistic current market conditions; and
(c) be based on the expected useful service life of the asset.

(2) A lease may be entered into provided:

(a) it is in the best interest of ATP as determined by the Contracting Officer;
(b) all conditions for renewal and costs of termination are set forth in the lease; and

(c) the lease is not used to circumvent normal Procurement procedures.

Section 3-611 Option Provisions

(2) When a contract is to contain an option for renewal, extension, or purchase, notice of
such provision shall be included in the solicitation. Exercise of the option is always at ATP's
discretion only and not subject to agreement or acceptance by the contractor.

(2) ATP may elect to include options in contracts, if options are needed for its Public
Transportation or project purposes. ATP shall document in the Procurement File a
justification for including any options, taking into account any applicable provisions of the
Federal Requirements. If an option is included, the option quantities and periods included
in the bid or proposal must generally be evaluated in order to determine contract award
except that the option quantities need not be evaluated if ATP determines that evaluation
would not be in its best interest. Any such determination must be documented in the
Procurement File. The evaluation of options should be documented in writing and should
be part of the cost or price analysis undertaken by the Recipient for the overall
Procurement.

(3) If an option is included for the Procurement of bus or rail rolling stock or replacement
parts, the period of that option must comply with the Federal Requirements, to the extent
applicable. Documentation awarding the contract should indicate that the award is for
the base contract and the identified options.

(4) Before exercising any option for renewal, extension, or purchase, the Contracting Officer
should attempt to ascertain whether a competitive Procurement is practical (in terms of
pertinent competitive and cost factors) and would be more advantageous to ATP than
renewal, extension or purchase of the existing contract.

[92]




(5)

A purchase option in a lease may be exercised only if the lease containing the purchase
option was awarded under competitive sealed bidding or competitive sealed proposals.
Before exercising such an option, the Contracting Officer shall:

(a) investigate alternative means of procuring comparable property or facilities; and

(d) compare estimated costs and benefits associated with the alternative means and
the exercise of such option; for example, the benefit of buying new state-of-the-
art equipment compared to the estimated, initial savings associated with exercise
of a purchase option.

Section 3-612 Approval of Accounting Systems

Except with respect to firm fixed-price contracts, no contract type shall be used unless the
Procurement Director makes a determination in writing that the proposed contractor's
accounting system is sufficient to comply with the provisions of Section 3-605(2)(b) and (c).

Section 3-613 Multi-Term Contracts - General

(1)

(2)

(3)

A multi-term contract is appropriate when it is in the best interest of ATP to obtain
uninterrupted services extending over more than one fiscal period, where the
performance of such services involves high start-up costs, or where a changeover of
service contractors involves high phase-in/phase-out costs during a transition period. The
multi-term method of contracting also is appropriate when special production of definite
guantities of supplies for more than one fiscal period is necessary to best meet ATP's
needs but funds are available only for the initial fiscal period. Special production refers
to production for contract performance, which requires alteration in the contractor's
facilities or operations involving high start-up costs. The contractual obligation of both
parties in each fiscal period succeeding the first is subject to the authorization and
availability of funds therefor. The contract shall provide that, in the event that funds are
not available for any succeeding fiscal period, the remainder of such contract shall be
cancelled and the contractor shall be reimbursed the reasonable value of any
nonrecurring costs incurred but not amortized in the price of the supplies delivered or
services performed under the contract to the extent that nonrecurring costs are identified
in the contract.

The objective of the multi-term contract is to promote economy and efficiency in
Procurement by obtaining the benefits of sustained volume production and consequent
low prices and by increasing competitive participation in Procurements which involve
special production with consequent high start-up costs and in the Procurement of services
which involve high start-up costs or high phase-in/phase-out costs during changeover of
service contractors.

This Section 3-613 applies only to contracts for property or services described in 3-613(1)

[93]




of this section and does not apply to any other contracts including, but not limited to,
contracts for construction and leases (including leases of real property).

Section 3-613.01 Conditions for Use

A multi-term contract may be used when it is determined in writing by the Contracting Officer
that:

(1) special production of definite quantities or the furnishing of long-term services is required
to meet ATP's needs; and

(2) a multi-term contract will serve the best interests of ATP by encouraging effective
competition or otherwise promoting economies in Procurement. The following factors
are among those relevant to such a determination:

(a) Firms which are not willing or able to compete because of high start-up costs or
capital investment in facility expansion will be encouraged to participate in the
competition when they are assured of recouping such costs during the period of
contract performance;

(b) lower production costs, because of larger quantity or service requirements and
substantial continuity of production or performance over a longer period of time,

can be expected to result in lower unit prices;

(c) stabilization of the contractor's work force over a longer period of time may
promote economy and consistent quality; or

(d) the cost and burden of contract solicitation, award, and administration of the
Procurement may be reduced.

Section 3-613.02 Multi-Term Contract Procedure

(1) The solicitation for multi-term contracts shall state:
(a) the amount of property or services required for the proposed contract period;

(b) that a unit price shall be given for each item of property or service and that such
unit prices shall be the same throughout the contract (except to the extent price
adjustments may be provided in the solicitation and resulting contract);

(c) that the multi-term contract will be cancelled only if funds are not authorized or
otherwise made available to support continuation of performance in any fiscal
period succeeding the first; however, this does not affect either ATP's rights or the
contractor's rights under any termination clause in the contract;

[94]




(2)

(3)

(d) that the Contracting Officer must notify the contractor on a timely basis that the
funds are, or are not, available for the continuation of the contract for each
succeeding fiscal period;

(e) whether bidders or offerors may submit prices for:
(i) the first fiscal period only;
(ii) the entire time of performance only; or
(iii) both the first fiscal period and the entire time of performance;

(f) that a multi-term contract may be awarded and how award will be determined
including, if prices for the first fiscal period and entire time of performance are
submitted, how such prices will be compared; and

(g) that, in the event of cancellation for lack of funds, the contractor will be
reimbursed the unamortized, reasonably incurred, nonrecurring costs.

Award shall be made as stated in the solicitation and permitted under the source selection
method utilized. Care should be taken when evaluating multi-term prices against prices
for the first fiscal period that award on the basis of prices for the first period does not
permit the successful bidder or offeror to "buy in"; that is, give such bidder or offeror an
undue competitive advantage in subsequent Procurements.

"Cancellation," as used in multi-term contracting, means the cancellation of the total
requirements for the remaining portion of the contract because funds were not
authorized or otherwise made available. The contract for the first fiscal period shall not
be cancelled. Cancellation results when the Contracting Officer: (a) notifies the contractor
of nonavailability of funds for contract performance for any fiscal period subsequent to
the first; or (b) fails to notify the contractor by the date set forth in the contract (unless
the parties agree to extend such date) that funds are available for performance of the
succeeding fiscal period and funds which may be used for the contract have not been
authorized or otherwise made available. This provision on cancellation of multi-term
contracts does not limit the rights of ATP or the contractor under any termination clause
of the contract if the contract is terminated pursuant to that clause rather than cancelled
as provided in this subsection.

Section 3-614 Incremental Award

(1)

An incremental award is an award of portions of a definite quantity requirement to more
than one contractor. Each portion is for a definite quantity, and the sum of the portions
is the total definite quantity required. An incremental award may be used only when
awards to more than one bidder or offeror for different amounts of the same item are

[95]




(2)

necessary to obtain the total quantity for the required delivery.

If an incremental award is anticipated prior to issuing a solicitation, ATP shall reserve the
right to make such an award, and the criteria for award shall be stated in the solicitation.

(3) The Contracting Officer shall make a written determination setting forth the reasons for the

incremental award, and the determination shall be made a part of the Procurement File.

Section 3-615 Multiple Award

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

A multiple award is an award of an indefinite quantity contract for one or more similar
supplies or services to more than one bidder or offeror when ATP is obligated to order all
of its actual requirements for the specified supplies or services from those contractors.
The obligation to order ATP's actual requirements is limited by the provisions of Texas
Business & Commerce Code Section 2.306(a) (no quantity unreasonably disproportionate
to any stated estimate or, in the absence of a stated estimate, to any normal or otherwise
comparable prior output or requirements may be tendered or demanded).

A multiple award may be made when award to two or more bidders or offerors for similar
products is necessary for adequate delivery, service, or product compatibility. Any
multiple award shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Section 3-202
(Competitive Sealed Bidding), Section 3-203 (Competitive Sealed Proposals), Section 3-
204 (Small Purchases), and Section 3-206 (Emergency Procurements), as applicable.
Multiple awards shall not be made when a single award will meet ATP's needs without
sacrifice of economy or service. Awards shall not be made for the purpose of dividing the
business, making available product or Supplier selection to allow for user preference
unrelated to utility or economy, or avoiding the resolution of tie bids. Any such awards
shall be limited to the least number of Suppliers necessary to meet ATP's valid
requirements.

If a multiple award is anticipated prior to issuing a solicitation, ATP shall reserve the right
to make such an award, and the criteria for award shall be stated in the solicitation.

The Contracting Officer shall make a written determination setting forth the reasons for
a multiple award, and the determination shall be made a part of the Procurement File.

Section 3-700 Audits

Section 3-701 Authority to Audit

Audits by or on behalf of ATP of the books and records of a contractor, prospective contractor,
subcontractor, or a prospective subcontractor may be performed when authorized by a
solicitation, contract, or subcontract provision. Audits may be performed by representatives of
ATP or for ATP by an independent contractor.

[96]




Section 3-702 Cost or Pricing Data Audit

(1)

The Executive Director or his Designee may require an audit of cost or pricing data that
has been submitted under Section 3-500 (Cost or Pricing Data). An audit should be
required when, with respect to the contractor, prospective contractor, subcontractor, or
prospective subcontractor, there is:

(a) a question as to the adequacy of accounting policies or cost systems;

(b) a substantial change in the methods or levels of operation;

(c) previous unfavorable experience indicating doubtful reliability of estimating,
accounting, or purchasing methods;

(d) a lack of cost experience due to the Procurement of a new supply or service; or

(e) other evidence that an audit is in ATP's best interests.

Section 3-703 Cost or Pricing Data Audit Report

When an audit is required under Section 3-702 (Cost or Pricing Data Audit), the auditor shall
submit a written report to the Contracting Officer by an agreed-upon date. The report should
contain the following with respect to the contractor, prospective contractor, subcontractor, or
prospective subcontractor:

(1) a description of the original proposal and all submissions of cost or pricing data;

(2) an explanation of the basis and the method used in preparing the proposal;

(3) a statement identifying any cost or pricing data not physically submitted with the proposal
but examined by the auditor which has a significant effect on the proposed cost or price;

(4) a description of any deficiency in the cost or pricing data submitted and an explanation
of its effect on the proposal;

(5) a statement summarizing those major points where there is a disagreement as to the cost
or pricing data submitted; and

(6) a statement identifying any information obtained from other sources.

Section 3-704 Contract Audit

(1)

The type of contract under which books and records should be audited is that in which

price is based on costs or is subject to adjustment based on costs, or that in which auditing




(2)

would be appropriate to ensure satisfactory performance (such as a time and materials
contract), or to ensure compliance with the requirements to submit current, accurate,
and complete cost or pricing data.

A contract audit may be warranted when a question arises in connection with:

(a) the financial condition, integrity, and reliability of the contractor or subcontractor;
(b) any prior audit experience;

(c) the adequacy of the contractor's or subcontractor's accounting system;

(d) the number or nature of invoices or reimbursement vouchers submitted by the
contractor or subcontractor for payment;

(e) the use of federal assistance funds;
(f) the fluctuation of market prices affecting the contract;
(g) adequacy of cost or pricing data; or

(h) any other circumstance when the Contracting Officer finds that such an audit is
necessary for the protection of ATP's interest.

The scope of the audit may be limited as specified in the audit request.

Section 3-705 Contract Audit Report

Where a contract audit is required under Section 3-704 (Contract Audit), the auditor shall submit
a written report to the Contracting Officer by an agreed upon date. The scope of the report will
depend on the scope of the audit ordered. However, the report should contain specific reference
to the terms of the contract to which the audited data relate and a statement of the degree to
which the auditor believes the audited data evidence compliance with those terms.

Section 3-706 Retention of Books and Records

(1)

(2)

Any contractor who receives a contract, Change Order, or Contract Modification for which
cost or pricing data are required under Section 3-500 (Cost or Pricing Data) shall be
required to maintain such books and records that relate to such cost or pricing data for
three years from the date of final payment under the contract, or such other time period
specified in the contract or required by applicable law.

Contracts shall require that books and records relating to a contract with ATP, including
subcontracts, other than a firm fixed-price contract, shall be maintained:

[98]




(a) by a contractor, for three years from the date of final payment under the prime
contract; and

(e) by a subcontractor, for three years from the date of final payment under the
subcontract,

or such other time period specified as determined by the Contracting Officer or required
by applicable law.

Section 3-800 Solicitation Provisions

Section 3-801 General

This section prescribes required provisions for incorporation in solicitations issued by ATP. The
provisions set forth the rules under which the solicitation will be conducted. Nothing herein shall
preclude ATP from incorporating additional, special solicitation instructions and conditions in
individual Procurements.

Section 3-802 Solicitations for Competitive Sealed Bids

The following solicitation instructions and conditions shall be included in all solicitations for
competitive sealed bids.

Section 3-802.01 Preparation of Bids

PREPARATION OF BIDS

(a) Bidders are expected to examine the Schedule, solicitation instructions, Special
Provisions, General Provisions, all drawings, specifications, the statement of work,
and all other provisions of, and exhibits to, the solicitation, whether incorporated
by reference or otherwise, prior to the submission of bids. Failure to do so will be
at the bidder's risk.

(b) Each bidder shall furnish the information required by the solicitation. Bids shall be
submitted on the bid form contained in the solicitation. Bidders shall sign and print
or type their name on the bid form and each continuation sheet on which they
make an entry. Erasures or other changes must be initialed by the person signing
the bid. Bids signed by an agent of the bidder (other than an officer or a partner
of the bidder) are to be accompanied by evidence of the agent's authority (unless
such evidence has been previously furnished to ATP).

(c) All blanks on the bid form shall be filled in electronically or printed in ink with a
firm fixed unit price for items bid. Unit prices shall include packing unless
otherwise specified. In case of any discrepancy between a unit price and any




extended or total price required by the bid form, the unit price will be presumed
to be correct, subject, however, to correction to the same extent and in the same
manner as any other mistake.

(d) Bids for property or services other than those specified in the Schedule will not be
considered unless specifically authorized in the solicitation. Any condition,
qualification, or limitation of the bid will be a basis for rejection of the bid as
nonresponsive.

(e) The bidder must state a definite time for delivery of property or for performance
of services unless otherwise specified in the solicitation. All measurements shall
be in the system of weights and measures in common usage in the United States
except where the contract is federally funded in which case, unless expressly
authorized by ATP, the metric system shall be the primary unit of measure. Pricing
shall be in U.S. dollars.

(f) In computing any period of time for the solicitation or any resulting contract,
"days" means calendar days, and the day of the event from which the designated
period of time begins to run shall not be included, but the last day shall be included
unless it is a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal or State of Texas holiday, in which event
the period shall run to the end of the next business day.

Section 3-802.02 Explanation to Bidders

Any explanation desired by a bidder regarding the meaning or interpretation of the solicitation,
drawings, specifications, etc., must be requested in writing from ATP's Contracting Officer and
with sufficient time allowed for a reply to reach bidders before the submission of bids. Oral
explanations or instructions given before the award of any contract, at any pre-bid conferences
or otherwise, will not be binding on ATP. Any information given to a bidder concerning an
interpretation of the solicitation will be furnished to all bidders as an amendment to the
solicitation, if such information is necessary to bidders in submitting bids on the solicitation or if
the lack of such information would be prejudicial to uninformed bidders.

Section 3-802.03 Acknowledgment of Amendments to Invitation for Bids

(a) If this solicitation is amended, then all terms and conditions which are not
modified remain unchanged.

(b) Bidders shall acknowledge receipt of any amendment to this solicitation: (1) by
signing and returning the amendment; or (2) by identifying the amendment
number and date in the space provided for this purpose on the bid form; or (3) by
letter or electronic message (if permitted). ATP must receive the acknowledgment
by the time and at the place specified for receipt of bids.

[100]




Section 3-802.04 Submission of Bids

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Bids and modifications thereof shall be enclosed in sealed envelopes or sealed
cartons and submitted to ATP's Contracting Officer at the address specified in the
solicitation. The bidder shall show the hour and date specified in the solicitation
for receipt of bids, the solicitation number, and the bidder's name, address, and
telephone number on the face of the envelope or carton.

Electronic bids will not be considered unless authorized by the solicitation. Bids
may be modified or withdrawn by written notice, provided such notice is received
prior to the hour and date specified for receipt of bids.

Samples of items, when required, must be submitted within the time specified
and, unless otherwise specified in the solicitation, at no expense to ATP. If not
destroyed by testing, samples will be returned at the bidder's request and
expense, unless otherwise specified in the solicitation.

Each copy of the bid shall include the legal name of the bidder and a statement
whether the bidder is a sole proprietorship, a corporation, or any other legal
entity. A bid for a corporation shall further give the state of incorporation.

Section 3-802.05 Late Submissions, Modifications, and Withdrawals of Bids

LATE SUBMISSIONS, MODIFICATIONS, AND WITHDRAWALS OF BIDS

(a)

(b)

Any bid received at the office designated in the solicitation after the exact time
specified for receipt will not be considered unless it is received before award is
made, and:

(1) it was sent by registered or certified mail not later than the fifth calendar
day prior to the date specified for receipt of bids (e.g., a bid submitted in
response to a solicitation requiring receipt of bids by the 20th of the month
must have been mailed by the 15th or earlier);

(2) it was sent by mail and it is determined by ATP that the late receipt was
due solely to mishandling by ATP after receipt at ATP's offices; or

(3) it was sent by U. S. Postal Service Express Mail Next Day Service - Post
Office to Addressee not later than 5:00 P.M. at the place of mailing two (2)
working days prior to the date specified for receipt of bids. The term
"working days" excludes weekends and U. S. Federal holidays.

Any modification or withdrawal of a bid is subject to the same conditions as in (a)
of this provision.

[101]




(c)

(d)

(e)

The only acceptable evidence to establish:

(1)

(2)

(3)

the date of mailing of a late bid, modification or withdrawal sent either by
registered or certified mail is the U.S. Postal Service postmark on both the
envelope or wrapper and on the original receipt from the U.S. Postal
Service. If neither postmark shows a legible date, the bid, modification or
withdrawal shall be deemed to have been mailed late. The term
"postmark" means a printed, stamped, or otherwise placed impression,
exclusive of a postage meter machine impression, that is readily
identifiable without further action as having been supplied and affixed on
the date of mailing by an Employee of the U.S. Postal Service. Therefore,
bidders should request the postal clerk to place a legible hand cancellation
bull's-eye "postmark" on both the receipt and the envelope or wrapper;
and

the time of receipt at ATP is the time-date stamp of ATP on the bid wrapper
or other documentary evidence of receipt maintained by ATP.

the date of mailing of a late bid, modification, or withdrawal sent by U. S.
Postal Service Express Mail Next Day Service - Post Office to Addressee is
the date entered by the post office receiving clerk on the "Express Mail
Next Day Service - Post Office to Addressee" label, and the postmark on
the envelopes or wrapper and on the original receipt from the U. S. Postal
Service. "Postmark" has the same meaning as defined in Section (c)(1) of
this provision. Therefore, bidders should request the postal clerk to place
a legible hand cancellation bull's-eye "postmark" on both the receipt and
the envelope or wrapper.

Notwithstanding (a) of this provision, a late modification of an otherwise
successful bid which makes its terms more favorable to ATP will be considered at
any time it is received and may be accepted.

Bids may be withdrawn by written notice received at any time before the exact
time set for receipt of bids. A bid may be withdrawn in person by a bidder or the
bidder's authorized representative before the exact time set for receipt of bids,
provided the identity of the person requesting withdrawal is established and the
person signs a receipt for the bid.

[102]




Section 3-802.06 Discounts

(a)

(b)

Prompt payment discounts will not be considered in evaluating bids for award.
However, offered discounts will be taken if payment is made within the discount
period, even though not considered in the evaluation of bids.

In connection with any discount offered for prompt payment, time shall be
computed from (1) the date of completion of performance of the services or
delivery of the supplies to the carrier if acceptance is at a point of origin, or date
of delivery at destination or port of embarkation if delivery and acceptance are at
either of these points, or (2) the date the correct invoice or voucher is received in
the office specified by ATP, if the latter is later than the date of performance or
delivery. For the purpose of computing the discount earned, payment shall be
considered to have been made on the date of ATP's check or electronic funds
transfer (as applicable).

Section 3-802.07 Award of Contract

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The contract will be awarded to the responsible bidder whose bid, conforming to
the solicitation, will be most advantageous to ATP, price and other factors
considered. A responsible bidder is one who affirmatively demonstrates to ATP
that the bidder has adequate financial resources and the requisite capacity,
capability, and facilities to perform the contract within the delivery period or
period of performance, has a satisfactory record of performance on other
comparable projects, has a satisfactory record of integrity and business ethics, and
is otherwise qualified and eligible to receive award under the solicitation and laws
or regulations applicable to the Procurement.

ATP reserves the right to reject any or all bids in part or in total for any reason, to
accept any bid if considered best for its interest, and to waive informalities and
minor irregularities in bids received.

ATP may accept any item or group of items of any bid, unless the bidder qualifies
the bid by specific limitations. Unless otherwise provided in the solicitation, bids
may be submitted for any quantities less than those specified, and ATP reserves
the right to make an award on any item for a unit quantity less than the quantity
offered at the unit prices bid unless the bidder specified otherwise in the bid.

A written award (or acceptance of bid) which is mailed or otherwise furnished to
the successful bidder within the time for acceptance specified in the solicitation
shall be deemed to result in a binding contract without further action by either

party.

[103]




(e) Any financial data submitted with any bid hereunder or any representation
concerning facilities or financing will not form a part of any resulting contract;
provided, however, that if the resulting contract contains a clause providing for
price reduction for defective cost or pricing data, the contract price will be subject
to reduction if cost or pricing data furnished hereunder is incomplete, inaccurate,
or not current.

Section 3-802.08 ATP-Furnished Property

No material, labor, or facilities will be furnished by ATP unless otherwise provided for in the
solicitation.

Section 3-802.09 Encouragement of Joint Ventures

Consistent with the language in Section 3-114 (Maximizing Participation of Small Business Private
Enterprises), the Contracting Officer shall insert the following provision in all ATP solicitations in
excess of the small purchase threshold for which the Contracting Officer has determined, in
writing, that award to a joint venture is appropriate for the work to be performed.

ATP encourages bids or offers, as appropriate, from duly constituted Joint Ventures in response
to this solicitation. ATP intends to maximize opportunities for all vendors, including
disadvantaged business enterprises (DBE), minority owned firms, women's business enterprises,
and other small and minority businesses, to participate as prime contractors and actively seeks
to do business with these entities. Any offeror that submits a bid or offer as a Joint Venture must
identify itself as such an entity and provide a copy with its bid or offer of the Joint Venture
Agreement.

Section 3-802.091 Mandating Award to Joint Ventures

Consistent with the language in Section 3-114 (Maximizing Participation of Small Business Private
Enterprises), the Contracting Officer shall insert the following provision in all ATP solicitations in
excess of the small purchase threshold for which the Contracting Officer has determined, in
writing, that award to a joint venture shall be mandated for the work to be performed.

ATP shall accept bids and/or offers, as appropriate, only from duly constituted Joint Ventures in
response to this solicitation. Any bid or offer that is not submitted by a Joint Venture in full

compliance with the provisions shall be rejected as nonresponsive.

Section 3-802.10 Order of Precedence

In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the solicitation (including any
resulting contract), the inconsistency shall be resolved by giving precedence in the following
order: (a) the Schedule; (b) Special Solicitation Instructions and Conditions; (c) Solicitation
Instructions and Conditions; (d) Special Provisions; (e) General Provisions; (f) other provisions of

[104]




the contract whether incorporated by reference or otherwise; and (g) the specifications or
statement of work.

Section 3-802.11 Confidential Data

Each bidder may clearly mark each page of the bid that contains trade secrets or other
confidential commercial or financial information which the bidder believes should not be
disclosed outside ATP provided that blanket designations will not be acceptable and that any
such identification of information will not be determinative of any issue relating to the
application of, or treatment of such information or materials under law. Disclosure of requested
information will be determined in accordance with the Texas Open Records Act.

Section 3-802.12 Administrative Remedies

Include the provision at Section 4-300.

Section 3-802.13 Cancellation of Solicitation

ATP reserves the right to cancel the solicitation before or after receipt of bids or proposals (as
applicable) in accordance with the provisions of this Policy.

Section 3-803 Solicitations for Construction

Solicitations for construction shall include all applicable provisions set forth in Section 3-802
hereof (with such modifications as may be appropriate to substitute "construction" for
references to property or services). In addition, such solicitations shall include the following
provisions, as applicable and unless otherwise determined by the Contracting Officer in its
reasonable discretion in accordance with Section 3-801.

Section 3-803.01 Bonds

(a) A Bid Bond on the form accompanying this solicitation (or a certified check payable
to ATP from a bank acceptable to ATP) in an amount equal to 5% of the total bid
price must be submitted by each bidder prior to bid opening date and time under
this solicitation. The Bid Bond must be executed strictly in accordance with the
instructions printed thereon. Failure to comply with the requirements for a Bid
Bond may render a bid ineligible for further consideration for award.

(b) The successful bidder will be required to submit Performance and Payment Bonds

on the forms accompanying this solicitation (each in an amount equal to the total
contract price) within the time prescribed by ATP.

[105]




Section 3-803.02 Site Investigation

All bidders are cautioned to read the Site Investigation and Conditions Affecting the Work Clause
of Contract terms and conditions accompanying the solicitation and (prior to bidding) to conduct
a site investigation sufficient to apprise bidders of the nature of the work to be performed to the
extent specified in that Clause.

Section 3-803.03 Drug-Free Workplace Program Certification

(a) By submission of a bid, the bidder certifies and agrees that, with respect to the
bidder and all Employees of the bidder to be utilized in the performance of any
contract resulting from the solicitation, it will establish a drug-free workplace
program that complies with the provisions of the Drug-Free Workplace Program
Clause under the terms and conditions of the Contract.

(b) Failure of the bidder to have the drug-free workplace program complying with this
certification and the Drug-Free Workplace Program Clause of the General
Provisions available for ATP's review and approval as part of ATP's pre-award
responsibility survey will be deemed a lack of responsibility rendering the bidder
unqualified and ineligible for award.

Section 3-804 Solicitations for Competitive Sealed Proposals

The following provisions shall be included in all solicitations for competitive sealed proposals, as
applicable and unless otherwise determined by the Contracting Officer in its reasonable
discretion in accordance with Section 3-801.

Section 3-804.01 Preparation of Offers

(a) Offerors are expected to examine the Schedule, solicitation instructions, Contract
terms and conditions, all drawings, specifications, the statement of work, and all
other provisions of, and exhibits to, the solicitation, whether incorporated by
reference or otherwise, prior to the submission of offers. Failure to do so will be
at the offeror's risk.

(b) Each offeror shall furnish the information required by the solicitation. Offerors
shall sign and print or type their name on the form provided by ATP for submitting
an offer and each continuation sheet on which they make an entry. Erasures or
other changes must be initialed by the person signing the offer. Offers signed by
an agent of the offeror (other than an officer or a partner of the offeror) are to be
accompanied by evidence of the agent's authority (unless such evidence has been
previously furnished to ATP).

(c) Pricing for the property or services offered shall be provided by offerors in the

[106]




format required by ATP. Where property is being offered, the prices offered shall
include packing unless otherwise specified. In case of any discrepancy between a
unit price and any extended or total price, the unit price will be presumed to be
correct, subject, however, to correction to the same extent and in the same
manner as any other mistake.

(d) Offers for property or services other than those specified in the Schedule will not
be considered unless specifically authorized in the solicitation.

(e) The offeror must state a definite time for delivery of property or for performance
of services unless otherwise specified in the solicitation. All measurements shall
be in the system of weights and measures in common usage in the United States
except where the Contract is federally funded in which case, unless expressly
authorized by ATP, the metric system shall be the primary unit of measure. Pricing
shall be in U.S. dollars.

(f) In computing any period of time for the solicitation or any resulting contract,
"days" means calendar days, and the day of the event from which the designated
period of time begins to run shall not be included, but the last day shall be included
unless it is a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal or State of Texas holiday, in which event
the period shall run to the end of the next business day.

Section 3-804.02 Explanation to Offerors

Any explanation desired by an offeror regarding the meaning or interpretation of the solicitation,
drawings, specifications, etc., must be requested in writing from ATP's Contracting Officer and
with sufficient time allowed for a reply to reach offerors before the submission of offers. Oral
explanations or instructions given before the award of any contract, at any pre-proposal
conferences or otherwise, will not be binding on ATP. Any information given to an offeror
concerning an interpretation of the solicitation will be furnished to all offerors as an amendment
to the solicitation, if such information is necessary to offerors in submitting offers on the
solicitation or if the lack of such information would be prejudicial to uninformed offerors.

Section 3-804.03 Acknowledgment of Amendments to Request for Proposals

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF AMENDMENTS TO REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

(a) If this solicitation is amended, then all terms and conditions which are not
modified remain unchanged.

(b) Offerors shall acknowledge receipt of any amendment to this solicitation: (1) by
signing and returning the amendment; or (2) by identifying the amendment
number and date in the space provided for this purpose on the form for submitting
an offer; or (3) by letter or electronic message (if permitted). ATP must receive

[107]




the acknowledgment by the time and at the place specified for receipt of offers.

Section 3-804.04 Submission of Offers

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Offers and modifications thereof shall be enclosed in sealed envelopes or sealed
cartons and submitted to ATP's Contracting Officer at the address specified in the
solicitation. The offeror shall show the hour and date specified in the solicitation
for receipt of offers, the solicitation number, and the offeror's name, address, and
telephone number on the face of the envelope or carton.

Electronic offers will not be considered unless authorized by the solicitation.
Offers may be modified or withdrawn by written notice, provided such notice is
received prior to the hour and date specified for receipt of offers.

Samples of items, when required, must be submitted within the time specified
and, unless otherwise specified in the solicitation, at no expense to ATP. If not
destroyed by testing, samples will be returned at the offeror's request and
expense, unless otherwise specified in the solicitation.

Each copy of the offer shall include the legal name of the offeror and a statement
whether the offeror is a sole proprietorship, a corporation, or any other legal
entity. An offer for a corporation shall further give the state of incorporation.

Section 3-804.05 Late Submissions, Modifications, and Withdrawals of Offers

(a)

Any offer received at the location designated in the solicitation after the exact
time specified for receipt will not be considered unless it is received before award
is made, and:

(1) it was sent by registered or certified mail not later than the fifth calendar
day prior to the date specified for receipt of offers (e.g., an offer submitted
in response to a solicitation requiring receipt of offers by the 20th of the
month must have been mailed by the 15th or earlier);

(2) it was sent by mail and it is determined by ATP that the late receipt was
due solely to mishandling by ATP after receipt at ATP’s offices; or

(3) it was sent by U. S. Postal Service Express Mail Next Day Service-Post Office
to Addressee, not later than 5:00 P.M. at the place of mailing two (2)
working days prior to the date specified for receipt of offers. The term

"working days" excludes weekends and U. S. Federal holidays.

(4) it is the only offer received.

[108]




(b)

(c)

(d)

Any modification of an offer, except a modification resulting from
the Contracting Officer's request for a "best and final" offer, is
subject to the same conditions as in (a)(1) and (a)(2) of this
provision.

A modification resulting from the Contracting Officer's request for
a "best and final" offer received after the time and date specified
in the request will not be considered unless received before award,
and the late receipt is due solely to mishandling by ATP after receipt
at ATP's offices.

The only acceptable evidence to establish:

(1)

(2)

(3)

the date of mailing of a late offer or modification sent either
by registered or certified mail is the U.S. Postal Service
postmark on both the envelope or wrapper and on the
original receipt from the U.S. Postal Service. If neither
postmark shows a legible date, the offer, modification or
withdrawal shall be deemed to have been mailed late. The
term "postmark" means a printed, stamped, or otherwise
placed impression, exclusive of a postage meter machine
impression, that is readily identifiable without further
action as having been supplied and affixed on the date of
mailing by an Employee of the U.S. Postal Service.
Therefore, offerors should request the postal clerk to place
a legible hand cancellation bull's-eye "postmark" on both
the receipt and the envelope or wrapper; and

the time of receipt at ATP is the time-date stamp of ATP on
the offer wrapper or other documentary evidence of
receipt maintained by ATP.

the date of mailing of a late offer, modification, or
withdrawal sent by U. S. Postal Service Express Mail Next
Day Service - Post Office to Addressee is the date entered
by the post office receiving clerk on the "Express Mail Next
Day Service - Post Office to Addressee" label and the
postmark on the envelope or wrapper and on the original
receipt from the U. S. Postal Service. "Postmark" has the
same meaning as defined in Section (d)(1) of this provision.
Therefore, offerors should request the postal clerk to place
a legible hand cancellation bull's-eye "postmark" on both
the receipt and the envelope or wrapper.

[109]




(f)

(e) Notwithstanding (a), (b), and (c) of this provision, a late
modification of an otherwise successful offer which makes its
terms more favorable to ATP will be considered at any time it is
received and may be accepted.

Offers may be withdrawn by written notice received in accordance with Section 3-
203.11 (Modification or Withdrawal of Proposals). An offer may be withdrawn in
person by an offeror or the offeror's authorized representative, provided the
identity of the person requesting withdrawal is established and the person signs a
receipt for the offer prior to award.

Section 3-804.06 Discounts

(a)

(b)

Prompt payment discounts will not be considered in evaluating offers for award,
unless otherwise specified in the solicitation. However, offered discounts will be
taken if payment is made within the discount period, even though not considered
in the evaluation of offers.

In connection with any discount offered for prompt payment, time shall be
computed from (1) the date of completion of performance of the services or
delivery of the supplies to the carrier if acceptance is at a point of origin, or date
of delivery at destination or port of embarkation if delivery and acceptance are
at either of these points, or (2) the date the correct invoice or voucher is received
in the office specified by ATP, if the latter is later than the date of performance or
delivery. For the purpose of computing the discount earned, payment shall be
considered to have been made on the date of ATP's check or electronic funds
transfer (if applicable).

Section 3-804.07 Award of Contract

(a)

(b)

The contract will be awarded to the responsible offeror whose offer, conforming
to the solicitation, will be most advantageous to ATP, price and other factors
considered. A responsible offeror is one who affirmatively demonstrates to ATP
that the offeror has adequate financial resources and the requisite capacity,
capability, and facilities to perform the contract within the delivery period or
period of performance, has a satisfactory record of performance on other
comparable projects, has a satisfactory record of integrity and business ethics, and
is otherwise qualified and eligible to receive award under the solicitation and laws
or regulations applicable to the Procurement.

ATP reserves the right to accept other than the lowest offer, reject any or all offers

in part or in total for any reason, to accept any offer if considered best for its
interest, and to waive informalities and minor irregularities in offers received.

[110]




(c) ATP may accept any item or group of items of any offer, unless the offeror qualifies
the offer by specific limitations. Unless otherwise provided in the solicitation,
offers may be submitted for any quantities less than those specified, and ATP
reserves the right to make an award on any item for a unit quantity less than the
guantity offered at the unit prices offered unless the offeror specifies otherwise
in the offer.

(d) A written award (or acceptance of offer) which is mailed, telegraphed, or
otherwise furnished to the successful offeror within the time for acceptance
specified in the solicitation shall be deemed to result in a binding contract without
further action by either party.

(e) ATP may, within the time specified therein, accept any offer or part thereof, as
provided in (c) above, whether or not there are negotiations subsequent to its
receipt, unless the offer is withdrawn by written notice received by ATP prior to
award. If subsequent negotiations are conducted, they shall not constitute a
rejection or counteroffer on the part of ATP.

(f) ATP may award a contract, based on initial offers received, without discussion of
such offers. Accordingly, each initial offer should be submitted on the most
favorable terms from a price and technical standpoint which the offeror can
submit to ATP.

(g) Any financial data submitted with any offer hereunder or any representation
concerning facilities or financing will not form a part of any resulting contract;
provided, however, that if the resulting contract contains a clause providing for
price reduction for defective cost or pricing data, the contract price will be subject
to reduction if cost or pricing data furnished hereunder is incomplete, inaccurate,
or not current.

Section 3-804.08 ATP-Furnished Property

Include the provision at Section 3-802.08.

Section 3-804.09 Order of Precedence

Include the provision at Section 3-802.10.

Section 3-804.10 Confidential Data

Include the provision at Section 3-802.11, substituting the term "offeror" for the term "bidder"
and the term "offer" for the term "bid" wherever they appear.

[111]




Section 3-804.11 Administrative Remedies

Include the provision at Section 10-102.

Section 3-804.12 Cancellation of Solicitation

Include the provision at Section 3-802.13.

Section 3-804.13 Encouragement of Joint Ventures

Include the provisions at Section 3-802.09 when the Contracting Officer has determined, in
writing, that award to a Joint Venture is appropriate for the work to be performed.

Section 3-804.131 Mandating Award to Joint Ventures

Include the provisions at Section 3-802.091 when the Contracting Officer has determined, in
writing, that it is appropriate to mandate award to Joint Ventures.

Section 3-804.14 Wage Rates
Include the provisions at Section 6-303.16 when dealing with Services Contracts.

Include the provisions at Section 6-402.28 when dealing with Construction Contracts.

[112]




CHAPTER 4 — SPECIFICATIONS, ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES, AND ORGANIZATIONAL CONFLICT

OF INTEREST.
Section 4-100 General
Section 4-101 Definitions

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

“Brand Name” means a name of a product or service that is limited to the product or
service produced or controlled by one private entity or by a closed group of private
entities. Brand names may include trademarks, manufacturer names, or model names
or numbers that are associated with only one manufacturer.

"Brand Name Specification" means a specification limited to one or more items by
manufacturers' names or catalogue numbers.

"Brand Name or Equal Specification" means a specification which uses one or more
manufacturer's names or catalogue numbers to describe the standard of quality,
performance, and other characteristics needed to meet ATP's requirements and which
provides for the submission of equivalent products.

"Public Transportation" means an approved list of property, services, or construction
items described by model or catalogue numbers, which, prior to competitive solicitation,
ATP has determined will meet the applicable specification requirements.

"Specification” means any statement of work or any description of the physical,
functional, or performance characteristics, or of the nature of property, service, or
construction. A specification includes, as appropriate, requirements for inspecting,
testing, or preparing a property, service, or construction item for delivery. Unless the
context requires otherwise, the terms "specification" and "purchase description" are used
interchangeably throughout the Procurement Policy and Guidelines.

Section 4-200 Policies and Requirements

Section 4-201 Purpose and Policies

(1)

(2)

The purpose of a specification is to serve as a basis for obtaining a property, service, or
construction item adequate and suitable for ATP's needs in a cost-effective manner taking
into account, to the extent practicable, the costs of ownership and operation as well as
initial acquisition costs. Itis a requirement of law and the Policy of ATP that specifications
permit full and open competition consistent with this purpose. Specifications shall be
drafted with the objective of clearly describing ATP's requirements.

Specifications shall, to the extent practicable, emphasize functional or performance
criteria while limiting design or other detailed physical descriptions to those necessary to

[113]




(3)

(4)

meet the needs of ATP. It is recognized, however, that the preference for use of
functional or Performance Specifications is primarily applicable to the Procurement of
property and services. Such preference often is not practicable in construction apart from
the Procurement of supply-type items for a construction project.

It is the general Policy of ATP to procure standard Commercial Products whenever
practicable. In developing specifications, accepted commercial standards shall be used
and unique requirements shall be avoided, to the extent practicable.

Internal Responsibilities for Solicitation Issuance

User Department

The user department is responsible for providing the in-house independent cost estimate,
technical specifications/scope of work, evaluation criteria (if applicable) and
corresponding weights, drawings for equipment and materials, and service contracts.
The user department shall also prepare a draft of additional and special terms and
conditions to cover such items as required or desired delivery schedule, progress
reporting requirements, and technical evaluation criteria in order of merit. Requestors
are responsible for providing this information, together with a purchase requisition and
information on funding source, to the Procurement Department.

Procurement Department

The Procurement Department is responsible for creating every solicitation package and
reviewing and revising information submitted by the user department to ensure
compliance with these policies and federal requirements. A solicitation package includes
instructions to bidders/offerors, technical specifications or scope of work, the special
terms and conditions recommended by the Department Project Manager, the contractual
provisions required by the Federal Government (if needed), the proposed contract terms
and conditions, and, if applicable, the evaluation criteria that will be utilized to determine
contractor selection and protest procedures.

All Departments

All departments involved in the preparation of the solicitation shall review the portions
for which they are responsible. When all reviews have been completed, and approvals
obtained, the Procurement Department will advertise and issue the final solicitation.

Section 4-202 Authority to Prepare Specifications

The Executive Director or his Designee shall be responsible for preparing, approving, revising, and
maintaining all specifications used by ATP for Procurement. Such procedures shall ensure that
specifications are completed a sufficient time in advance of ATP's requirements to permit

[114]




selection and implementation of the appropriate Procurement method under these policies and
guidelines. When there will be no conflict of interest as described in the Procurement Policy and
Guidelines and the Ethics, Conflicts and Nondisclosure Policy and it is otherwise in the best
interest of ATP, a contract may be entered into to prepare specifications for ATP's use in the
Procurement of property, services, or construction. In an emergency under Section 3-206
(Emergency Procurements), any necessary specifications may be utilized without regard to
provisions of this Chapter.

Section 4-203 Procedures for the Development of Specifications

(1) This section applies to all persons who may prepare a specification for ATP's use. A
specification may provide alternate descriptions of property, services, or construction
items where two or more design, functional, or performance criteria will satisfactorily
meet ATP's requirements. Specifications should not include any solicitation or contract
term or condition such as a requirement for time or place of bid opening, time of delivery,
payment, liquidated damages, or qualification of bidders.

(2) This subsection covers or equal specifications and shall apply whenever Brand Names are
used in specifications, except as provided in Section 4-203(3), below.

(a) Brand Name or equal specifications may be prepared to be used when the
Contracting Officer determines in writing that:

(i) no specification fora common or general use item or Public Transportation
is available;
(ii) time does not permit the preparation of another form of specification, not

including a Brand Name specification;

(iii) the nature of the product or the nature of ATP's requirements makes use
of a Brand Name or equal specification suitable for the Procurement;

(iv) it is impractical or uneconomical to write a clear and accurate description
of the technical requirements of the property or services to be acquired;
or

(v) use of a Brand Name or equal specification is in ATP's best interest.

(b) Brand Name or equal specifications shall seek to designate three or as many

different brands as are practicable as "or equal" references and shall further state
that substantially equivalent products to those designated will be considered for
award. Brand Name or equal specifications shall include a description of the
particular design, functional, or performance characteristics which are required to
meet the needs of ATP.

[115]




(c) Where a Brand Name or equal specification is used in a solicitation, the solicitation
shall contain explanatory language that the use of a Brand Name is for the purpose
of describing the standard of quality, performance, and characteristics desired and
is not intended to limit or restrict competition.

(3) A Brand Name specification is restrictive and may be used only when the Contracting
Officer makes a written determination that only the identified Brand Name item or items
will satisfy ATP's needs. The Contracting Officer shall seek to identify sources from which
the designated Brand Name item or items can be obtained and shall solicit such sources
to achieve whatever degree of competition is practicable.

Section 4-204 Public Transportation

A Public Transportation may be developed when testing or examination of the property or
construction items prior to issuance of the solicitation is desirable or necessary in order to best
satisfy ATP's requirements. When developing a Public Transportation, a representative group of
potential Suppliers shall be solicited in writing to submit products for testing or examination to
determine acceptability for inclusion on a Public Transportation. Any potential Supplier, even
though not solicited, may offer its products for consideration. Inclusion on a Public
Transportation shall be based on results of tests or examinations conducted in accordance with
prior published requirements. Except as otherwise provided by law, trade secrets, test data, and
similar information provided by the Supplier will be kept confidential when requested in writing
by the Supplier. However, test results used in formulating Public Transportations shall be made
public but, in a manner, so as to protect the confidentiality of the identity of the competitors by,
for example, using numerical designations.

Section 4-205 Full and Open Competition

All specifications shall be written in such a manner as to describe the requirements to be met,
without having the effect of exclusively requiring a proprietary supply, service, or construction
item, or Procurement from a sole source, unless no other manner of description will suffice. In
that event, a written determination shall be made that it is not practicable to use a less restrictive
specification.

Section 4-206 Specifications Prepared by Others

The requirements of this Chapter shall apply to all specifications prepared by other than ATP
personnel, including, but not limited to, those prepared by consultants, architects, engineers,
designers, and other draftsmen of specifications for public contracts. Contracts for the
preparation of specifications by other than ATP personnel shall require the specification writer
to adhere to such requirements.

[116]




Section 4-300 Administrative Remedies

This chapter provides for administrative remedies for protests against solicitations and awards,
suspensions and debarments, and contractual disputes. The remedies are intended to foster
public confidence in the integrity of ATP's Procurement system and provide for fair and impartial
resolution of controversies in an expeditious and cost-efficient manner.

Section 4-300A Solicitation Provision

All solicitations for ATP contracts shall contain the following provision:
ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES

By submission of a bid, proposal, offer, or quotation in response to this solicitation, the bidder or
offeror agrees to exhaust its administrative remedies under Chapter 4 of ATP's Procurement
Policy and Guidelines or the Disputes Clause of any resulting contract prior to seeking judicial
relief of any type in connection with any matter related to this solicitation, the award of any
contract, and any dispute under any resulting contract.

Section 4-301 Protests of Solicitations and Awards

Section 4-301A Right to Protest

Any interested party who is aggrieved or adversely affected in connection with the solicitation or
award of a contract may protest to ATP and appeal any adverse decision in accordance with the
provisions of this section. Interested parties are encouraged to seek resolution of their complaint
initially with the Contracting Officer who issued the solicitation. Any such complaint must be
made in writing.

Section 4-301B Definitions

(1) "Interested Party" means an actual or prospective bidder, offeror, or contractor that may
be aggrieved by the solicitation or a prospective or actual award of a contract or by the
protest.

(2) "Protest" means a claim that there has been a violation of law or the Procurement Policy

and Guidelines or some other impropriety in connection with an ATP Procurement.
(3) "Protester" means any interested party who files a protest.

Section 4-302 Filing of Protest

(1) Protests shall be made in writing to the Procurement Director and shall be filed in
duplicate within 10 days after the protester knows or should have known of the facts

[117]




giving rise thereto. A protest is considered filed when received by the Director of
Procurement. Protests filed after the 10-day period shall not be considered.

(2) Protesters may file a protest on any phase of solicitation or award including, but not
limited to, specifications preparation, bid or proposal solicitation, award, or disclosure of
in- formation marked confidential in the bid or offer.

(3) To expedite handling of protests, the envelope should be labeled "Protest. "The written
protest shall include as a minimum the following:

(a) the name and address of the protester;

(b) appropriate identification of the Procurement and, if a contract has been
awarded, its number;

(c) a statement of reasons for the protest; and

(d) supporting exhibits, evidence, or documents to substantiate any claims unless not
available within the filing time, in which case the expected availability date shall
be indicated.

(4) Any additional information requested by any of the parties should be submitted within
the time periods established by the Procurement Director in order to expedite
consideration of the protest. Failure of any party to comply expeditiously with a request
for information may result in resolution of the protest without consideration of any
information which is not timely filed.

Section 4-303 Stay of Procurements

When a protest has been filed within 10 days and before an award has been made, ATP shall
make no award of the contract until the protest has been settled, unless the Executive Director
makes a written determination that the award of the contract without delay is necessary to
protect substantial interests of ATP.

Section 4-404 Availability of Information

ATP shall, upon written request, make available to any interested party information submitted
that bears on the substance of the protest except where information is proprietary, confidential,
or otherwise permitted or required to be withheld by applicable law. Persons who wish to keep
such information submitted by them confidential should so request by specifically identifying
such information within documents submitted and indicating on the front page of each
document that it contains such information. Any such written request for confidentiality of data
shall be honored only to the extent permitted by applicable law and subject to Section 1-401
(Public Access to Procurement Information) and the other provisions of this Policy and applicable

[118]




law.

Section 4-305 Protest Decision

(1) A decision on a protest shall be made by ATP as expeditiously as possible after receiving
all relevant, requested information. If a protest is sustained, the available remedies
include, but are not limited to, amendment to the solicitation, re-solicitation, cancellation
of the solicitation, and termination of the contract.

(2) In addition to any other relief, a recommendation may be made to the Board that the
protesting bidder or offeror be awarded the reasonable costs incurred in connection with
the solicitation, including bid preparation costs other than attorney's fees, when a protest
is sustained and the protesting bidder or offeror should have been, but was not, awarded
the contract under the solicitation. such recommendations shall confer no rights on the
protester and shall not be binding on ATP.

Section 4-306 Request for Reconsideration

(2) Reconsideration of a decision of the Procurement Director may be requested by the
protester, appellant, or any interested party who submitted comments during
consideration of the protest. The request for reconsideration shall contain a detailed
statement of the factual and legal grounds upon which reversal or modification is deemed
warranted, specifying any errors of law made or information not previously considered.

(2) Requests for reconsideration of the decision by the Procurement Director shall be filed
with the Executive Director not later than five days after receipt of such decision. A
request for reconsideration shall be acted upon as expeditiously as possible. The
Executive Director may uphold the previous decision or reopen the case as such officer
deems appropriate.

Section 4-307 Finality of Decision

A decision under this Section 4-407 shall be final and conclusive unless fraudulent or appealed
administratively to the Board within seven days after receipt of the decision.

Section 4-308 Debarment or Suspension

Section 4-309 Scope of Coverage

This section applies to all debarments or suspensions of persons from consideration for award of
contracts imposed by the Executive Director.

[119]




Section 4-310 Authority to Debar or Suspend

(1) After reasonable notice to the person involved and reasonable opportunity for that
person to be heard, the Executive Director shall have authority to debar a person for
cause from consideration for award of contracts. The debarment shall not be for a period
of more than three years. The Executive Director shall have authority to suspend a person
from consideration for award of contracts if there is probable cause for debarment. The
suspension shall not be for a period exceeding three months.

(2) The causes for debarment or suspension may include the following:

(a) conviction for commission of a criminal offense as an incident to obtaining or
attempting to obtain a public or private contract or subcontract, or in the
performance of such contract or subcontract;

(b) conviction under state or federal statutes of embezzlement, theft, forgery,
bribery, falsification or destruction of records, receiving stolen property, or any
other offense indicating a lack of business integrity or business honesty which
currently, seriously, and directly affects responsibility as a contractor;

(c) conviction under state or federal antitrust statutes arising out of the submission
of bids or proposals;

(d) violation of contract provisions, as set forth below, of a character which is
regarded by the Executive Director to be so serious as to justify debarment action:

(i) deliberate failure without good cause to perform in accordance with the
specifications or within the time limit provided in the contract; or

(ii) a recent record of failure to perform or of unsatisfactory performance in
accordance with the terms of one or more ATP contracts; provided, that
failure to perform or unsatisfactory performance caused by acts beyond
the control of the contractor shall not be considered to be a basis for
debarment; and

(e) any other cause specified in the Procurement documents or that the Executive
Director determines to be so serious and compelling as to affect responsibility as
a contractor with ATP, including debarment by another government entity.
Section 4-311 Suspension
(2) Upon written determination by the Executive Director that probable cause exists for

debarment as set forth in Section 10-302, a contractor or prospective contractor shall be
suspended. A notice of suspension, including a copy of such determination, shall be sent

[120]




to the suspended contractor or prospective contractor. Such notice shall state that:

(a) the suspension is for the period it takes to complete an investigation into possible
debarment including any appeals of a debarment decision but not for a period in
excess of three months;

(b) bids or proposals will not be solicited from the suspended person, and, if they are
received, they will not be considered during the period of suspension; and

(c) if a hearing has not been held, the suspended person may request a hearing in
accordance with the Procurement Policy and Guidelines.

(2) A contractor or prospective contractor is suspended upon issuance of the notice of
suspension. The suspension shall remain in effect during any appeals. The suspension may
be ended by the Executive Director or the Board but, otherwise, shall only be ended when
the suspension has been in effect for three months or a debarment decision takes effect.

Section 4-312 Initiation of Debarment Action

Written notice of the proposed debarment action shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt
requested, to the contractor or prospective contractor. This notice shall:

(1) state that debarment is being considered;

(2) set forth the reasons for the action;

(3) state that, if the contractor or prospective contractor so requests, a hearing will be held,
provided such request is received by the Executive Director within 10 days after the
contractor or prospective contractor receives notice of the proposed action; and

(4) state that the contractor or prospective contractor maybe represented by counsel.

Section 4-313 Request for Hearing

A contractor or prospective contractor that has been notified of a proposed debarment action
may request in writing that a hearing be held. Such request must be received by the Executive
Director within 10 days of receipt of notice of the proposed action. If no request is received within
the 10-day period, a final determination may be made as set forth in Section 4-317.

Section 4-314 Notice of Hearing

If a hearing is requested, the Executive Director may appoint a hearing officer to conduct the
hearing and recommend a final decision. Otherwise, the Executive Director shall act as the
hearing officer. The hearing officer shall send a written notice of the time and place of the

[121]




hearing. Such notice shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, and shall state the
nature and purpose of the proceedings.

Section 4-315 Authority of Hearing Officer

The hearing officer, in the conduct of the hearing, has the power, among others, to:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
(5)
(6)

(7)
(8)

(9)

hold informal conferences to settle, simplify, or fix the issues in a proceeding, or to
consider other matters that may aid in the expeditious disposition of the proceeding
either by consent of the parties or upon such officer's own motion;

require parties to state their positions with respect to the various issues in the
proceeding;

require parties to produce for examination those relevant witnesses and documents
under their control;

rule on motions and other procedural items on matters pending before such officer;
regulate the course of the hearing and conduct of participants therein;

receive, rule on, exclude or limit evidence, and limit lines of questioning or testimony
which are irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly repetitious;

fix time limits for submission of written documents in matters before such officer;

impose appropriate sanctions against any party or person failing to obey an order under
these procedures, which sanctions may include:

(a) refusing to allow the disobedient party to support or oppose designated claims or
defenses, or prohibiting that party from introducing designated matters in
evidence;

(b) excluding all testimony of an unresponsive or evasive witness; and
(c) expelling any party or person from further participation in the hearing; and

take official notice of any material fact not appearing in evidence in the record, if such
fact is among the traditional matters of judicial notice.

[122]




Section 4-316 Hearings

(1) Hearings shall be as informal as may be reasonable and appropriate under the
circumstances and in accordance with applicable due process requirements. ATP will be
represented in hearings by legal counsel. The weight to be attached to evidence
presented in any particular form will be within the discretion of the hearing officer.
Stipulations of fact agreed upon by the parties may be regarded and used as evidence at
the hearing. The parties may stipulate the testimony that would be given by a witness if
the witness were present. The hearing officer may require evidence in addition to that
offered by the parties.

(2) A hearing may be recorded but need not be transcribed except at the request and
expense of the person making such request. A record of those present, identification of
any written evidence presented, copies of all written statements, and a summary of the
hearing shall be sufficient record.

(3) Opening statements may be made unless a party waives this right.

(4) Witnesses shall testify under oath or affirmation. All witnesses may be cross-examined.

Section 4-317 Debarment Decision

The hearing officer shall prepare a written determination recommending a course of action. Such
determination shall be given to the Executive Director. Copies shall also be sent to the contractor
or prospective contractor. The contractor or prospective contractor shall have 10 days to file
comments upon the hearing officer's determination. The Executive Director may request oral
argument. The Executive Director shall issue a final decision. Both the hearing officer's
determination and the final decision shall recite the evidence relied upon. When debarment is
recommended or ordered, the length of the debarment (not to exceed three years), the reasons
for such action, and to what extent affiliates are affected shall be set forth. In addition, the final
determination shall inform the debarred person of his rights to administrative review under the
Procurement Policy and Guidelines.

Section 4-318 Effect of Debarment Decision

A debarment decision will take effect upon issuance and receipt by the contractor or prospective
contractor. After the debarment decision takes effect, the contractor shall remain debarred until
a court, the Board, or the Executive Director orders otherwise or until the debarment period
specified in the decision expires.

Section 4-319 Appeal of Decision

A contractor may appeal administratively any debarment decision to the Board within seven days
after receipt of the decision.

[123]




Section 4-320 Contract Disputes Procedures

Section 4-320A Scope of Coverage

(1)

(2)

This section contains the procedures for resolving contract disputes pursuant to the
Disputes Clause intended to be included in ATP contracts unless otherwise determined by
the [Procurement Director or General Counsel] and specified in the applicable contract.
Itis ATP's Policy to try to resolve all controversies by mutual agreement without litigation.
In appropriate circumstances, informal discussions between the parties can aid in the
resolution of differences by mutual agreements and are encouraged. If such informal
discussions do not resolve the controversy, individuals who have not participated
substantially in the matter in controversy may be brought in to conduct discussions if this
is feasible.

Unless otherwise determined by the [Procurement Director or General Counsel] and
specified in the applicable contract, this section is intended applicable to controversies
between ATP and a contractor which arise under, or by virtue of, a contract between
them. This includes, without limitation, controversies based upon breach of contract,
mistake, misrepresentation, or other cause for contract modification, reformation, or
rescission. The word "controversy" is meant to be broad and all-encompassing. It includes
the full spectrum of disagreements from pricing of routine contract changes to claims of
breach of contract.

Section 4-321 Delegation of ATP

(1)

(2)

Subject to subsection (2), below, unless a provision of the contract specifies that authority
to settle and resolve controversies and to issue decisions is reserved to the Executive
Director, such authority is hereby delegated to the Contracting Officer. Within the
Procurement Policy and Guidelines, therefore, "Contracting Officer" denotes the person
with such authority whether that is the Contracting Officer or a of such officer.

The settlement or resolution of controversies involving claims in excess of $25,000 is
subject to the prior written approval of the Executive Director. In such cases, the
Contracting Officer shall prepare a recommended decision for the Executive Director.

Section 4-322 Contracting Officer's Decision

(1)

When a controversy cannot be resolved by mutual agreement, the Contracting Officer
shall, after written request by the contractor for a final decision, promptly issue a written
decision. Before issuing a final decision, the Contracting Officer shall:

(a) review the facts pertinent to the controversy; and

(b) secure any necessary assistance from legal, fiscal, and other advisors.

[124]




(2) The Contracting Officer immediately shall furnish a copy of the decision to the contractor,
by certified mail, return receipt requested, or by any other method that provides evidence
of receipt, and include in the decision:

(a) a description of the controversy;

(b) a reference to pertinent contract provisions;

(c) a statement of the factual areas of agreement or disagreement;

(d) a statement of the Contracting Officer's decision, with supporting rationale; and

(e) a Section substantially as follows:
"This is the final decision of the Contracting Officer. This decision may be appealed
to the Board of Directors of ATP. If you decide to make such an appeal, you must
mail or otherwise furnish written notice of appeal to the Board on or before the
90th day from the date you receive this decision. A copy of the notice of appeal
shall be furnished to the Contracting Officer from whose decision the appeal is
taken. The notice shall indicate that an appeal is intended, reference the decision
from which the appeal is being taken, and identify the contract involved."

(3) If the Contracting Officer does not issue a written decision within 120 days after written
request by the contractor for a final decision, or within such longer period as may be
agreed upon by the parties, then the contractor may proceed as if an adverse decision
had been received.

Section 4-323 Claims by ATP

All controversies involving claims asserted by ATP against a contractor which cannot be resolved
by mutual agreement shall be the subject of a decision by the Contracting Officer.

Section 4-324 Administrative Appeals

Section 4-325 Scope of Coverage

This section provides for the administrative appeal to the Board or its duly authorized
representative.

Section 4-326 Authorized Representative

The Board may, by resolution evidenced by an appointment signed by the Chairman, designate a
duly authorized representative to decide administrative appeals fairly and impartially pursuant
to this section and according to the facts, the Procurement Policy and Guidelines, contract

[125]




provisions, and the applicable law. Such authorized representative may be an administrative
judge, a hearing officer, or an administrative board of appeals.

Section 4-327 Hearings

Any person appealing a decision administratively under this chapter or the Disputes Clause of an
ATP contract shall be entitled to a hearing in accordance with this section. All proceedings in an
administrative appeal shall be de novo. The Board or its duly authorized representative shall have
all ATP of a hearing officer under Section 4-315 (Authority of Hearing Officer) of the Procurement
Policy and Guidelines. If not previously established by the Board, the duly authorized
representative shall prescribe hearing procedures appropriate under the circumstances and in
accordance with applicable due process requirements. A transcript of the hearings shall be taken
by a notary public authorized by law to administer oaths. Witnesses shall testify under oath or
affirmation.

Section 4-328 Finality of Decision

The decision of ATP or its duly authorized representative in an administrative appeal shall be final
and conclusive as to questions of fact unless determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to
have been fraudulent, capricious, arbitrary, so grossly erroneous as necessarily to imply bad faith,
or not supported by substantial evidence. The decision of ATP or its duly authorized
representative shall not be final and conclusive as to questions of law. No action challenging such
decision shall be brought more than two years from the date of the contractor's receipt of such
decision.

Section 4-400 Organizational Conflicts of Interest

Organizational Conflict of Interest (OCl) arises where because of other activities or relationships
with other persons, a person is potentially unable to render impartial assistance or advice to ATP;
or the person’s objectivity in performing the contract is or might be otherwise impaired; or a
person has an unfair competitive advantage. Contracting Officers have the responsibility to avoid,
neutralize, or mitigate potential conflicts of interest to prevent an unfair competitive advantage
or the existence of conflicting roles that might impair a contractor’s objectivity.

Contracting Officers are required to examine each potential conflict and exercise common sense,
good judgment, and sound discretion when assessing whether a significant potential OCI exists
and then developing an appropriate way to resolve it.

There are three areas of concern examined in order to avoid, neutralize, or mitigate OCl:

Unequal Access to Information: If during the performance under a previous or current contract
or task order for ATP a firm has access to non-public information and that information could
provide them a competitive advantage in a later competition for a follow-on contract, their
performance may create an organizational conflict of interest. For example, an OCl would exist

[126]




if a firm involved in the development or validation of ATP's independent cost estimate (i.e., non-
public information) and subsequently competes for the contract for which the ICE was
developed.

Biased Ground Rules: If during the performance under a previous or current contract or task
order for ATP a firm in some sense set the ground rules for another task/contract with ATP by,
for example, writing the statement of work, evaluation factors, specifications, or system design.
By participating in such activities, the firm could skew the competition in its favor (whether
intentional or not). The firm by virtue of its special knowledge of ATP’s future requirements
would have an unfair competitive advantage.

Lack of Impartiality or Impaired Objectivity: When the firm is unable, or potentially unable, to
provide impartial and objective assistance or advice to the Recipient due to other activities,
relationships, contracts, or circumstances. For example, if a firm’s work under one ATP
contract/task entails it evaluating itself either through an assessment of performance under
another contract/task or through an evaluation of proposals. Doing so could lead to impaired
objectivity, where the firm’s ability to render impartial advice to ATP could appear to be
undermined by its relationship with the entity whose work product is being evaluated.

Section 4-401 Scope

This chapter prescribes responsibilities, general rules, and procedures for identifying, evaluating,
and resolving organizational conflicts of interest. It also provides examples to assist the
Contracting Officer in applying these rules and procedures to individual contracting situations.
Section 4-402 Definitions

An "organizational conflict of interest" exists when one of the three circumstances described in
Section 11-000 (General Provisions) arises, that is, (a) unequal access to information, (b) biased
ground rules, or (c) lack of impartiality or impaired objectivity.

Section 4-403 Applicability

(1) This chapter applies to contracts with either profit or nonprofit organizations.

(2) The applicability of this chapter is not limited to any particular kind of Procurement.
However, organizational conflicts of interest are more likely to occur in contracts involving

(a) management support services;
(b) consultant or other professional services;

(c) contractor performance of, or assistance in, technical evaluations; or

[127]




(d) systems engineering and technical direction work performed by a contractor that
does not have overall contractual responsibility for development or production.

Section 4-404 Waiver

The Executive Director or his Designee may waive any general rule or procedure of this chapter
by determining that its application in a particular situation would not be in ATP's interest. Any
request for waiver must be in writing, shall set forth the extent of the conflict, and requires

approval by the Executive Director or his Designee.

Section 4-405 Contracting Officer's Responsibilities

(1) Using the general rules, procedures, and examples in this chapter, the Contracting Officer
shall analyze planned Procurements in order to :

(a) identify and evaluate potential organizational conflicts of interest as early in the
Procurement process as possible; and

(b) avoid, neutralize, or mitigate significant potential conflicts before contract award.

(2) The Contracting Officer should obtain the advice of legal counsel and the assistance of
appropriate technical specialists in evaluating potential conflicts and in developing any
necessary solicitation provisions and contract clauses (see Section 4-414).

(3) Before issuing a solicitation for a contract that may involve a significant potential conflict,
the Contracting Officer shall recommend to the Executive Director a course of action for
resolving the conflict (see Section 4-411).

(4) In fulfilling his responsibilities for identifying and resolving potential conflicts, the
Contracting Officer should avoid creating unnecessary delays, burdensome information
requirements, and excessive documentation. The Contracting Officer's judgment need be
formally documented only when a substantive issue concerning potential organizational
conflict of interest exists.

Section 4-406 Rules and Application
Section 4-406A Introduction

The general rules in Section 4-406B through Section 4-409 prescribe limitations on contracting as
the means of avoiding, neutralizing, or mitigating organizational conflicts of interest that might
otherwise exist in the stated situations. Some examples are provided in Section 11-208. These
examples are illustrative only and each individual contracting situation should be examined, and
a determination as to appropriate mitigations made, on a case-by-case basis taking into account
the particular facts and circumstances at issue and the nature of the proposed contract. Conflicts
may arise in situations not expressly covered in this section or in the examples in Section 4-412.

[128]




The exercise of common sense, good judgment, and sound discretion is required in both the
decision on whether a potential or actual organizational conflict exists and, if it does, the
development of an appropriate means for resolving it. The two underlying principles are :

(1) preventing the existence of conflicting roles that might bias a contractor's judgment; and
(2) preventing unfair competitive advantage.
Section 4-406B Providing Systems Engineering and Technical Direction

(1) A contractor that provides systems engineering and technical direction for a Procurement
but does not have overall contractual responsibility for its development, integration,
assembly, testing, or production shall not (1) be awarded a contract to supply the system
or any of its major components or (2) be a subcontractor or consultant to a Supplier of
the system or any of its major components, unless the potential or actual OCI can be
mitigated in accordance with this Section 4-406.

(2) Systems engineering includes a combination of substantially all of the following activities:
determining specifications, identifying and resolving interface problems, developing test
requirements, evaluating test data, and supervising design. Technical direction includes a
combination of substantially all of the following activities: developing work statements,
determining parameters, directing other contractors' operations, and resolving technical
controversies. In performing these activities, a contractor occupies a highly influential and
responsible position in determining a system's basic concepts and supervising their
execution by other contractors. Therefore, this contractor should not be in a position to
make decisions favoring its own products or capabilities, unless appropriate steps can be
taken to prevent or mitigate the potential or actual OCI.

Section 4-407 Preparing Specifications or Work Statements

(1) (a) If a contractor prepares and furnishes complete specifications covering non-
developmental items to be used in a competitive Procurement, that contractor shall not
be allowed to furnish these items, either as a Prime Contractor as a subcontractor, for a
reasonable period of time including, at least, the duration of the initial production
contract. This rule shall not apply to :

(i) contractors that furnish, at ATP's request, specifications or data regarding
a product they provide even though the specifications or data may have
been paid for separately or in the price of the product;

(ii)  situations in which contractors, acting as industry representatives, help
ATP prepare, refine, or coordinate specifications, regardless of source;
provided that this assistance is supervised and controlled by ATP
representatives; or

[129]




(2)

(b)

(c)

(iii)  circumstances where the appropriate steps can be taken to prevent or
mitigate the potential or actual OCI.

If a single contractor drafts complete specifications for non-developmental
equipment, it should be eliminated for a reasonable time from competition for
production based on the specifications, unless the potential or actual OCl can be
mitigated in accordance with this Section 11-200. This should be done in order to
is intended to avoid a situation in which the contractor could draft specifications
favoring its own products or capabilities. ATP should take steps to assure it obtains
unbiased advice as to the content of the specifications and to avoid allegations of
favoritism in the award of production contracts.

In development work, it is normal to select firms that have done the most
advanced work in the field. These firms can be expected to design and develop
around their own prior knowledge. Development contractors frequently can start
production earlier and more knowledgeably than firms that did not participate in
the development, and this can affect the time and quality of production, both of
which are important to ATP. In some instances, ATP may have financed the
development. Thus, while the development contractor has a competitive
advantage, it is an unavoidable one that is not considered unfair; hence, no
prohibition should be imposed.

(a). If a contractor prepares, or assists in preparing, a work statement to be used in
competitively procuring a system or services, or provides material leading directly,
predictably, and without delay to such a work statement, that contractor may not supply
the system, major components of the system, or the services unless :

(b)

(i) it is the sole source;
(ii) it has participated in the development and design work;

(iii) more than one contractor has been involved in preparing the work
statement; or

(iv) appropriate steps can be taken to prevent or mitigate the potential or
actual OCI.

ATP normally should prepare its own work statements. When contractor
assistance is necessary, the contractor might often be in a position to favor its own
products or capabilities. To overcome the possibility of bias, contractors are
prohibited from supplying a system or services acquired on the basis of work
statements growing out of their services, unless excepted in subsection (a) above.

[130]




(c) For the reason given in Section 11-203(1)(c), no prohibitions are imposed on
development and design contractors.

Section 4-408 Providing Technical Evaluation or Consulting Services

Contracts involving (1) technical evaluations of other contractors' offers or products or (2)
consulting services generally shall not be awarded to a contractor that would evaluate, or advise
ATP concerning, its own products or activities or those of a competitor without proper safeguards
to ensure objectivity and protect ATP's interests.

Section 4-409 Obtaining Access to Proprietary Information

(1) A contractor that gains access to proprietary information of other companies in
performing advisory services for ATP must agree with the other companies to (a) protect
their information from unauthorized use or disclosure for as long as it remains proprietary
and (b) refrain from using the information for any purpose other than that for which it
was furnished. The Contracting Officer shall obtain copies of these agreements and
ensure that they are properly executed.

(2) Proprietary information is information considered so valuable by its owners that it is held
secret by them and their licensees. When a contractor requires such information from
others to perform an ATP contract and can use the leverage of the contract to obtain it,
the contractor may gain an unfair competitive advantage unless restrictions are imposed.
These restrictions protect the information and encourage companies to provide it when
necessary for contract performance. They are not intended to protect information (a)
furnished voluntarily without limitations on its use or (b) available to ATP or contractor
from other sources without restriction.

Section 4-410 Information Sources

When information concerning prospective contractors is necessary to identify and evaluate
potential organizational conflicts of interest or to develop recommended actions, the Contracting
Officer should first seek it from within ATP or from other readily available sources. Non-ATP
sources include publications and commercial services, such as credit rating services, trade and
financial journals, and business directories and registers.

Section 4-411 Procedures
(1) If the Contracting Officer initially decides that a particular Procurement involves a
potential or actual organizational conflict of interest, the Contracting Officer shall, before

issuing the solicitation, submit to the Executive Director for approval :

(a) a written analysis, including a recommended course of action for avoiding,
neutralizing, or mitigating the conflict, based on the general rules in Section 4-406,

[131]




on another basis not expressly stated in that section or in accordance with the
Federal Requirements;

(b) a draft solicitation provision (see Section 4-414A); and
(c) if appropriate, a proposed contract clause (see Section 4.415).
(2) The Executive Director shall :

(a) review the Contracting Officer's analysis and recommended course of action,
including the draft provision and any proposed clause;

(b) consider the benefits and detriments to ATP and prospective contractors; and
(c) approve, modify, or reject the recommendation in writing.

(3) The Contracting Officer shall :
(a) include the approved provision and any approved clause in the solicitation;

(b) consider additional information provided by prospective contractors in response
to the solicitation or during negotiations; and

(c) before awarding the contract, resolve the potential conflict in a manner consistent
with the approval or other direction by the Executive Director; or

(d) if the prospective contractor disagrees and requests higher level review, provide
the decision and the contractor's position to the Executive Director or his Designee
for review and final decision.

Section 4.412 Examples

The examples in Sections (1) through (6), below, illustrate situations in which questions
concerning organizational conflicts of interest may arise. They are not all-inclusive and each
individual contracting situation should be examined, and a determination as to appropriate
mitigations made, on a case-by-case basis taking into account the particular facts and
circumstances at issue and the nature of the proposed contract. The examples are intended to
help the Contracting Officer apply the general rules in Section 4-406 to individual contract
situations.

(1) Company A agrees to provide systems engineering and technical direction for ATP on a
power plant (i.e., turbines, drive shafts, etc.). Company A should not be allowed to supply
any power plant components. Company A can, however, supply items unrelated to the
power plant. In this example, the system is the power plant, and the ban on supplying

[132]




(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

components is limited to those for that system only.

Company A is the systems engineering and technical direction contractor 